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Corporate Profile

SITC International Holdings Company Limited2

SITC International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company” or “SITC” or “we”) is a Asia’s leading shipping logistics company that provides 

integrated transportation and logistics solutions. As at 31 December 2017, we ranked the 20th among international container shipping 

companies in terms of shipping capacity. We focus exclusively on servicing the intra-Asia trade market, which is the largest in the world and 

one of the fastest growing market in terms of shipping volume, according to Drewry Maritime Services (Asia) Pte Ltd, an independent industry 

consultant.

The following map illustrates our intra-Asia container shipping routes (including trade lanes operated through joint services and container slot 

exchange arrangements) and land integrated logistics network as of 31 December 2017:

Our business can be segregated into two main business segments: container shipping and logistics segment and dry bulk and others segment. 

Our container shipping and logistics segment principally covers integrated logistics services such as the provision of container transportation, 

freight forwarding, shipping agency, depot and warehousing, etc. Our dry bulk and others segment principally covers the provision of dry bulk 

vessel leasing, land leasing and air-freight forwarding services.
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2017 2016 Change
     

Results

Turnover US$’000 1,348,385 1,215,791 10.9%

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company US$’000 188,613 122,790 53.6%

Basic earnings per share US cents 7.15 4.70 52.1%

Profit margin % 14.1 10.2 3.9 pt.

Net cash flows from operating activities US$’000 247,806 180,188 37.5%
     

Financial Position

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company US$’000 963,518 879,997 9.5%

Net current assets US$’000 275,225 228,544 20.4%

Interest bearing bank borrowings US$’000 415,423 409,571 1.4%
     

Financial Ratio

Return on equity (note 1) % 20.5 14.3 6.2 pt.

Return on assets (note 2) % 12.4 8.8 3.6 pt.

Assets turnover ratio (note 3) times 0.88 0.86 0.02

Gearing ratio (note 4) % 9 20 (11) pt.
     

Operating Statistics

Number of container vessels operated as at year end vessels 77 78 (1)

Container shipping volume - Container shipping 

 and supporting logistics TEU 2,385,881 2,191,213 194,668
     

Note 1

Return on equity is calculated by using profit for the year and the average balance of total equity as at beginning of year and end of year.

Note 2

Return on assets is calculated by using the profit of the year and the average balance of total assets as at beginning of year and end of year.

Note 3

Assets turnover ratio is calculated by using the turnover and the average balance of total assets as at beginning of year and end of year.

Note 4

Gearing ratio is calculated by using net debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings, trade and other payables, accruals, 

amounts due to related companies, less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital includes equity attributable to owners of the parent less the hedging reserve.
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FEBRUARY 2017
On 13 February, Mr. Yang Xianxiang, Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 

of SITC met with Mr. Tan Shufu, the commercial counsellor of 

Mission of the People’s Republic of China to ASEAN in Jakata. 

The two sides exchanged views on investment on land policies in 

Indonesia, restriction of market admittance, bilateral and multilateral 

trading relationship and trend, etc.

On 20 February, SITC Container Lines (Sarawak) Sdn Bhd was 

opened in Bintulu, Sarawak of Malaysia. The company will provide 

more efficient and higher quality service to customers in the shipping 

industry.

On 22 February, SITC signed an agreement of mutual corporation 

with Saigon Newport Corporation at Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. 

The signing of strategic cooperation will speed up the integration of 

SITC’s sea and land logistics in the Vietnamese market.

MARCH 2017
On 9 March, SITC opened a new route from Wenzhou port to 

Southeast Asia. The new route which is berthed Wenzhou, Ho 

Chi Minh City, Bangkok, Laem Chabang and North Manila, has 

the advantage for being direct, timely, convenient and fast. It can 

extend shipping service to Jakarta, Sihanoukville, Latkranbang, 

Batangas and other Southeast Asian ports by transiting through Ho 

Chi Minh City or Laem Chabang port. This new route filled in gaps 

between South Zhejiang region and Southeast Asia. It will provide 

convenience for Wenzhou and its surrounding hinterland, reduce 

logistics cost, promote local economy and actively integrate them 

into the national “The Belt and Road” initiative.

On 21 March, the prestigious 5th Tao Zhu Gong Awards ceremony 

organized by Euro Finances was held in Beijing. SITC was awarded 

as “Highly Commended in Best Working Capital” recommended by 

Citibank. This award showed judging panels’ high recognition on 

SITC’s treasury excellence, and further promote its profile in capital 

market.

MAY 2017
On 17 and 18 May, the 2nd Global Trade and Container 

Transportation Conference was held in Xiamen. In the ceremony, 

SITC won many awards, including Top 10 Enterprise Comprehensive 

Service of Container Liner, China-Japan Shipping Route-Platinum 

Award, China-Southeast Asia Shipping Route-Platinum Award, 

Taiwan Shipping Route-Silver Award and Top 10 Enterprise 

Comprehensive Service of Freight Forwarding, Shipping Agency, 

NOVCC and LCL Service.

On 15 May, SITC signed contracts with Dae Sun Shipbuilding for 

the construction of two 1000 TEU container vessels and options 

contracts for two 1000 TEU container vessels.

JULY 2017
On 3 July, SITC signed a cooperative agreement with Thaiport FC 

futsal team, and became one of its major sponsors. As one of the 

strategic collaboration projects with PAT, this futsal cooperative 

activity will expand the cooperation, build a new communication 

platform, and lay the foundation for further cooperation.

AUGUST 2017
On 14 August, SITC announced that it had exercised the options for 

commission Dae Sun Shipbuilding for the construction of two 1000 

TEU container vessels and also entered into new contracts for the 

construction of two additional 1000 TEU container vessels.

SEPTEMBER 2017
With effect from 4 September, SITC was selected as a constituent 

member of the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index (“HSSUS”).

On 11 September, there was a contract signing ceremony in Davao, 

the Philippines. SITC signed a strategic cooperation agreement with 

Qingdao Port Logistics and Shandong Goodfarmer.
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Pursuant to the strategic cooperation agreement, the three parties 

agreed to focus on the cold-chain logistics between China and the 

Philippines, and leverage their respective advantages. Relying on 

SITC’s dense routes and perfect network in the Philippines, and the 

advantages of Qingdao port resources, we will provide satisfactory 

services for customers. In the future, we will work to build the brands 

of SITC and Qingdao Port in the cold-chain logistics business 

through the in-depth business collaboration and resource sharing, 

etc.

On 13 September, the board of directors of SITC approved and 

adopted a share award scheme. It will grant restrictive shares to 

eligible employees in order to give incentives to employees and 

attract talents.

OCTOBER 2017
The students from “2017 African Arabic Countries Seminar” of 

Shandong Foreign Trade Vocational College came to visit SITC 

on 18 October. Participants of the seminar were 15 main leaders 

from Customs, Ministry of International Cooperation, and Ministry of 

Agriculture of Sudan. The visit improved the communication between 

the two parties, and laid the foundation of mutual cooperation in the 

future.

On 23 October, SITC volunteer activity was organized held in Jinan 

Children’s Welfare Center. Eight volunteers from Shanghai, Tianjin, 

Lian Yungang, Wuhan and Shenzhen branches assisted the auxiliary 

nursing work for a week in the center for the disabled children. Under 

the caregivers’ guidance, the volunteers tried their best to provide 

daily life assistance for the children.

NOVEMBER 2017
On 7 November, SITC Cooperation Forum Signing Ceremony 

was held in the Western Logistics Park. Mr. Hu Yi, Deputy head of 

Shapingba District and Director of the management committee of 

Western Logistics Park, Mr. Zhang Lei, Deputy Executive Director 

of Shapingba District Free Trade Office and the management 

committee of Western Logistics Park, Mr. Gu Yonghong, General 

Manager of Logistics Park Company and Mr. Yang Shaopeng, 

Chairman of the board of SITC, together with Mr. Xue Mingyuan, 

President of SITC Shipping Group and Mr. Lai Zhiyong, President 

of SITC Logistics Group, among other officers, attended the event. 

The two parties signed two important contracts, paving the way of 

the formation of a new southbound gateway combining railway and 

marine transport.

On 29 November, SITC signed contracts for the construction of two 

container vessels and option contracts for two container vessels with 

Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (江蘇揚子江船廠 ).



Chairman’s Statement

SITC will continue to optimize its 
unique business model, expand 
i ts  in t ra-As ia  serv ice  network , 
work for the objective of becoming 
the  f i r s t  cho ice  o f  cus tomers , 
provide its customers with quality 
services through construction of 
comprehensive logistics facilities 
and tailor-made logistics solutions, 
and bring itself closer to the goal of 
becoming a world-class integrated 
logistics service provide.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of SITC 

International Holdings Company Limited (together with its 

subsidiaries referred to as the “Group”), I hereby present to you the 

Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, as the global economy 

and trade witnessed a significant growth, the Asian market has also 

developed accordingly. Due to the increase in the volume of global 

container logistics business, the improved supply and demand 

relationship in the transportation market has led to a gradual increase 

in freight rates. In addition, the Group’s operating and management 

efficiency has been continuously optimized, and its annual results 

have been significantly improved.

SITC is a leading shipping logistics company dedicated to serving 

the intra-Asia trade market. The Group leverages the comprehensive 

coverage of its shipping and logistics supply chain, unique business 

model, high quality customer base and its high-density, high 

frequency container shipping route and logistics network covering 

various types of ports in Asia to derive full benefits from the growth 

in the trade and economy of China and other Asian countries. 

Benefiting from the global economic recovery and rising freight rates 

and efficiency, the Group’s operation performed well during the year 

under review, with turnover reaching approximately US$1,348.4 

million, representing an increase of approximately 10.9% as 

compared with 2016. Meanwhile gross profit reached approximately 

US$251.7 million, representing an increase of approximately 

26.2% as compared with 2016. Profit before income tax amounted 

to approximately US$198.0 million, representing an increase of 

approximately 51.5% from 2016. Profit attributable to owners of the 

parent amounted to approximately US$188.6 million and earnings 

per share was approximately US7.15 cents. For the year ended 31 

December 2017, the Board resolved to recommend the payment of 

a final dividend of HK20 cents per share.

Over the past years, SITC continued to record significant increase 

in container shipping volume and outperform many of our peers 

by actively capitalizing on the intra-Asia economic development. 

The total container shipping volume for the year increased by 

approximately 8.9% to 2,385,881 TEU, with average freight rate of 

US$490.5/TEU (excluding slot exchange fee rate), up 2.7% year on 

year. SITC maintained stable growth in intra-Asia shipping market 

share in 2017.

The Group leveraged its strong operating cash flow to expand its 

operations amidst the unfavorable industrial trend, and pursued 

development opportunities at low costs. SITC has actively pursued 

expansion of its capacity. In 2017, one secondhand vessel was 

delivered. Our total fleet capacity at the end of 2017 reached 

105,234 TEU. The Group will timely grasp the trend of vessel prices 

and optimize its self-own vessel structure to meet the needs of 

business development, and secure a long-term cost advantage 

for SITC. As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 48 self-owned 

container vessels and 29 chartered container vessels. Meanwhile, 

the Group owned 6 dry bulk vessels with a gross tonnage of 

438,595 DWT.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group entered into 

shipbuilding contracts with Dae Sun Shipbuilding Company for the 

building of 4 container vessels, and exercised the options for the 

building of 2 container vessels. In addition, the Group also entered 

into shipbuilding contracts with Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Company of 

Jiangsu Province for the building of 2 container vessels and options 

contracts for 2 container vessels.
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The Group continued to implement various extension and upgrade to 

certain container shipping route services networks. We have added 

a new container liner direct route from Wenzhou to Southeast Asia, 

with stops at Wenzhou - Ho Chi Minh City- Bangkok - Linchaban 

- Manila North, extending our services to Jakarta, Sihanoukville, 

Batangas and other Southeast Asian ports via the transit ports 

including Ho Chi Minh City/Linchaban, promoting the economic 

cooperation and exchange between local and southwestern Zhejiang 

and actively integrated into the China’s “The Belt and Road” initiative. 

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated 63 trade routes, 

including 9 trade routes through joint services and 25 trade routes 

through container slot exchange arrangements.

The Group actively developed the land-based third party logistics 

businesses and operated (including through joint ventures) 

approximately 100,000 m2 of depot and 90,000 m2 of warehousing 

space.

Although the fundamentals of the global economic recovery in 2018 

are unstable, and uncertainties in the economic situation as a result 

of geopolitical and trade protection factors, the management of the 

Group remains confident about the business environment in intra-

Asia logistics market in 2018, and continues to implement business 

expansion plans carefully in Intra-Asia. SITC will continue to optimize 

its unique business model, expand its intra-Asia service network, 

work for the objective of becoming the first choice of customers, 

provide its customers with quality services through construction of 

comprehensive logistics facilities and tailor-made logistics solutions, 

and bring itself closer to the goal of becoming a world-class 

integrated logistics service provider.

Finally, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders 

for their concern and support to the Group. I would like to express 

my appreciation to all directors of the Company (the “Directors”), 

members of senior management and staff of the Group for their hard 

work during the past year. I believe that SITC is progressing towards 

its goal of becoming a world-class shipping logistics enterprise and 

will deliver more outstanding results in the future.

YANG Shaopeng

Chairman

12 April 2018
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OVERVIEW

SITC is one of Asia’s leading shipping logistics companies that 

provides integrated transportation and logistics solutions.

As the scale of the Group continues to grow, and in order to more 

clearly reflect the Group’s unique business model, which focuses 

on the integrated logistics development strategy combining sea 

and land transportation, the management of the Company has 

determined to examine the Group’s business development from two 

segments which are container shipping and logistics, and dry bulk 

and others. The Group re-grouped its business segments from “sea 

freight logistics” and “land-based logistics” to:

(i) “container shipping and logistics” segment, which principally 

covers integrated logistics services such as the provision of 

container transportation, freight forwarding, shipping agency, 

depot and warehousing, etc; and

(ii) “dry bulk and others” segment, which principally covers the 

provision of dry bulk vessel leasing, land leasing and air-freight 

forwarding services.

Business Review

(i) Container shipping and logistics business

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s 

container shipping and logistics business continued to provide 

container transportation and integrated logistics services that 

focused exclusively on the intra-Asia market, as the Group 

believes that the intra-Asia market will continue to experience 

stable and healthy growth.

As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated 63 trade lanes, 

including 9 trade lanes through joint services and 25 trade 

lanes through container slot exchange arrangements. These 

trade lanes and land-based integrated logistics business 

network covered 64 major ports and cities in the Mainland 

China, Japan, Korea, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Vietnam, Thailand, 

the Philippines, Cambodia, Indonesia, Singapore, Malaysia 

and Brunei. As of 31 December 2017, the Group operated 

a fleet of 77 vessels with a total capacity of 105,234 TEU, 

comprised of 48 self-owned (63,072 TEU) and 29 chartered 

vessels (42,162 TEU), with an average age of 9 years. 50 of 
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these 77 vessels were of the 1,000 TEU type. In addition, 

the Group also operated (including through joint ventures) 

approximately 1,074,974 m2 of depot and 88,836 m2 of 

warehousing space.

Revenue generated by the Group’s container shipping and 

logistics business for the year ended 31 December 2017 

increased by approximately 11.0% from US$1,199.4 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2016 to US$1,331.8 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase was 

mainly due to a combined effect, from container shipping and 

supporting logistics business, where (i) the container shipping 

volume achieved an increase of 8.9% growth from 2,191,213 

TEUs in 2016 to 2,385,881 TEUs in 2017; and (ii) the average 

freight rate (excluding slot exchange fee income) increased by 

2.7% from US$477.4/TEU in 2016 to US$490.5/TEU in 2017.

(ii) Dry bulk and others business

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s dry 

bulk and others business focused on the provision of dry bulk 

vessel leasing, land leasing and air freight forwarding services. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has 6 dry bulk vessels 

with a total tonnage of 438,595 tons and an average age of 5.1 

years.

Revenue generated from dry bulk and others business 

increased by approximately 1.2% from US$16.4 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2016 to US$16.6 for the year ended 

31 December 2017. The increase was mainly a result of the 

increase in the daily charter rate of dry bulk vessels.

With continuous business expansion, the Group will continue 

to optimize its unique business model and expand its intra-

Asia service network. At the same time, the Group will 

optimize its own fleet structure by capturing vessel price 

dynamics, so as to keep pace with the development of 

the business and secure a long-term cost-competitive 

position. With the continuous enhancement on the Group’s 

organization process, information technology systems and 

operational efficiency, the Company will strive for the goal in 

becoming a world-class integrated logistics service solutions 

provider.
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Market Review

During the year ended 31 December 2017, as the global economy 

and trade witnessed a significant growth, Asia market also picked up 

correspondingly. Increased container shipping and logistics volume, 

improved demand and supply dynamics of the cargo transportation 

market which caused increasing freight rate and coupled with 

optimizing operation and management efficiency of the Group, have 

enabled our final results to grow significantly.

Going forward, there exists uncertainties in the economy due to 

the unstable basis of global economic recovery, geopolitics and 

trade protectionism, etc., therefore, the Company will continue to 

cautiously implement business expansion plans in the intra-Asia 

market.
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Financial Overview

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Container shipping

and logistics Dry bulk and others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 1,331,832 1,199,418 16,553 16,373 1,348,385 1,215,791

Cost of sales (1,081,350) (1,000,724) (15,329) (15,532) (1,096,679) (1,016,256)
      

Gross profit 250,482 198,694 1,224 841 251,706 199,535

Other income and gains

 (excluding bank interest income and

 other investment income) 9,119 3,943 180 113 9,299 4,056

Administrative expenses (74,161) (68,637) (172) (164) (74,333) (68,801)

Share of profits and losses of:

 Joint ventures 10,786 11,183 307 321 11,093 11,504

 Associates 481 442 — — 481 442

Other expenses and losses (792) (7,438) (304) (6,495) (1,096) (13,933)
      

Segment results 195,915 138,187 1,235 (5,384) 197,150 132,803

Finance costs (8,640) (6,872)

Interest and investment income 9,509 4,741
  

Profit before tax 198,019 130,672

Income tax (7,907) (6,434)
  

Profit for the year 190,112 124,238
  

Profit for the year attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company 188,613 122,790

Non-controlling interests 1,499 1,448
  

190,112 124,238
  

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue increased by approximately 10.9% from 

approximately US$1,215.8 million for the year ended 31 December 

2016 to approximately US$1,348.4 million for the year ended 31 

December 2017. The increase was primarily attributable to the 

increase from container shipping and supporting logistics business in 

both container shipping volume and average freight rate.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately 7.9% from 

approximately US$1,016.3 million for the year ended 31 December 

2016 to approximately US$1,096.7 million for the year ended 31 

December 2017. The increase was primarily attributable to (i) the 

significant increase in bunker cost; and (ii) the increase in stevedoring 

cost resulting from the growth in container shipping volume.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit increased from 

approximately US$199.5 million for the year ended 31 December 

2016 to approximately US$251.7 for the year ended 31 December 

2017. The Group’s gross profit margin increased from approximately 

16.4% for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately 

18.7% for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Other Income and Gains (excluding bank interest 

income and other investment income)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, other income and gains 

(excluding bank interest income and other investment income) 

increased by approximately US$5.2 million from approximately 

US$4.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to US$9.3 

million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase for the 

year ended 31 December 2017 was mainly attributable to a year-on-

year (i) increase of approximately US$3.7 million for fair value gains 

on derivative instruments and gains realized in settling derivative 

instruments; (ii) increase of approximately US$3.6 million for gains 

on disposal of fixed assets including containers and others; and (iii) 

decrease of approximately US$2.4 million for government subsidies.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately 

US$5.5 million from approximately US$68.8 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2016 to approximately US$74.3 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase was primarily 

attributable to the overall increase in staff cost.

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures

The Group’s share of profits and losses of joint ventures decreased 

by approximately 3.5% from approximately US$11.5 million in 2016 

to approximately US$11.1 million in 2017. There was no material 

fluctuation in the amount.

Share of profits and losses of associates

The Group’s share of profits and losses of associates was US$0.5 

million and US$0.4 million for 2017 and 2016, respectively. There 

was no material change in the amount.

Other Expenses and Losses

The Group’s other expenses and losses were US$1.1 million 

and US$13.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 

2016, respectively. The decrease was mainly attributable to (i) no 

impairment loss for dry bulk vessels occured in 2017 (2016: US$6.6 

million); (ii) a year-on-year decrease of approximately US$4.8 million 

in foreign exchange translation loss mainly arising from the assets 

demominated in Remninbi (“RMB”); and (iii) a year-on-year decrease 

of approximately US$1.3 million in the hedging losses arising from 

realization of Japanese Yen.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs increased from US$6.9 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2016 to US$8.6 million for the year ended 

31 December 2017. The increase was mainly attributable to the 

increase in both average bank borrowing balance and average 

borrowing interest rate.

Interest and Investment Income

The Group’s amount of interest and investment income was 

approximately US$9.5 million and US$4.7 million for the year ended 

31 December 2017 and 2016, respectively. The increase was mainly 

attributable to the increase in both average principal amount of bank 

deposits and average deposit interest rate.

Profit before Tax

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit before tax increased 

by approximately 51.5% from approximately US$130.7 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately US$198.0 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group’s income tax expense was approximately US$7.9 million 

and US$6.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, 

respectively. The increase was primarily attributable to the increase 

in taxable profit of the Group.

Profit for the Year

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 was 

approximately US$190.1 million, representing an increase of 

approximately 53.1% as compared to the profit of approximately 

US$124.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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CONTAINER SHIPPING AND LOGISTICS

The following table sets forth selected income statement data for the Group’s container shipping and logistics segment for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016

Amount

(US$’000)

% of segment

revenue

Amount

(US$’000)

% of segment

revenue

Income Statement Data

Segment revenue 1,331,832 100% 1,199,418 100%

Container shipping and supporting logistics income 1,223,134 91.8% 1,093,904 91.2%

Other container logistics income 108,698 8.2% 105,514 8.8%

Cost of Sales (1,081,350) (81.2)% (1,000,724) (83.4)%

Equipment and cargos transportation costs (629,488) (47.3)% (607,655) (50.7)%

Voyage costs (212,491) (16.0)% (162,095) (13.5)%

Container shipping vessels costs (148,260) (11.1)% (144,208) (12.0)%

Other container logistics costs (91,111) (6.8)% (86,766) (7.2)%
    

Gross Profit 250,482 18.8% 198,694 16.6%

Other income and gains (excluding bank interest income

 and other investment income) 9,119 0.7% 3,943 0.3%

Administrative expenses (74,161) (5.6)% (68,637) (5.7)%

Other expenses and losses (792) (0.1)% (7,438) (0.7)%

Share of profits and losses of:

 Joint ventures 10,786 0.8% 11,183 0.9%

 Associates 481 0.1% 442 0.1%
    

Segment results 195,915 14.7% 138,187 11.5%
    

Segment results

The following table sets forth the number of trade lanes of the Group ended 31 December 2016 and 2017, and port calls per week and the 

average freight rate for the years indicated:

Year ended 31 December As of 31 December

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Average freight rate (US$ per TEU,

excluding slot exchange fee rate) Number of trade lanes Port calls per week

490.5 477.4 63 62 388 385
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Revenue

Revenue of the Group’s container shipping and logistics segment 

increased by approximately 11.0% from approximately US$1,199.4 

million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately 

US$1,331.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. This 

increase was due to a combined effect from container shipping and 

supporting logistics business, where (i) the container shipping volume 

achieved an increase of 8.9% growth from 2,191,213 TEUs in 2016 

to 2,385,881 TEUs in 2017; and (ii) the average freight rate (excluding 

slot exchange fee income) increased by 2.7% from US$477.4/TEU in 

2016 to US$490.5/TEU in 2017.

Cost of Sales

The cost of sales of the Group’s container shipping and logistics 

business increased by approximately 8.1% from approximately 

US$1,000.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to 

approximately US$1,081.4 million for year ended 31 December 

2017. Such increase was primarily attributable to (i) the significant 

increase in bunker cost; and (ii) the increase in stevedoring cost 

resulting from the growth in container shipping volume.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Company recorded gross profit of 

approximately US$250.5 million in container shipping and logistics 

business for the year ended 31 December 2017, representing an 

increase of approximately 26.1% as compared to approximately 

US$198.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. The gross 

profit margin of the Group’s container shipping and logistics segment 

increased from 16.6% in 2016 to 18.8% in 2017.

Other Income and Gains (excluding bank interest 

income and other investment income)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the other income and gains 

(excluding bank interest income and other investment income) 

for the container shipping and logistics segement increased to 

approximately US$9.1 million from approximately US$3.9 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2016. The increase for the year 

ended 31 December 2017 was primarily attributable to a year-on-

year (i) increase of approximately US$3.7 million for fair value gains 

of derivative instruments and gains realized in settling derivative 

instruments; (ii) increase of approximately US$3.6 million for gains 

on disposal of fixed assets including containers and others; and (iii) 

decrease of approximately US$2.4 million for government subsidies.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group’s container shipping 

and logistics business increased by approximately 8.2% from 

approximately US$68.6 million for the year ended 31 December 

2016 to approximately US$74.2 million for the year ended 31 

December 2017. The change in the amount was mainly attributable 

to the overall increase in staff cost.

Other Expenses and Losses

Other expenses and losses of the Group’s container shipping 

and logistics business decreased from US$7.4 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2016 to US$0.8 million for the year ended 31 

December 2017, mainly attributable to a year-on-year (i) decrease 

of approximately US$4.8 million in foreign exchange translation loss 

mainly arising from the assets denominated in RMB; and (ii) decrease 

of approximately US$1.1 million in the hedging losses arising from 

realization of Japanese Yen.

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures

The Group’s container shipping and logistics business’s share of 

profits and losses of joint ventures decreased by approximately 

3.6% from approximately US$11.2 million in 2016 to approximately 

US$10.8 million in 2017. There was no material fluctuation in the 

amount.

Share of profits and losses of associates

The Group’s container shipping and logistics business’ share of 

profits and losses of associates was US$0.5 million and US$0.4 

million for 2017 and 2016, respectively. There was no material 

change in the amount.

Segment Results

As a result of the foregoing, the segment results of the Group’s 

container shipping and logistics business increased by approximately 

US$57.7 million from approximately US$138.2 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2016 to approximately US$195.9 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2017.
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DRY BULK AND OTHERS

The following table sets forth selected income statement data for the Group’s dry bulk and others segment for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016

Amount

(US$’000)

% of segment

revenue

Amount

(US$’000)

% of segment

revenue

Income Statement Data

Segment revenue 16,553 100% 16,373 100%

Dry Bulk business 15,244 92.1% 14,728 90.0%

Other businesses 1,309 7.9% 1,645 10.0%

Cost of Sales (15,329) (92.6)% (15,532) (94.9)%

Dry Bulk business (14,616) (88.3)% (14,539) (88.8)%

Other businesses (713) (4.3)% (993) (6.1)%
    

Gross Profit 1,224 7.4% 841 5.1%

Other income and gains (excluding bank interest income

 and other investment income) 180 1.1% 113 0.7%

Administrative expenses (172) (1.0)% (164) (1.0)%

Other expenses and losses (304) (1.8)% (6,495) (39.7)%

Share of profit and losses of:

Joint ventures 307 1.8% 321 2.0%
    

Segment results 1,235 7.5% (5,384) (32.9)%
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Revenue

The revenue of the Group’s dry bulk and others business increased 

by approximately 1.2% from approximately US$16.4 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately US$16.6 million for 

year ended 31 December 2017. This increase was mainly attributable 

to the following:

‧ Dry bulk business. Revenue of the Group’s dry bulk business 

increased by approximately 3.4% from approximately US$14.7 

million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately 

US$15.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017, which 

primarily reflected the increase in the average daily charter hire 

of dry bulk vessels; and

‧ Other businesses. Revenue of the Group’s other businesses 

was decreased by US$0.3 million from approximately US$1.6 

million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately 

US$1.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The 

decrease was mainly due to taxes including land use tax 

related to the land leasing business being presented in costs 

in 2016 while being reclassified and presented as a deduction 

of revenue in 2017.

Cost of Sales

The cost of sales of the Group’s dry bulk and others business was 

approximately US$15.3 million and US$15.5 million for 2017 and 

2016 respectively, of which:

‧ Dry Bulk business. Cost of sales for the dry bulk business was 

approximately US$14.6 million and US$14.5 million for 2017 

and 2016, respectively. There was no material fluctuation in 

the amount.

‧ Other businesses . Cost of sales of the Group’s other 

businesses decreased by US$0.3 million from approximately 

US$1.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to 

approximately US$0.7 million for the year ended 31 December 

2017. The reason of the decrease was the same as the reason 

of the increase in respective revenue mentioned above.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the gross profit of the Group’s dry 

bulk and others business increased by approximately 50.0% from 

approximately US$0.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 

to approximately US$1.2 million for the year ended 31 December 

2017. The gross profit margin of the Group’s dry bulk and others 

business increased from 5.1% for the year ended 31 December 

2016 to approximately 7.4% for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Other Income and Gains (excluding bank interest 

income and other investment income)

Other income and gains (excluding bank interest income and other 

investment income) of the Group’s dry bulk and others business was 

US$0.2 million and US$0.1 million for the year ended 31 December 

2017 and 2016, respectively. There was no material change in the 

amount.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group’s dry bulk and others business 

was approximately US$0.2 million for both 2017 and 2016. There 

was no material fluctuation in the amount.

Other Expenses and Losses

Other expenses and losses incurred by the Group’s dry bulk and 

others business for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted 

to approximately US$0.3 million (for the year ended 31 December 

2016: US$6.5 million). The decrease was mainly attributable to no 

impairment loss of dry buk vessels occured in 2017 (2016: US$6.6 

million).
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Share of Profits of Joint Ventures

The Group’s dry bulk and others business’s share of profits of joint 

ventures was approximately US$0.3 million for both 2017 and 2016. 

There was no material fluctuation in the amount.

Segment Results

As a result of the foregoing, the segment results of the Group’s dry 

bulk and others business translated from a loss of approximately 

US$5.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to a profit of 

approximately US$1.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

L I Q U I D I T Y ,  F I N A N C I A L  A N D  C A P I T A L 

RESOURCES

Total assets of the Group increased by approximately 10.5% from 

approximately US$1,455.6 million as at 31 December 2016 to 

approximately US$1,608.4 million as at 31 December 2017. As 

at 31 December 2017, the Group had cash and cash equivalents 

amounting to approximately US$505.7 million, mainly denominated 

in US dollar, Renminbi, Japanese Yen and other currencies.

Total liabilities of the Group increased by approximately 12.1% 

from approximately US$568.4 million as at 31 December 2016 to 

approximately US$636.9 million as at 31 December 2017. As at 31 

December 2017, the Group had secured interest-bearing bank loans 

of approximately US$352.6 million. The maturity profile is spread 

over a period, with approximately US$54.6 million repayable within 

one year or on demand, approximately US$52.5 million within the 

second year, approximately US$145.5 million within third to fifth 

years and approximately US$100.0 million beyond five years.

Further, the Group has transactional currency exposures. Such 

exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in 

currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. As at 31 

December 2017, the Group hedged approximately 23.1% (31 

December 2016: 27.0%) of its foreign currency sales for which firm 

commitments existed at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had current ratio (being the 

current assets divided by the current liabilities) of approximately 

1.8 compared to that of 2.0 as at 31 December 2016. The Group 

monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by 

the adjusted capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to maintain 

a healthy gearing ratio. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank 

borrowings, trade and other payables, accruals, amounts due to 

related companies, less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital 

includes equity attributable to owners of the parent less the hedging 

reserve. The Group’s gearing ratio was 20% and 9% as at 31 

December 2016 and 31 December 2017, respectively.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no significant contingent 

liabilities.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s bank loans were secured by 

mortgages over the Group’s container vessels and dry bulk vessels 

which had an aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting 

period of approximately US$605.7 million (31 December 2016: 

US$650.3 million).

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had an aggregate of 1,399 

full-time employees (excluding crew members, 31 December 2016: 

1,433). The related employees’ costs for the period (including 

directors’ emoluments) amounted to approximately US$86.7 

million (31 December 2016: US$76.9 million). The Group recruited 

and promoted individual persons according to their strength and 

development potential. The Group determined the remuneration 

packages of all employees (including the directors) with reference to 

corporate performance, individual performance and current market 

salary scale. Further, the Group has in place the pre-IPO share 

option scheme and post-IPO share option schemes and adopted 

a share award scheme on 13 September 2017. Further information 

of the share option schemes and share award scheme will be 

available in the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 

December 2017.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group entered into 

shipbuilding contracts with Dae Sun Shipbuilding Company for the 

building of 4 container vessels, and exercised the options for the 

building of 2 container vessels. In addition, the Group also entered 

into shipbuilding contracts with Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Company of 

Jiangsu Province for the building of 2 container vessels and options 

contracts for 2 container vessels.

Save as otherwise, the Group did not have other material investment 

during the years ended 31 December 2017.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any 

material acquisitions and disposals of its subsidiaries and associated 

companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS 

OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Company will continue to purchase container vessels, dry 

bulk vessels, containers and invest in logistics projects, as and 

when appropriate. The Company foresees that the internal financial 

resources and bank borrowings will be sufficient to meet the 

necessary funding requirements. Save as disclosed, the Company 

does not have any future plans for significant investments or capital 

assets as at the date of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

At the Board meeting held on 23 March 2018 (Friday), it was 

proposed that a final dividend of HK20 cents (equivalent to US2.55 

cents) per ordinary share would be paid on 30 May 2018 to 

the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the 

Company’s register of members at the close of business at 4:30 p.m. 

on 17 May 2018 (Thursday). The proposed final dividend is subject 

to approval by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of 

the Company to be held on 14 May 2018 (Monday) (the “Annual 

General Meeting”).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has 

waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

OTHER INFORMATION

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 14 May 2018 (Monday). 

A notice convening the Annual General Meeting will be published 

and despatched to the shareholders of the Company in the manner 

required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in due 

course.

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual 

General Meeting, the register of members of the Company will be 

closed from 9 May 2018 (Wednesday) to 14 May 2018 (Monday), 

both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be 

registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the Annual 

General Meeting, all transfers of shares documents, accompanied by 

the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s 

branch share registrars in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong 

Investor Services Limited, located at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, 

Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for 

registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 8 May 2018 (Tuesday).

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, 

the register of members of the Company will be closed from 18 

May 2018 (Friday) to 21 May 2018 (Monday), both days inclusive, 

during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order 

to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares 

documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be 

lodged with the Company’s branch share registrars in Hong Kong, 

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, located at 

Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road 

East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. 

on 17 May 2018 (Thursday).
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Purchase, Sale and Redemption of Shares

During the year ended 31 December 2017, neither the Company 

nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the 

Company’s listed securities.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a stringent corporate 

governance practices and procedures with a view to enhancing 

investor confidence and the Company’s accountabil ity and 

transparency. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board is 

of the view that the Company has complied with the code provisions 

set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) 

contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and there has been 

no deviation from the code provisions set out in the CG Code for the 

year ended 31 December 2017.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions 

by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in 

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and devised its own code of 

conduct regarding directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities 

(the “Code of Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the Model 

Code as set out in Appendix 10. Having made specific enquiries 

with all Directors, they have confirmed that they complied with the 

required standards set out in the Model Code and the Code of 

Conduct throughout the year ended 31 December 2017.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) 

consists of Mr. Tsui Yung Kwok, Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William and Dr. 

Ngai Wai Fung, all of whom are the Company’s independent non-

executive directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Tsui 

Yung Kwok. The annual results for the year ended 31 December 

2017 of the Group have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Auditor

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as its auditor for the year 

ended 31 December 2017. The Company will submit a resolution in 

the coming Annual General Meeting to re-appoint Ernst & Young as 

the auditor of the Company.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Shaopeng (楊紹鵬), aged 61, is the Chairman of the 

Board, an Executive Director, the chairman of the nomination 

committee (“Nomination Committee”) and a member of the 

remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of our 

Company. Mr. Yang has been the Chairman of our Company 

since April 2006 and has been actively and extensively involved 

in the management and strategic development of our Company, 

and oversees the overall development of our Group. Mr. Yang 

graduated from Asia International Open University (Macau) in 2000 

with a master’s degree in business administration and completed 

a CEO class in China Europe International Business School in 

2004. Mr. Yang has over 40 years of experience in the shipping 

industry through his employment in the shipping and foreign trade 

companies. From November 1988, Mr. Yang worked as an assistant 

general manager at Sinotrans (Shandong) Co., Ltd. (中國外運(山東)

公司), a state-owned shipping enterprise. From September 1990, 

he served as the deputy manager in the storage and transportation 

department of Shandong Foreign Trade Corporation (“SFTC”), a 

state-owned foreign trade corporation. From May 1991 to May 1992, 

he served as a deputy general manager of Shandong International 

Transportation Corporation and as general manager between May 

1992 and December 1996. From December 1996 to January 2002, 

he served as the general manager in SITC Maritime (Group) Co., 

Ltd. (“SITC Group”). Prior to its restructuring in December 2000, 

SITC Group was a state-owned enterprise. From October 1998 

to December 2000, Mr. Yang was a vice-president of SFTC. From 

January 2002 to January 2005, Mr. Yang served as the president 

of SITC Maritime Group Co., Ltd. (山東海豐國際航運集團有限公

司 ) (“Shangdong SITC”) and also as the chairman of the same 

company from January 2001 to November 2011. Save as disclosed 

above, Mr. Yang is not related to any other Directors or senior 

management or substantial shareholder of our Company.

Mr. Yang Xianxiang (楊現祥 ), aged 51, is the Vice-Chairman of the 

Board, Chief Executive Officer, an Executive Director, the chairman 

of the disclosure committee (“Disclosure Committee”) as well 

as a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration 

Committee of our Company. Mr. Yang has been a Director and chief 

executive officer of our Company since January 2008. He is actively 

involved in the management and the decision-making process of 

our Company. Mr. Yang graduated from Asia International Open 

University (Macau) with a master’s degree in Business Administration 

in 2000 and completed a CEO class in Tsinghua University in 2003. 

He also received a master’s degree in business administration from 

China Europe International Business School in 2006. He completed 

a non-degree course in Sinology in Fudan University in 2009, which 

is a course on Chinese heritage classical study, and completed 

another non-degree Chief Executive Officer Class at the Cheung 

Kong Graduate School of Business in 2010. Mr. Yang has over 31 

years of experience in the shipping industry through his employment 

in the shipping companies. In July 1987, Mr. Yang joined Lufeng 

Shipping Co., Ltd. (魯豐航運有限公司 ) (“Lufeng Shipping”), a 

container shipping company, and was subsequently promoted to 

be a manager before he left in July 1997. From August 1997 to 

December 2001, he served as a general manager in SITC Container 

Lines (Shandong) Co., Ltd. (山東省海豐船務有限公司 ). Between 

January 2002 and January 2005, he served as executive vice 

president in Shangdong SITC and as president in the same company 

between January 2005 and May 2007. From May 2007 to January 

2008, he served as president of SITC Container Lines and as a chief 

executive officer of SITC Steamship (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Mr. Yang 

was appointed as an Executive Director on 9 April 2010. Save as 

disclosed above, Mr. Yang is not related to any other Directors or 

senior management or substantial shareholder of our Company.
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Mr. Liu Kecheng (劉克誠 ), aged 44, is an Executive Director, chief 

financial officer, authorized representative and a member of the 

Disclosure Committee of the Company and the general manager 

of the finance center and investment center of the Group. Mr. Liu 

has been a Director of our Company since December 2006. From 

September 2010 to May 2013, he served as joint company secretary 

of our Company. Since October 2010, Mr. Liu has been appointed 

as the director for investment and securities, responsible for 

investments and equity funding. Since May 2013, Mr. Liu has been 

appointed as the chief financial officer of our Company, responsible 

for finance accounting and cash management in our Company. 

Since July 2017, Mr. Liu has been appointed as the general manager 

of the finance center and investment center of the Group. Mr. Liu 

graduated from Shandong Foreign Economic and Trade School in 

1994 where he majored in foreign trade and accounting, and from 

Shandong University of Economics in 1996 where he majored in 

accounting. In 2005, he graduated from Renmin University of China 

majoring in accounting. He also received a master’s degree in 

business administration from China Europe International Business 

School in 2007. Mr. Liu has over 24 years of experience in the 

shipping industry through his employment in the shipping companies. 

Mr. Liu worked with the finance department of Shandong Foreign 

Trade Corporation, a state-owned foreign trade corporation, from 

July 1994 to June 1998. From July 1998 to May 2000, he served as 

a finance manager in Shandong SITC International Container Storage 

and Transportation Company Limited (山東海豐國際集裝箱儲運有

限公司 ). Between June 2000 and January 2003, he served as the 

manager of the finance centre and the deputy general manager of 

Shandong SITC. From January 2003 to October 2003, he served 

as the deputy general manager in the planning & development 

center of Shandong SITC. Between October 2003 and December 

2006, Mr. Liu served as the general manager of the investment and 

development center in Shandong SITC. From December 2006 to 

January 2008, he served as the director and chief financial officer 

of SITC Group Company Limited (“SITC Holding”) and Shandong 

SITC. Mr. Liu was appointed an Executive Director on 9 April 2010. 

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liu is not related to any other Directors 

or senior management or substantial shareholder of our Company.

Mr. Xue Peng (薛鵬), aged 47, is an Executive Director, joint 

company secretary, authorized representative and a member of the 

Disclosure Committee of the Company and the general manager 

of the operations management center of the Group. Mr. Xue has 

been a Director of our Company since January 2008. From January 

2008 to May 2013, he served as a chief financial officer of our 

Company. Mr. Xue has been appointed as the general manager 

of the operations management center of the Group since July 

2017. Mr. Xue graduated from Shandong Province Foreign Trade 

and Economic University in 1991 majoring in financial accounting, 

and graduated from Shangdong University of Economics in 1997 

majoring in accounting. He was qualified as an accountant in 

2004 and also obtained an undergraduate degree in accounting 

from Renmin University of China in 2006. He received a master 

degree in business administration from China Europe International 

Business School in 2011. Mr. Xue has over 25 years of experience 

in the shipping industry through his employment in the shipping 

companies. From March 1993 to March 1996, Mr. Xue worked in 

Lufeng Shipping, a container shipping company. From March 1996 

to January 1998, he served as a financial manager in Guang Lian 

Shipping Agency (Shandong) Company Limited (山東廣聯船務有限

公司 ), a company that is principally engaged in the shipping agency 

business. Between January 1998 and March 1999, he served as a 

financial manager in SITC Container Lines (Shandong) Co., Ltd. and 

Shandong SITC respectively. From March 1999 to February 2002, 

he served as the finance manager of SITC Japan Co., Ltd. Between 

February 2002 and January 2003, he served as the general manager 

of the supervision department in Shandong SITC. He served as a 

deputy general manager of the finance center of Shandong SITC 

from January 2003 to April 2006, and as the general manager of the 

finance department of SITC Holding between April 2006 and January 

2008. Between April 2006 and January 2008, he also served as the 

financial manager of SITC Holding and SITC Shipping Agency (HK) 

Company Limited (新海豐船務代理 (香港 )有限公司 ), respectively. 

Mr. Xue was appointed as an Executive Director and joint company 

secretary on 9 April 2010 and 3 May 2013, respectively. Save as 

disclosed above, Mr. Xue is not related to any other Directors or 

senior management or substantial shareholder of our Company.
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Mr. Xue Mingyuan (薛明元), aged 44, an Executive Director and a 

member of the Disclosure Committee of our Company. He has been 

serving as the president of SITC Shipping Group and the general 

manager of SITC Container Lines since December 2012. Mr. Xue 

obtained a master degree in international shipping and logistics 

management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (香港理工

大學) in November 2004. He received a master degree in business 

administration from China Europe International Business School in 

September 2012. Mr. Xue has over 21 years of experience in the 

shipping industry. During the period from August 1997 to November 

2012, Mr. Xue had served as the export supervisor of Shandong 

SITC Lianji, the manager of the customers service department and 

the sales and marketing department of SITC Container Lines, the 

deputy general manager and general manager of SITC Container 

Lines (Korea) Co., Ltd. and the general manager of SITC Container 

Lines. Mr. Xue was appointed as an Executive Director on 11 March 

2013. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xue is not related to any other 

Directors or senior management or substantial shareholder of our 

Company.

Mr. Lai Zhiyong (賴智勇), aged 45, an Executive Director and a 

member of the Disclosure Committee of our Company. He has been 

serving as the president of SITC Logistics Group since December 

2012. Mr. Lai graduated from Ocean University of China (中國海洋

大 學 ) in July 1994 specialising in international trade, and received 

a master degree in business administration from China Europe 

International Business School in 2017. Mr. Lai has over 23 years of 

experience in the shipping industry. During the period from August 

1997 to November 2012, Mr. Lai had served as the supervisor of 

the import division of SITC Lianji (Shandong) Co., Ltd. (山東海豐聯

集有限公司 ) (“Shandong SITC Lianji”), the manager of the import 

department, operation department and marketing department of 

SITC Container Lines and the general manager of SITC Container 

Lines (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. (新海豐集運 (香港 )有限公司 ). Mr. Lai 

was appointed as an Executive Director on 11 March 2013. Save 

as disclosed above, Mr. Lai is not related to any other Directors or 

senior management or substantial shareholder of our Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsui Yung Kwok (徐容國 ), aged 49, is an Independent Non-

executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee (“Audit 

Committee”) and a member of the Remuneration Committee 

of our Company. Mr. Tsui was appointed as our Independent 

Non-executive Director in September 2010. He was awarded a 

bachelor’s degree in business (accounting) from Curtin University of 

Technology, Australia in 1992 and a master’s degree in corporate 

governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2007. 

Mr. Tsui has over 20 years of experience in accounting and finance 

through his senior position in an international accounting firm in 

Hong Kong from February 1994 to October 2003 and his office as 

the chief financial officer of Qin Jia Yuan Media Services Company 

Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 2366) from 2003 to 

2004. Since 2004, Mr. Tsui has been the chief financial officer and 

the company secretary of Ju Teng International Holdings Limited (the 

Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 3336). He later became an executive 

director of Ju Teng International Holdings Limited in June 2005 and 

resigned as its company secretary in March 2017. Mr. Tsui has 

also served as an independent non-executive director of Shenguan 

Holdings (Group) Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 829), 

361 Degrees International Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 

1361) and Cabbeen Fashion Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock 

Code: 2030) since September 2009, September 2012 and February 

2013 respectively. Mr. Tsui is a member of Chartered Accountants 

Australia and New Zealand, CPA Australia, the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of 

Chartered Secretaries.
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Mr. Yeung Kwok On (楊國安), aged 57, an Independent Non-

executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee 

and a member of the Nomination Committee of our Company. Mr. 

Yeung was appointed as our Independent Non-executive Director 

in September 2010. He is an Adjunct Professor of Management at 

China Europe International Business School. He received a Ph.D. 

of business administration from University of Michigan in 1990. 

Mr. Yeung worked in Acer Group as chief human resources officer 

from early 1999 to June 2002. During the same period of time, he 

simultaneously served as the president of Aspire Academy under 

Acer Foundation. Mr. Yeung is a member of five editorial advisory 

boards, including Human Resources Management Journal (USA), 

and Human Relations Journal (USA). Mr. Yeung is also the Senior 

Management Consultant of Tencent Group. Mr. Yeung is an expert 

in organizational capabilities, human resources strategy, and 

leadership development. He is an independent director of Trina Solar 

Limited (formerly listed on the New York Stock Exchange, Stock 

Code: TSL) and an independent non-executive director of Country 

Garden Holdings Company Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock 

Code: 2007), respectively. He was an independent non-executive 

director of Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited 

(the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 268) from 2003 to 2014. Mr. 

Yeung also serves as independent board director for other three 

private corporations, and advises chief executive officers of several 

leading Chinese firms.

Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William (盧永仁), aged 57, was appointed 

as an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of the 

Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of our Company in 

September 2010. He received an M. Phil. and a Ph.D. degree, both 

from the University of Cambridge in England in March 1986 and 

March 1988, respectively. Dr. Lo is currently the Vice-Chairman 

of Lovable International Holdings Limited, Chairman of VS Media 

& Strategenes Limited and the Founding Governor of Charles 

K Kao Foundation for Alzheimer’s disease. He was also a Bye-

Fellow of Downing College, the University of Cambridge. In 1999, 

he was appointed as a Justice of Peace (J.P.) by the government 

of Hong Kong. In 2003, he was appointed as a member of 

Shantou Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 

Conference. He is also a governor of an independent school, the ISF 

Academy in Hong Kong, as well as a director of Junior Achievement 

Hong Kong. Dr. Lo is currently an executive director, vice-chairman, 

chief financial officer and managing director of Hong Kong of 

Kidsland International Holdings Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock 

Code: 2122). Dr. Lo is also an independent non-executive director of 

Jingrui Holdings Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1862), 

CSI Properties Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 497), 

Television Broadcasts Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 

511) and Ronshine China Holdings Limited (the Stock Exchange, 

Stock Code: 3301). He is also an independent non-executive director 

of Nam Tai Property Inc. (New York Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 

NTP). He was appointed as a non-executive director of South China 

Assets Holdings Limited (Formerly “South China Land Limited”) 

(GEM of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 8155) from September 

2011 to March 2014. He was also appointed as an independent 

non-executive director of International Housewares Retail Company 

Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1373) from September 

2013 to September 2015, Astaka Holdings Limited (Formerly “E2-

Capital Holdings Limited”) (Singapore Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 

42S) from June 2009 to November 2015 and BOE Varitronix Limited 

(Formerly: Varitronix International Limited) (the Stock Exchange, 

Stock Code: 710) from July 2004 to June 2016.
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Dr. Ngai Wai Fung (魏偉峰 ), aged 56, was appointed as an 

Independent Non-executive Director as well as a member of the 

Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 

Committee of our Company in September 2010. Dr. Ngai is the 

Immediate Past President of Hong Kong Institute of Chartered 

Secretaries, the Adjunct Professor of Law of Hong Kong Shue Yan 

University, a member of the Qualification and Examination Board 

of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a 

member of the General Committee of the Chamber of Hong Kong 

Listed Companies. He was appointed by the Chief Executive of The 

HKSAR as a member of Working Group on Professional Services 

under the Economic Development Commission for two years in 2013 

and reappointed for further two years in 2015 and 2017 respectively. 

Dr. Ngai was appointed by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s 

Republic of China as an account consultant in June 2016. Dr. Ngai is 

currently the chief executive officer of SW Corporate Services Group 

Limited, a specialty corporate and compliance services provider to 

companies in pre-IPO and post-IPO stages. Prior to that, he was the 

director and head of listing services of an independent integrated 

corporate services provider. He has over 20 years of senior 

management experience, most of which are in the area of finance, 

accounting, internal control and regulatory compliance, corporate 

governance and secretarial work for listed issuers including major red 

chips companies. Dr. Ngai received a master’s degree in business 

administration from Andrews University of Michigan in 1992, a 

master’s degree in corporate finance from Hong Kong Polytechnic 

University in 2002 and a doctorate in Economics (Finance) from 

Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2011. Dr. Ngai is 

a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the 

United Kingdom, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants, a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries 

and Administrators, a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Company 

Secretaries, a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a 

member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Dr. 

Ngai is currently an independent non-executive director of Bosideng 

International Holdings Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code 

3998), BaWang International (Group) Holdings Limited (the Stock 

Exchange, Stock Code: 1338), Powerlong Real Estate Holdings 

Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1238), Health and 

Happiness (H&H) International Holdings Limited (Formerly: Biostime 

International Holdings Limited) (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 

1112), Beijing Capital Grand Limited (Formerly: Beijing Capital Juda 

Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1329)), Yangtze Optical 

Fire and Cable Joint Stock Limited Company (the Stock Exchange, 

Stock Code: 6869), BBMG Corporation (the Stock Exchange, 

Stock Code: 2009 and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 

601992), Travelsky Technology Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock 

Code: 696), China HKBridge Holdings Limited (Formerly: Topsearch 

International (Holdings) Limited) (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 

2323) and China Communications Construction Company Limited 

(the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1800 and the Shanghai Stock 

Exchange, Stock Code: 601800). Dr. Ngai is also an independent 

director of LDK Solar Co., Ltd. (formerly listed on the New York 

Stock Exchange, former Stock Code: LDK, now listed on the OTC 

Pink Limited Information, Stock Code: LDKYQ) and SPI Energy Co., 

Ltd. (the NASDAQ, Stock Code: SPI).

Dr. Ngai was an independent non-executive director of China Railway 

Construction Corporation Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 

1186 and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 601186) 

from November 2007 to October 2014, Sany Heavy Equipment 

International Holdings Company Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock 

Code: 631) from November 2009 to December 2015, China Coal 

Energy Company Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1898 

and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 601898) from 

December 2010 to June 2017 and China Railway Group Limited 

(the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 390 and the Shanghai Stock 

Exchange, Stock Code: 601390) from June 2014 to June 2017.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Xue Peng (薛鵬 ), is our joint company secretary. For details 

regarding Mr. Xue’s experience, see the paragraph headed 

“Directors” under the section headed “Directors and Senior 

Management” in the report. Mr. Xue was appointed as a joint 

company secretary of our Company on 3 May 2013.

Ms. Chan Wai Ling (陳蕙玲 ), FCIS, FCS (PE), was appointed as 

our joint company secretary on 9 March 2015. She is a director 

of Corporate Services of Tricor Services Limited. Ms. Chan is a 

Chartered Secretary and Fellow of both The Hong Kong Institute 

of Chartered Secretaries (“HKICS”) and The Institute of Chartered 

Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. She is a 

holder of the Practitioner’s Endorsement from HKICS. Ms. Chan 

is currently the joint company secretary of Razer Inc. (the Stock 

Exchange, Stock Code: 1337), as well as the company secretary 

of China Polymetallic Mining Limited (the Stock Exchange, Stock 

Code: 2133), China Maple Leaf Educational Systems Limited (the 

Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1317), Sun Art Retail Group Limited 

(the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 6808) and IMAX China Holding, 

Inc. (the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1970). She was also a former 

company secretary of TCC International Holdings Limited (the Stock 

Exchange, Stock Code: 1136, delisted on 20 November 2017).
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report 

and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 

31 December 2017.

MAJOR BUSINESS

The Company is an Asian shipping logistics company that provides 

integrated transportation and logistics solutions.

A review of the business of the Group during the year under review 

and a discussion on the Group’s future business development, 

possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and 

important events affecting the Company occurred during the year 

ended 31 December 2017 are provided in the section headed 

“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 9 to 11, the section headed 

“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 24 and the 

paragraph headed “Risks and Uncertainties” of this section of this 

annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 

December 2017 using financial performance indicators is provided 

in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on 

pages 12 to 24 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are 

set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other 

Comprehensive Income. The financial position of the Group as of 31 

December 2017 is set out in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Position. The cash flows of the Group during the year ended 31 

December 2017 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Cash 

Flows.

SHARE CAPITAL

The changes in the share capital of the Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 30 to the Financial 

Statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

At the Board meeting held on 23 March 2018 (Friday), it was 

proposed that a final dividend of HK20 cents (equivalent to 

US2.55 cents) per ordinary share would be paid on 30 May 2018 

(Wednesday) to the shareholders of the Company whose names 

appear on the Company’s register of members at the close of 

business at 4:30 p.m. on 17 May 2018 (Thursday). The proposed 

final dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at the 

annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 14 May 2018 

(Monday) (the “Annual General Meeting”).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has 

waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual 

General Meeting, the register of members of the Company will be 

closed from 9 May 2018 (Wednesday) to 14 May 2018 (Monday), 

both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be 

registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the Annual 

General Meeting, unregistered holders of shares of the Company 

shall ensure that all transfers of shares documents, accompanied 

by the relevant share, must be lodged with the Company’s branch 

share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor 

Services Limited, located at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell 

Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for 

registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 8 May 2018 (Tuesday).

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend (subject 

to approval by the Shareholder at the Annual General Meeting), the 

register of members of the Company will be closed from 18 May 

2018 (Friday) to 21 May 2018 (Monday), both days inclusive, during 

which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to 

qualify for the proposed final dividend, unregistered holders of shares 

of the Company shall ensure that all transfers of shares documents, 

accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with 

the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare 

Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, located at Shops 1712-1716,  

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, 

Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 17 May 2018 

(Thursday).
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RESERVE

Details of the changes in reserve of the Group during the year ended 

31 December 2017 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of 

Changes in Equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share 

premium of the Company is available for distribution of dividends to 

the shareholders subject to the provisions of the Company’s articles 

of association (the “Articles of Association”), with the sanction of 

an ordinary resolution, dividend may be declared and paid out of 

share premium account of any other fund or account which can be 

authorised for this purpose. As at 31 December 2017, the Company 

had distributable reserves of approximately US$534 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENTS

The changes in property, plant and equipment during the year 

ended 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 13 to the Financial 

Statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregate percentage of 

purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers 

accounted for approximately 20.9% of the Group’s total purchase. 

The percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest 

customers accounted for approximately 19.9% of the Group’s total 

turnover.

None of the Directors or his/her associates and none of the 

shareholders possessing over 5% of the interest in the capital of the 

Company possessed any interest in the above-mentioned suppliers 

and customers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS 

AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The 

Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract 

and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the 

remuneration package of employees and makes necessary 

adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture, 

and are focused on establishing relationships with blue-chip 

companies globally. The Group also understands that it is important 

to maintain good relationship with its suppliers and customers to 

fulfil its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its market 

competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering 

constantly high standards of quality in the service to its customers. 

During the year under review, there was no material and significant 

dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers. 

DONATION

During the year, the charitable contributions and other donations 

made in Hong Kong and China amounted to approximately US$0.47 

million.

DIRECTORS

The directors in office during the year and as of the date of this 

report are as follows:

Executive Directors

YANG Shaopeng (Chairman)

YANG Xianxiang (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

LIU Kecheng

XUE Peng (Joint Company Secretary)

XUE Mingyuan

LAI Zhiyong

Independent non-executive Directors

TSUI Yung Kwok

YEUNG Kwok On

LO Wing Yan, William

NGAI Wai Fung

Details of the resume of the directors and senior management are 

set forth in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” 

of this annual report.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Articles of Association of the Company 

and the Corporate Governance Code, Mr. Yang Xianxiang, Mr. Liu 

Kecheng, Mr. Tsui Yung Kwok, Mr. Yeung Kwok On, Dr. Lo Wing 

Yan, William and Dr. Ngai Wai Fung will retire in the coming annual 

general meeting, and being qualified, have offered to be re-elected 

and re-appointed at the Annual General Meeting.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

Details of service contracts for executive Directors are set out 

under the section headed “Directors’ Re-election” of the Corporate 

Governance Report. There was no service contract entered by the 

Company and any Directors to be re-elected in the coming Annual 

General Meeting stipulating that the Company may not terminate the 

appointment within one year without compensation payment (other 

than the statutory compensation).

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION 

PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING 

RULES

With effect from 1 February 2018, the Directors’ fees were changed. 

The revised Directors’ fees are set out below pursuant to Rule 

13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:-

Name of Director

Revised Directors’ fee

(per annum)

Mr. Yang Shaopeng HK$5,093,000

Mr. Yang Xianxiang HK$3,806,000

Mr. Liu Kecheng HK$1,345,000

Mr. Xue Peng HK$1,311,000

Mr. Xue Mingyuan HK$982,000

Mr. Tsui Yung Kwok HK$265,000

Mr. Yeung Kwok On HK$265,000

Dr. Lo Wing Ying, William, JP HK$265,000

Dr. Ngai Wai Fung HK$285,000

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than those transactions disclosed in Note 36 to the Financial 

Statements and in the section headed “Related Party Disclosures” 

below, there was no other significant contract with any member of 

the Group as the contracting party and in which the Directors of 

the Company possessed direct or indirect substantial interests, and 

which was still valid on the year end date or any time during the year 

and related to the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETITIVE 

BUSINESS

The Chairman of the Company, Mr. Yang Shaopeng, through Better 

Master Limited (“Better Master”) and Resourceful Link Management 

Limited (“Resourceful Link”) and by virtue of his direct interest, 

owns approximately 51.76% of the issued share capital in the 

Company as at the date of this annual report. Mr. Yang Shaopeng, 

Better Master and Resourceful Link are the controlling shareholders 

of the Company. Ms. Liu Rongli, the spouse of Mr. Yang Shaopeng, 

one of the controlling shareholders of the Company, the chairman 

and an executive Director also owns as to 62.5% in SITC Maritime 

Group Company Limited (青島海豐國際航運集團有限公司 ) 

(“Qingdao SITC Shipping”), which is involved in various business 

which had been excluded from the deed of non-competition 

provided by the controlling shareholders and as supplemented by 

a supplemental deed of non-competition entered into between the 

Company and Qingdao SITC Shipping (hereinafter, the “Deed of 

Non-Competition”). Pursuant to the Deed of Non- Competition, 

the following businesses have been excluded from the Deed of 

Non-Competition provided by the controlling shareholders to the 

Company:

(a) SITC Steamship (Shandong) Co., Ltd. (山東海豐航運有限公

司 ) (“Shandong Steamship”), a 100% subsidiary of Qingdao 

SITC Shipping which is principally engaged in the ship-

owning business, continues to hold operating licenses for 

the mainland China-Taiwan routes. The vessels that operate 

on this route belong to the Company but are chartered to 

Shandong Steamship for the mainland China-Taiwan route. 

These vessels are being used to operate such routes on terms 

that permit the Company to enjoy the charter fee revenues 

derived from such operation.
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(b) During the year under review, Shandong Steamship owned 

one PRC-registered vessels named Hai Feng Lian Xing. 

According to the PRC Regulations Governing the Registration 

of Ships (中華人民共和國船舶登記條例 ) promulgated by the 

State Council on 2 June 1994 and effective as of 1 January 

1995, only Chinese enterprises which are owned by Chinese 

investors as to not less than 50% are permitted to own 

Chinese flag vessels, and the Company is therefore unable 

to acquire control of this vessel under applicable laws and 

regulations for the time being. However, this vessel is subject 

to a lease to Lifeng Shipping Enterprises Inc., a subsidiary of 

the Company.

(c) As at the date of this annual report, the Company has invested 

in Qingdao Fans Logistics Co., Ltd. in which Qingdao SITC 

Shipping also has shareholding.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from 

each of the Company’s controlling shareholders in respect of 

the compliance by them and their associates with the Deed of 

Non-Competition entered into by and among the Company, the 

controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Yang Shaopeng, 

Better Master and Resourceful Link.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed 

of Non-Competition and whether the controlling shareholders have 

abided by the Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-

executive Directors confirmed that they had determined that the 

controlling shareholders have not been in breach of the Deed of 

Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors or their respective 

connected persons have any interests in any business that 

competed or might compete with the business that the Group’s 

business during the year ended 31 December 2017.

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 10 September 2010, the Company adopted a share option 

scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) whereby the 

Board can grant options for the subscription of the shares of 

the Company (the “Shares”) to the employees, managerial staff 

and senior employees and those other persons that the Board 

considers that they will contribute or have contributed to the Group 

(the “Participants”) as described in the Share Option Scheme in 

order to serve as compliment and to reciprocate their contribution 

to the Group. The maximum number of shares that can be issued 

according to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was 260,000,000 

shares which is equivalent to 10% of the issued capital of the 

Company after completion of the Global Offering (as defined in the 

Prospectus).

The number of options that may be granted pursuant to the terms 

of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of 

the issued shares immediately after the completion of the Global 

Offering. Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of the 

Company in general meeting, the number of shares that may be 

granted to the Participants under the options shall not exceed 

1% within any 12-month period (other than those granted to the 

substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules), or the 

total number of shares that may be granted under the options to 

the independent non-executive Directors or any of their respective 

connected persons shall not exceed 0.1% of the shares in issue of 

the Company from time to time. There is no minimum period that 

the options must be held before they become exercisable, and the 

options granted shall be exercised within the period decided by the 

Board, however no options shall be exercised 10 years after they 

have been granted. The exercise price of the option shall be the 

higher of (a) the closing price of the Shares on the daily quotation 

sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (b) the average 

closing price of the Shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock 

Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date 

of grant; and (c) nominal value of the Share.

Each grantee shall pay a consideration of HK$1.00 at the time the 

option is granted. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall take 

effect from the date it is adopted and shall remain effective within a 

period of 10 years from that date.
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The following are details of the options granted pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme but not yet exercised during the year ended 31 

December 2017:

Grantee and position

Date of grant

of options

Number of

options

outstanding

as at

1 January 

2017

Number of

Options

granted

during

the year

Number of

Options

exercised/

cancelled/

lapsed

during

the year

Number of

options

not yet

exercised on

31 December

2017

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

upon the

exercise of

the options

Executive Director

YANG Shaopeng 10 March 2015 1,000,000 — 1,000,000 — —

YANG Xianxiang 10 March 2015 1,000,000 — 1,000,000 — —

LIU Kecheng 25 October 2011 300,000 — 300,000 — —

10 March 2015 400,000 — 400,000 —

XUE Peng 25 October 2011 300,000 — — 300,000 0.03%

10 March 2015 400,000 — — 400,000

LAI Zhiyong 25 October 2011 100,000 — — 100,000 0.03%

10 March 2015 600,000 — — 600,000

XUE Mingyuan 25 October 2011 500,000 — — 500,000 0.04%

10 March 2015 600,000 — — 600,000

Independent non-executive Director

TSUI Yung Kwok 10 March 2015 400,000 — 400,000 — —

YEUNG Kwok On 10 March 2015 400,000 — 400,000 — —

LO Wing Yan, William 10 March 2015 400,000 — — 400,000 0.02%

NGAI Wai Fung 25 October 2011 400,000 — 400,000 — —

10 March 2015 400,000 — 400,000 —

Other employees

Other employees 25 October 2011 2,815,000 — 1,376,000 1,439,000 0.22%

10 March 2015 7,855,000 — 3,344,000 4,511,000
       

Total 17,870,000 — 9,020,000 8,850,000 0.33%
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On 25 October 2011, the Company granted a total of 11,600,000 

share options pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme with 

an exercise price of HK$1.968 per share and shall be exercisable 

from 25 October 2012 to 25 October 2021. The closing price of the 

Shares immediately before the date of grant of such share options 

was HK$1.960. On 10 March 2015, the Company granted a total of 

13,800,000 share options pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option 

Scheme with an exercise price of HK$4.378 per share and shall be 

exercisable from 10 March 2016 to 10 March 2025. The closing 

price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant of such 

share options was HK$4.35.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company had 8,850,000 share 

options outstanding under the Post-IPO Scheme, which represented 

approximately 0.33% of the Shares of the Company in issue as at 

the date of this annual report.

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme on 10 

September 2010 (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”). The 

purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to reward the 

contribution of certain employees, executives or officers of the 

Company made or may have made to the growth of the Company 

and/or the listing of Shares on the Stock Exchange. The principal 

terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, which were confirmed 

and approved by resolutions in writing of all the Shareholders passed 

on 10 September 2010, are substantially the same as the terms of 

the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme except that:

(a) The subscription price per share shall be a price equivalent 

to a 20% discount to the Offer Price of the Shares under the 

Global Offering, that means HK$3.824 per share;

(b) The total number of shares involved in the Pre-IPO Share 

Option Scheme was 79,160,000 shares, which is equivalent 

to approximately 3.0% of the Shares in issue of the Company 

after completion of the Global Offering; and

(c) the eligible participant under the Pre-IPO Share Option 

Scheme are the full-time employees, executives or officers 

( including executive, non-executive and independent 

non- executive Directors) of the Company or the full-time 

employees of any of the subsidiaries of the level of manager 

or above and other full-time employees of the Company or 

any of the subsidiaries who have been in employment with the 

Company for over one year prior to the date of the adoption 

of the Pre- IPO Share Option Scheme or any other persons 

who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have 

contributed to the Company and/or any of the subsidiaries;

(d) the conditions which the Board may in its absolute discretion 

to consider (including, without limitation, any minimum period 

for which an Option must be held before it can be exercised 

and/or any performance targets which must be achieved 

before an Option can be exercised) as it may think fit; and

(e) save for the options which have been granted under the Pre-

IPO Share Option Scheme, no further options will be offered 

or granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, as the 

right to do so will terminate upon the listing of the Shares on 

the Stock Exchange.
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The followings are details of the options granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme but not yet exercised during the year ended 31 

December 2017:

Grantee and position

Date of grant

of options

Number of

options

outstanding

as at

1 January 2017

Number of

Options

exercised/

cancelled/

lapsed during

the period

Number of

options

not yet

exercised on

31 December

2017

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

upon the

exercise of

the options

Executive Directors

LIU Kecheng 10 September 2010 800,000 800,000 — —

XUE Peng 10 September 2010 800,000 800,000 — —

LAI Zhiyong 10 September 2010 200,000 — 200,000 0.01%

XUE Mingyuan 10 September 2010 800,000 800,000 — —

Others

Other employees 10 September 2010 42,396,000 27,660,000 14,736,000 0.56%
      

Total 44,996,000 30,060,000 14,936,000 0.56%
      

As at 31 December 2017, the Company had 14,936,000 share 

options outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, which 

represented approximately 0.56% of the Shares of the Company in 

issue as at the date of this annual report. The grantees to whom an 

option has been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 

will be entitled to exercise his/her option in the following manner:

(a) up to 25% of the Shares that are subject to the Option so 

granted to him/her (rounded down to the nearest whole 

number) at any time during the period commencing from the 

first anniversary of 6 October 2010 (the “Listing Date”) and 

ending on the second anniversary of the Listing Date;

(b) up to 25% of the Shares that are subject to the Option so 

granted to him/her (rounded down to the nearest whole 

number) at any time during the period commencing from the 

second anniversary of the Listing Date and ending on the third 

anniversary of the Listing Date;

(c) up to 25% of the Shares that are subject to the Option so 

granted to him/her (rounded down to the nearest whole 

number) at any time during the period commencing from the 

third anniversary of the Listing Date and ending on the fourth 

anniversary of the Listing Date; and

(d) such number of Shares that are subject to the Option so 

granted to him/her less the number of Shares in respect of 

which the Options has been exercised at any time during the 

period commencing from the fourth anniversary of the Listing 

Date and ending on the expiry of the option period.
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The Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are 

not transferable and options not exercised within the exercise period 

above will lapse and cease to be of further effect.

Upon acceptance of the Options, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 

to the Company as consideration for each grant of the Option. The 

Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are not 

transferable and options not exercised within the exercise period 

above will lapse and cease to be of further effect.

Other details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set forth in 

the Prospectus.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

A share award scheme was adopted by the Board on 13 September 

2017 (the “Share Award Scheme”) to:

1. recognise and motivate the contributions by certain Eligible 

Participants and to give incentives thereto in order to retain 

them for the continual operation and development of the 

Group;

2. attract suitable personnel for further development of the 

Group; and

3. provide certain Eligible Participants with a direct economic 

interest in attaining a long-term relationship between the 

Group and certain Eligible Participants.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 

ten years commencing on the date of adoption, unless otherwise 

early terminated by the Board.

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, shares will be purchased 

and/or subscribed by the independent trustee at the cost of the 

Company and be held in trust for selected employees until the end of 

each vesting period. Vested shares will be transferred to the selected 

employees at no cost. At no point in time shall the independent 

trustee be holding more than 5% of the total number of shares of the 

Company in issue under the Share Award Scheme.

Details of the rules of the Share Award Scheme are set out in the 

announcement of the Company dated 13 September 2017.

On 22 December 2017, the Board resolved to grant an aggregate of 

3,890,033 Awarded Shares to 518 Selected Participants pursuant to 

the rules under the Scheme Rules. Please refer to the announcement 

of the Company dated 22 December 2017 for details of the grant.
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A summary of the Awarded Shares granted to Selected Participants are set forth below:

Name of Awardees

No. of  Awarded 

Shares 

granted on 

22 December 

2017 Total Vesting Date Vesting Conditions

Yang Xianxiang 106,223 106,223 The third anniversary of the date of 

grant, i.e. 22 December 2020 or 

an earlier date as approved by the 

Board.

Sub jec t  to  the  te rms  o f  the 

Scheme Rules and the fulfillment 

of such additional performance 

requirements as specified by the 

Board.

Liu Kecheng 106,223 106,223

Xue Peng 70,815 70,815

Xue Mingyuan 177,039 177,039

Lai Zhiyong 53,111 53,111

Tsui Yung Kwok 10,622 10,622

Yeung Kwok On 10,622 10,622

Lo Wing Yan 10,622 10,622

Ngai Wai Fung 10,622 10,622

Other employees 3,334,134 3,334,134
     

Total 3,890,033
     

DEBENTURE

At any time during the year, the Company, its holding company or 

its subsidiaries were not the contracting parties of any arrangements 

from which the Directors could make a profit by purchasing the 

shares or debentures of the Company or any other companies.
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I N T E R E S T  A N D  S H O R T  P O S I T I O N S  O F 

DIRECTORS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING 

SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at the date 31 December 2017, the interest or short position 

of the Directors or chief executives of the Company in the Shares, 

underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated 

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 

Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) required to be notified to the Company 

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV 

of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they were 

taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or 

which would be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to 

be entered in the register referred to therein, or which would be 

required, pursuant to Model Code for Securities Transactions by 

Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”), are as follows:

(i) Interest in the Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest Number of Shares(1)

Approximate 

percentage of 

Shareholding

YANG Shaopeng(2) Beneficiary of the Pengli Trust 1,375,390,231(L) 51.76%

Beneficial Owner 10,619,000 (L) 0.40%

YANG Xianxiang Beneficial Owner 8,326,223(L) 0.31%

LIU Kecheng Beneficiary Owner 1,106,223(L) 0.04%

XUE Peng(3) Settlor of the Xue Trust 12,866,176(L) 0.48%

Beneficial Owner 870,815(L) 0.03%

LAI Zhiyong(4) Beneficiary of the Go Thrive Trust 3,037,847(L) 0.12%

Beneficial Owner 238,111(L) 0.01%

XUE Mingyuan(4) Beneficiary of the Go Thrive Trust 1,906,100(L) 0.07%

Beneficial Owner 977,039(L) 0.04%

TSUI Yung Kwok Beneficial Owner 810,622(L) 0.02%

YEUNG Kwok On Beneficial Owner 711,622(L) 0.01%

LO Wing Yan, William Beneficial Owner 10,622(L) 0.01%

NGAI Wai Fung Beneficial Owner 810,622(L) 0.03%

Notes:

(1) The letters “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) 1,375,390,231 Shares are held by Resourceful Link. The issued share capital of Resourceful Link is owned as to 79.82% by Better Master. Better Master is 

owned as to 100% by UBS Nominees Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited, as the trustee, holds such interests for the beneficiaries of the Pengli Trust, namely 

Mr. Yang Shaopeng and his family. The Pengli Trust is a revocable discretionary trust established under the laws and regulations of the British Virgin Islands. Mr. 

Yang Shaopeng is the settlor and a beneficiary of the Pengli Trust.

(3) 12,866,176 Shares were held by Watercrests Profits Limited, which was owned as to 52.80% by Add Investments Company Limited, which was in turn owned 

as to 100% by JTC Trustees (BVI) Limited as the trustee of the Xue Trust holding such interests for the beneficiary of the Xue Trust, namely Ms. Jiao Lei, the 

spouse of Mr. Xue Peng. Mr. Xue Peng is the settlor.

(4) 3,037,847 Shares and 1,906,100 Shares are held by Go Thrive Limited, which is wholly owned by Mr. Zhao Zhiyong, as the trustee holding such interests for the 

beneficiaries of Go Thrive Trust, including Mr. Lai Zhiyong and Mr. Xue Mingyuan.
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(ii) Interest in underlying Shares

Name of Director Nature of Interest

Number of 

Shares in 

the Company 

subject to 

options under 

the Pre-IPO 

Share Option 

Scheme

Number of 

Shares in 

the Company 

subject to 

options under 

the Post-IPO 

Share Option 

Scheme

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding 

attributable to 

the options 

under the 

Pre-IPO Share 

Option Scheme 

and Post-IPO 

Share Option 

Scheme (Note)

YANG Shaopeng Beneficial owner — — —

YANG Xianxiang Beneficial owner — — —

LIU Kecheng Beneficial owner — — —

XUE Peng Beneficial owner — 700,000 0.03%

LAI Zhiyong Beneficial owner 200,000 700,000 0.03%

XUE Mingyuan Beneficial owner — 1,100,000 0.04%

TSUI Yung Kwok Beneficial owner — — —

YEUNG Kwok On Beneficial owner — — —

LO Wing Yan, William Beneficial owner — 400,000 0.02%

NGAI Wai Fung Beneficial owner — — —

Note: Assuming full exercise of the options under both the Pre-IPO Share Option and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
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(iii) Interest in associated corporations

Name of Director Name of associated corporation Number of Shares

Percentage of 

Shareholding

YANG Shaopeng(1) Resourceful Link 55,290 79.82%

YANG Xianxiang(2) Resourceful Link 11,776 17.00%

LIU Kecheng(3) Resourceful Link 2,205 3.18%

Notes:

(1) Resourceful Link is interested in approximately 51.76% of the issued share capital of the Company. Resourceful Link is owned as to 79.82% by Better Master, 

which is owned as to 100% by UBS Nominees Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited, as the trustee, holds such interests for the beneficiaries of the Pengli Trust, 

namely Mr. Yang Shaopeng and his family. The Pengli Trust is a revocable discretionary trust established under the laws and regulations of the British Virgin 

Islands. Mr. Yang Shaopeng is the settlor and a beneficiary of the Pengli Trust.

(2) Resourceful Link is interested in approximately 51.76% of the issued share capital of the Company. Jixiang Limited is interested in 17.00% of the issued share 

capital of Resourceful Link. Jixiang Limited is in turn owned as to 100% by UBS Nominees Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited, as the trustee, holds such 

interests for the beneficiaries of the Jixiang Trust, namely Mr. Yang Xianxiang and his family. The Jixiang Trust is a revocable discretionary trust established under 

the laws and regulations of the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Yang Xianxiang is the settlor and a beneficiary of the Jixiang Trust. Yang Xianxiang is the settlor and a 

beneficiary of the Jixiang Trust.

(3) Resourceful Link is interested in approximately 51.76% of the issued share capital of the Company. Yicheng Group Limited is interested in 3.18% of the issued 

share capital of Resourceful Link. Yicheng Group Limited is in turn owned as to 100% by UBS Nominees Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited, as the trustee, 

holds such interests for the beneficiaries of the Yicheng Trust, namely Mr. Liu Kecheng and his family. The Yicheng Trust is a revocable discretionary trust 

established under the laws and regulations of the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Liu Kecheng is the settlor and a beneficiary of the Yicheng Trust.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS 

AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at the date 31 December 2017, the following persons (other than 

the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had or deemed 

or taken to have an interest and/or short position in the Shares or 

(i) Interest in the Company

Name Capacity Number of Shares(1)

Percentage of 

Shareholding

LIU Rongli(2) Beneficiary of the Pengli Trust 1,386,009,231(L) 52.16%

Resourceful Link(3) Beneficial owner 1,375,390,231(L) 51.76%

Better Master(3) Interest in controlled corporation 1,375,390,231(L) 51.76%

UBS Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited(3) Trustee 1,375,390,231(L) 51.76%

Notes:

(1) The letters “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Ms. Liu Rongli is the spouse of Mr. Yang Shaopeng and is also deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held by Mr. Yang Shaopeng by virtue of 

the SFO.

(3) Resourceful Link is owned as to 79.82%, 17.00% and 3.18% by Better Master, Jixiang Limited and Yicheng Group Limited. Better Master is owned as to 100% 

by UBS Nominees Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.I) Limited, as the trustee, holds such interests for the beneficiaries of the Pengli Trust. Jixiang  Limited is owned 

as to 100% by UBS Nominees Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.I) Limited, as the trustee, holds such interests for the beneficiaries of the Jixiang Trust. Yicheng Group 

Limited is owned as to 100% by UBS Nominees Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.I) Limited, as the trustee, holds such interests for the beneficiaries of the Yicheng 

Trust. Each of the Pengli Trust, the Jixiang Trust and the Yicheng Trust is a revocable discretionary trust established under the laws and regulations of the British 

Virgin Islands by certain of the Directors to hold their family interests in the Company.

the underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the 

provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as of 31 December 

2017 are set out in Note 1 to the Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the 

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were 

entered into or existed during the year under review.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the following continuing 

connected transactions were entered into with its connected 

persons and/or subsisted during the year under review. Details of the 

continuing connected transactions of the Company are as follows:

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 

E X E M P T  F R O M  T H E  I N D E P E N D E N T 

SHAREHOLDERS’ APPROVAL REQUIREMENT 

BUT ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING AND 

ANNOUNCEMENT REQUIREMENTS

1. Master Charter Agreement

On 2 August 2017, the Company entered into a master 

charter agreement (the “Master Charter Agreement”) with 

Qingdao SITC Shipping, pursuant to which it is agreed that 

Qingdao SITC Shipping will provide vessel chartering services 

to the Group for a term from the date of the Master Charter 

Agreement and ending on 31 December 2019.

The following table sets forth the annual caps for the periods below:

For the year ended 

31 December 2017

(US$)

For the year ending 

31 December 2018

(US$)

For the year ending 

31 December 2019

(US$)

Provision of vessel chartering services 7,100,000 7,100,000 7,100,000

During the year under review, the total actual amount of 

service fees paid by the Company pursuant to the Master 

Charter Agreement was US$4,215,384.

Qingdao SITC Shipping is owned as to 62.5% by Ms. Liu 

Rongli, the spouse of by Mr. Yang Shaopeng, an executive 

Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company. 

Accordingly, Qingdao SITC Shipping is a connected person 

of the Company and the entering into of the Master Charter 

Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder 

constitutes continuing connected transactions for the 

Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

Details of the Master Charter Agreement are set out in the 

announcement of the Company dated 2 August 2017.

2. Master Agency Agreement

On 21 December 2015, the Company entered into a renewed 

master agency agreement (the “2015 Master Agency 

Agreement”) with Qingdao SITC Shipping , in relation to the 

agency services to be provided by Qingdao SITC Shipping 

to the Company and the container shipping services to be 

provided by the Company’s subsidiaries to the shipping 

agency companies of Qingdao SITC Shipping for a term of two 

years from 1 January 2016 and ended on 31 December 2017. 

As the 2015 Master Agency Agreement with Qingdao SITC 

Shipping expired on 31 December 2017, on 22 December 

2017, the Company and Qingdao SITC Shipping entered 

into the renewed agreement (the “2018 Master Agency 

Agreement”) to renew the terms of the 2015 Master Agency 

Agreement for a further period of three years commenced 

from 1 January 2018 and ending on 31 December 2020.



ANNUAL REPORT 2017   45

The following table sets forth the annual caps for the periods below:

For the year ended/ending 31 December

Service fees 

received by 

the Company (US$)

Service fees 

paid by the 

Company (US$)

2017 25,000,000 4,500,000

2018 29,000,000 4,500,000

2019 33,000,000 4,500,000

2020 38,000,000 4,500,000

During the year under review, the total actual amount of 

service fees received by the Company and paid by the 

Company pursuant to the 2015 Master Agency Agreement 

was US$24,051,080 and US$2,460,282, respectively.

Qingdao SITC Shipping is a company owned as to 62.5% 

by Ms. Liu Rongli, the spouse of Mr. Yang Shaopeng, one of 

the controlling shareholders of the Company, chairman and 

an Executive Director. Accordingly, Qingdao SITC Shipping 

is a connected person of the Company and the 2015 Master 

Agency Agreement, the 2018 Master Agency Agreement 

and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute 

continuing connected transactions for the Company under 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the 2015 Master 

Agency Agreement are set out in the announcement of the 

Company dated 22 December 2017 and 9 January 2018.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements 

prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to 

the continuing connected transactions above of the Group.

All independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the 

above continuing connected transactions, and confirmed that 

those transactions were entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 

Group;

2. under normal commercial terms or on terms no less 

favourable to the Group than terms available to or from 

independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the agreements related to the 

above continuing connected transactions, the terms of 

which are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the 

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company 

confirmed to the Board that the aforesaid continuing 

connected transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. are in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group;

3. have been entered into under the terms of the related 

agreements governing the transactions; and

4. have not exceeded the relevant cap allowed by the 

Stock Exchange in the previous announcements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company received the letters of confirmation of independence 

from all the independent non-executive Directors in accordance 

with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all the 

independent non-executive Directors as independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to the establishment of stringent 

corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to 

enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s accountability 

and transparency. The Company strived to maintain high corporate 

governance standard and has complied with all code provisions of 

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the 

Listing Rules as in effective from time to time (the “CG Code”) for the 

year ended 31 December 2017, and there has been no derivation 

from the code provisions for the year ended 31 December 2017.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE PROVISIONS

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that every 

Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company 

against any liability, action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs, 

damages or expenses as a result of any act or failure to act 

in carrying out his/her functions. The Company has arranged 

appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of 

legal action against Directors.

PURCHASE, SALE AND RE-PURCHASE OF 

SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, 

redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the 

year ended 31 December 2017.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF THE 

LISTING RULES

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances resulting in the 

responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules 

regarding the provision of advance by the Company to an entity.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group in the 

past five years is set out on page 180 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision regarding pre-emptive rights in the Articles of 

Association of the Company or the ordinance of Cayman Islands. It 

is stipulated that any new shares shall be offered according to the 

respective shareholding of the existing shareholders of the Company 

when new shares are issued by the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and 

within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual 

report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float 

under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 

2017.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses 

and prospects may be affected by a number of r isks and 

uncertainties. The followings are the Group’s risk management 

organization structure and the key risks and uncertainties identified. 

There may be other risks and uncertainties which are not known to 

the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to 

be material in the future.

In terms of organizational development, the establishment of an 

integrated risk control management organization up from the board 

of directors and down to the branches.

* Risk control organizations at all levels include risk management organizations 

and crisis management public relations teams

In terms of corporate strategies, the Group’s business is subject to 
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the ever-changing market conditions. In the face of the risks arising 

from the ever-changing market conditions, the Board has been 

able to lead the Company to make timely responses to the changes 

in the market. Risks arising from market fluctuations have been 

avoided through unique business model of developing frequent and 

sophisticated sea-land integrated logistics services and effective 

cost control. Also, the Company has set up a mechanism for holding 

regular strategic risk seminar at the board level.

In terms of operational risk, the Company has publicly released its 

requirements for declaration and handling of, and the inspection 

and supervision of dangerous goods to be made and carried out 

in strict compliance with relevant safety management systems and 

procedures, in order to reduce risks relating to the transportation of 

dangerous goods and documentation and operation procedures. 

In face of operational risks relating to vessel owners and container 

leasing companies, the Company has included relevant contract 

clauses during negotiation, prudently select and ensure the diversity 

of its suppliers, cooperate with vessel owners and container leasing 

companies with good reputation and strong financial condition, and 

increase the charterers’ liability insurance. Besides, the Group’s 

operating results are mainly affected by the risk arising from its major 

costs component, such as fluctuations in fuel price and quality. 

Through its creditworthy and long-term suppliers, monitoring of 

fuel price fluctuations and cargo fuel surcharges which reduced 

the impacts of fuel price fluctuations, the Company has been 

able to maintain its operating results despite the volatile fuel price 

fluctuations.

In terms of employees, the Company has developed a regular 

rotation system and an audit system which should be carried out 

before rotation or suspension for particular roles including the senior 

management and the financial officers to avoid the risks arising from 

changes of employees’ positions. Conditions for avoiding conflict of 

interest and non-compete clauses have also been included in the 

relevant employment contracts. The Company has also established 

an optimized safety production management system, enhanced 

training courses, formulated plans for crisis management and 

organized regular drills, installed safety monitoring equipment such 

as probes on vessels and purchased insurance to reduce the risk of 

casualties.

In terms of asset risks, the Company held insurance policies 

and added protection clauses in the procurement contracts and 

investigated the background of sellers to mitigate risks in relation 

to the vessels and container assets. In terms of currency risks, 

the Group maintained a reasonable currencies mix and settled 

payments in time according to the guiding exchange rates. As for 

risks relating to accounts receivable, the Company conducted an 

overall qualification check on the existing credit sales customers, 

strictly examined and approved new customers on credit terms, and 

shortened the credit period.

In terms of internal control and systemic risks, as for risks relating 

to the absence of system, the Company conducted annual 

comprehensive review according to the actual operation and 

management practices, and updated the compilation of management 

system and made amendments from time to time. In terms of 

internal control risks, the Company focused on internal control 

risks in routine and special audits, updated and improved system 

specifications, and compiled cases. In terms of legal and compliance 

risks, we increased communication with relevant regulatory agencies, 

received updates on laws and regulations in time, and operated in 

compliance with such laws and regulations. For the risks relating 

to transaction contracts, our lawyers participated in the formulation 

of standardized contract templates, and the Company reviewed 

each contract before the execution. The Company also assessed 

contracts annually, including the credit, settlement methods and 

service quality of our counterparties. As for information system risks, 

the Company improved the disaster recovery system, purchased and 

installed antivirus software, strengthened the internal and external 

system security at both group and subsidiary levels, to minimize 

risks of emergencies and hacker attacks. We also enhanced safety 

awareness of our employees, to prevent information leakage. For 

IT equipment risks, we have stipulated rules on the useful life of IT 

equipment.

In terms of public relations risks, the Company proactively paid 

close attention to industry public opinions, established a variety of 

channels for regularly releasing information to the public, maintained 

communication with the public, and promptly refuted rumors through 

communication channels.

In terms of force majeure risks, we established risk alerting 

mechanism and information feedback mechanism, and maintained 

flexibility with operating leverage. We performed our safe keeping 

and insurance obligation for the containers under respective 

container leasing agreement. We have timely adopted prevention 

measures (e.g., avoid entering war zones, etc.) according to relevant 

alerts issued by insurance companies. We also stipulated relevant 

risks, related trade and war provisions in the ship charter agreement. 

In addition, we have a regular internal rotation and provide data and 

system security for remote offices.



Report of the Board of Directors

SITC International Holdings Company Limited48

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As a responsible enterprise, the Group has endeavoured to comply 

with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and 

adopted effective environmental technologies to ensure that the 

conducting of the Group’s business meets the applicable local 

standards and ethics in respect of environmental protection. 

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and 

sustainable development. Through the establishment of an ever-

improving management system, enhancement on procedure 

monitoring, energy conservation and environment protection were 

strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of 

environmental management.

Several measures have been implemented in order to mitigate 

environmental pollution, such as reducing fuel consumption; 

enhancing machines and equipment; carrying out maintenance for 

optimal operation condition; proactively developing new vessels; and 

developing an Owner’s Account (“OA”) paperless office system to 

minimise office wastage.

Further, the Group has actively promoted material-saving and 

environmentally friendly working environment so as to protect the 

environment and improve air quality within the community.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to 

applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those have 

significant impact on the Group. The Audit Committee is delegated 

by the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and practices on 

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and such policies 

are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and 

regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and 

relevant operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware of, the Group complies with all 

relevant rules and regulations promulgated by the relevant regulatory 

bodies to which the Group operates its business in and holds 

relevant required licences for provision of its services. The Group’s 

management must ensure that the conduct of business is in 

conformity with the applicable laws and regulations.

To protect the Group’s intellectual property rights, the Group has 

registered its domain name and various trademarks have been 

applied for or registered in various classes in over 20 countries and 

regions including mainland China and Hong Kong. “SITC” has been 

used in all principal operation regions of the Group. The Group has 

established a trademark management system for strict management 

of the registration, renewal, transfer and use of trademarks. There 

has been no incident or dispute in relation to the infringement or 

counterfeiting of trademarks since its listing. As a listed company, 

the Company has been in strict compliance with the requirements of 

the Listing Rules and has promptly responded to the amendments 

of the Listing Rules. In respect of the safety of vessels, the Group 

has complied with SOLARS Convention, STCW Convention and 

MLC2006 Convention in line with the characteristics of the industry. 

In respect of sea transportation service, the Group has complied with 

the relevant laws and regulations such as the Maritime Code (《海商

法》) and the Contract Law (《合同法》), and formulated corresponding 

procedures and complementary systems within the Company.

WORKPLACE QUALITY

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not 

discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. The Group has 

employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions of employment, 

expectations for employees’ conduct and behaviour, employees’ 

rights and benefits. The Group establishes and implements policies 

that promote a harmony and respectful workplace.

The Group believes that employees are the valuable assets of an 

enterprise and regards human resources as its corporate wealth. 

It will continue to provide on-the-job training and development 

opportunities to enhance our employees’ career progression. 

Through different training, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate 

operations, occupational and management skills are enhanced. 

The Group also organised charitable and staff-friendly activities 

for employees, such as outings, outward bound training and rope 

skipping competitions to provide communication opportunities 

among staff, which are vital to promote staff relationship and physical 

fitness.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and congenial 

work environment. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines 

are implemented to ensure the working environment is healthy and 

safe. The Group provided health and safety communications for 

employees to present the relevant information and raise awareness 

of occupational health and safety issues.

The Group values the health and well-being of staff. In order to 

provide employees with health coverage, staff are entitled to medical 

insurance benefits as well as other health awareness programs.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to the professional and personal 

development and growth of all employees and considers training and 

development a continual process. Many on- and off-the-job training 

courses and programs are provided to help employees develop and 

maintain consistency, proficiency and professionalism. Structured 

training programmes including courses, seminars and workshops 

are offered to staff at all levels with the objective of grooming and 

unleashing their full potential, supporting, organizational development 

and facilitating team synergies. Employees are encouraged to take 

advantage of these programmes in order to equip themselves with 

the skills and knowledge for expanded career opportunities within 

the Group.

AUDITOR

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as the Auditor of the 

Company for the year ended 31 December 2017. The Company 

will submit a resolution in the coming Annual General Meeting to re- 

appoint Ernst & Young as the Auditor of the Company.

For and on behalf of the Board

YANG Shaopeng

Chairman

12 April 2018
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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the Company is 

pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Annual 

Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high 

corporate governance standards.

The Board of the Company believes that high corporate governance 

standards are essential in providing a framework for the Group to 

safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, 

formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance its 

transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on 

the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate 

Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 

December 2017, the Company has complied with all the code 

provisions as set out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding 

Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Code of 

Conduct”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for 

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 

Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors 

have confirmed that they have complied with the Code of Conduct 

throughout the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the 

“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Model 

Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to 

be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the 

Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written 

Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions 

and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best 

interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a 

Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether 

the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board currently comprises 

ten Directors, consisting of six Executive Directors and four 

Independent Non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Shaopeng Chairman

Mr. YANG Xianxiang Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. LIU Kecheng

Mr. XUE Peng Joint Company Secretary

Mr. XUE Mingyuan

Mr. LAI Zhiyong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSUI Yung Kwok

Mr. YEUNG Kwok On

Dr. LO Wing Yan, William

Dr. NGAI Wai Fung

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationships 

between the members of the Board are set out and disclosed in the 

section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 25 to 

30 of this Annual Report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by 

Mr. YANG Shaopeng and Mr. YANG Xianxiang, respectively. The 

Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective 

functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive 

Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and 

daily management and operations generally. Their respective 

responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board at all times 

met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment 

of at least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing 

one-third of the Board with two of whom possessing appropriate 

professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 

management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from 

each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of his 

independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set 

out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all 

Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are 

appointed for a specific term of one year, subject to renewal after the 

expiry of the then current term.

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that all Directors 

appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by 

shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual 

general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if 

their number is not three of a multiple of three, the number nearest to 

but no less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided 

that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least 

once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-

election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control 

of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and 

supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and 

provides direction to management by laying down strategies and 

overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational 

and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control 

and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, 

have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, 

knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and 

effective functioning.

The Independent Non-executive Directors are responsible for 

ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and 

providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent 

judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the 

Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional 

advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for 

discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices 

held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to 

policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk 

management, material transactions (in particular those that may 

involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of 

directors and other significant operational matters of the Company. 

Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, 

directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of 

the Company are delegated to the management.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes 

in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that 

their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive 

and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment 

to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations 

of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities 

and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory 

requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional 

development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to 

ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and 

relevant. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training 

courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company organized 

a training session conducted by the qualified professionals for all 

Directors. Such training session(s) cover(s) a wide range of relevant 

topics including corporate governance etc.

The Company has been encouraging the Directors to participate 

continuous professional development courses and seminars 

organized by professional institutions or professional firms and 

reading materials on relevant topics so that they can continuously 

update and further improve their relevant knowledge and skills. 

According to the records maintained by the Company, a summary 

of continuous professional development received by the Directors for 

the year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Type of Continuous Professional Development

Name of Directors

Training coordinated

by the Company

Attending seminars/

briefings/conferences

Executive Directors

 Mr. YANG Shaopeng  

 Mr. YANG Xianxiang  

 Mr. LIU Kecheng  

 Mr. XUE Peng  

 Mr. LAI Zhiyong  

 Mr. XUE Mingyuan  

Independent Non-executive Directors

 Mr. TSUI Yung Kwok  

 Mr. YEUNG Kwok On  

 Dr. LO Wing Yan, William  

 Dr. NGAI Wai Fung  



ANNUAL REPORT 2017   53

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit 

Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee 

and Disclosure Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of 

the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are 

established with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 

with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of each of 

the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 

Committee are posted on the websites of the Company and the 

Stock Exchange, and the terms of reference of the Disclosure 

Committee are posted on the website of the Company, and each 

of such terms of reference is also available to shareholders upon 

request.

Except for the Disclosure Committee, the majority of the members 

of each Board committee are Independent Non-executive Directors 

and the list of the chairman and members of each Board committee 

is set out under “Corporate Information” on page 3.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consist of three Independent Non-executive 

Directors, namely Mr. TSUI Yung Kwok, Mr. LO Wing Yan, William 

and Mr. NGAI Wai Fung. Mr. TSUI Yung Kwok is the chairman of the 

Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting 

terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the 

Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial 

information and reporting process, risk management and internal 

control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope 

of audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to 

enable employees of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns 

about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or 

other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Audit Committee 

held five meetings to review the annual and interim financial results 

and reports for the year ended 31 December 2016 and for the six 

months ended 30 June 2017 and significant issues on the financial 

reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of 

the risk management and internal control systems and internal audit 

function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of 

works, and connected transactions and arrangements for employees 

to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors twice without 

the presence of the Executive Directors.

To better reflect the roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee, 

the Board has resolved to change the name of the Committee 

to “Audit and Risk Control Committee”. No change is made to 

the actual scope and term of reference and the member of the 

committee remain unchanged. In this annual report, the Audit and 

Risk Control Committee will be referred to as the Audit Committee 

for Consistency purpose.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members, namely 

Mr. YANG Shaopeng and Mr. YANG Xianxiang, being the Executive 

Directors, Mr. TSUI Yung Kwok, Mr. YEUNG Kwok On and Mr. 

NGAI Wai Fung, being the Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr. 

YEUNG Kwok On is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of 

no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The 

primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing 

and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 

packages of individual Executive Directors and senior management, 

the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior 

management; and establishing transparent procedures for 

developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no 

Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his own 

remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Remuneration 

Committee held one meeting to review and make recommendation 

to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the 

Company, and the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors 

and senior management and other related matters.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of five members, namely Mr. 

YANG Shaopeng and Mr. YANG Xianxiang, being the Executive 

Directors, Mr. YEUNG Kwok On, Mr. LO Wing Yan, William and Mr. 

NGAI Wai Fung, being the Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr. 

YANG Shaopeng is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less 

exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal 

duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board 

composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the 

nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations 

to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of 

Directors, and assessing the independence of Independent Non-

executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee 

would take into account various aspects as well as factors 

concerning the Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board 

diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 

educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge 

and industry and regional experience, etc. The Nomination 

Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for 

achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend 

them to the Board for adoption.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the nomination procedures 

for selection of candidates for directorship of the Company by 

making reference to the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, 

characters, skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal 

integrity, independency and time commitments of such individuals, 

the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements 

and regulations to complement the corporate strategy and Board 

diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the 

Board. External recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry 

out selection process where necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Nomination 

Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and 

composition of the Board and the independence of the Independent 

Non-executive Directors, and to consider the qualifications of the 

retiring Directors standing for election at the Annual General Meeting. 

The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of 

diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Disclosure Committee

The principal duties of the Disclosure Committee include considering 

and making recommendations to the Board in relation to disclosure 

policy and guidelines regarding inside information (as defined in the 

“Inside Information” under the Securities and Futures Ordinance) 

of the Company, evaluating the information proposed to be 

disclosed by the Secretary of the Board, if necessary, should obtain 

professional advice, and report to the Board and provide sufficient 

details and, in respect of information required to disclose, should 

propose the Board the disclosure plan, consistently understanding 

and concerning about the business affairs, financial conditions, 

as well as occurred and maybe occurred material events and its 

influence of the Company and the Group, and actively investigating 

and obtaining the required information for making decision, and 

considering other businesses, as defined by the Board.
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On 28 October 2013, the Board discussed the above measurable 

objectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge, professional 

experience and cultural and educational background, and agreed 

that these measurable objectives were achieved for the diversity 

of the Board which contributed to the corporate strategy and the 

business development of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the 

code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board reviewed the 

Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training 

and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior 

management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance 

with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Code 

of Conduct, Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines, and the 

Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this 

Corporate Governance Report.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) was adopted by the 

Company pursuant to the resolution of the Board passed on 14 

August 2013. The Policy aims to set out the approach to diversity 

on the Board. The Policy applies to the Board and does not apply to 

diversity in relation to the employees of the Company, nor the board 

and the employees of any subsidiary of the Company. In reviewing 

and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee 

will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to 

gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to 

educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge, 

industry, regional experience and length of service. The ultimate 

decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected 

candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee will 

review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of 

the Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and 

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and 

approval. The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of 

diversity perspectives of the Board in supporting the attainment of its 

strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee meetings and the 

general meeting of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out in the table below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Director Board

Nomination

Committee

Remuneration

Committee

Audit

Committee

Annual

General

Meeting

YANG Shaopeng 6/6 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1

YANG Xianxiang 6/6 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1

LIU Kecheng 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

XUE Peng 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

XUE Mingyuan 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

LAI Zhiyong 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

TSUI Yung Kwok 6/6 N/A 1/1 5/5 1/1

YEUNG Kwon On 6/6 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1

LO Wing Yan, William 6/6 1/1 N/A 5/5 0/1

NGAI Wai Fung 6/6 1/1 1/1 5/5 1/1

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of 

Executive Directors during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILTY IN RESPECT OF 

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing 

the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 

December 2017.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating 

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about 

their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in 

the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 to 77.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the 

Company, Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit 

services for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out below:

Service Category

Fees Paid/

Payable

(HK$’000)

Audit Services 3,430

Non-audit Services

 – Tax advisory services 99

 – Others 70
 

169
 

Total: 3,599
 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledge its responsibility for the risk management 

and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. 

Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate 

the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only 

provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 

misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibil ity for evaluating and 

determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in 

achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and 

maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal 

control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management 

and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the 

risk management and internal control systems.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the 

effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of 

the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 

2017, including the adequacy of resources, staff qualification and 

experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s 

accounting and reporting function.

The management of the Company monitors the assessment of 

the risk management and internal controls and has reported to the 

Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk 

management and internal control systems for the year ended 31 

December 2017.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management 

procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation 

by key business processes and office functions. Self-evaluation has 

been conducted annually to confirm that control policies are properly 

complied with by each division/department.

All divisions/departments conducted internal control assessment 

regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business of the 

Group and various aspects including key operational and financial 

processes, regulatory compliance and information security.
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The management, in coordination with division/department heads, 

assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, 

and monitor the risk management progress, and reported to the 

Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the effectiveness 

of the systems.

The internal audit department is responsible for performing 

independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

risk management and internal control systems. The internal audit 

department examined key issues in relation to the accounting 

practices and all material controls and provided its findings and 

recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, assessed the 

effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems 

by reviewing the management report and the internal audit findings 

and considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2017, the 

risk management and internal control systems of the Company are 

effective and adequate.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. XUE Peng, the Executive Director and joint company secretary, 

reports to the Company’s Chairman, Mr. YANG Shaopeng, and/or 

the Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. YANG Xianxiang, 

depends on various matters, respectively.

Ms. CHAN Wai Ling of Tricor Services Limited, external service 

provider, has been engaged by the Company as its joint company 

secretary on 9 March 2015. Ms. CHAN’s primary contact person 

at the Company is Mr. XUE Peng, the Executive Director and 

joint company secretary, and Ms. Elaine XU, the manager of the 

Operations and Management Centre, of the Company.

Mr. XUE and Ms. CHAN undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant 

professional training during the year ended 31 December 2017.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution 

is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general 

meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions 

put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant 

to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites 

of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general 

meeting.

P R O C E D U R E S  F O R  C O N V E N I N G  A N 

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING (“EGM”) 

AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT EGM

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, the Board may, 

whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM.

Anyone or more members holding at the date of deposit of the 

requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the 

Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the 

Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the 

Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary 

general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of 

any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall 

be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If 

within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to 

convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may 

do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred 

by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be 

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the requisitionists, 

their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene an 

EGM, the agenda proposed to be included and the details of the 

business(es) proposed to be transacted in the EGM and signed by 

the requisitionists.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, 

shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The 

Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned 

above to the following:

Address: 21/F., World Trade Centre, 280 Gloucester Road, 

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

 (For the attention of the Company Secretary)

Fax: 852-2824 3748

Tel: 852-2850 0302

Email: ir@sitc.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send 

the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or 

enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their 

full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect 

thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by 

law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND 

INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with 

shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor 

understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. 

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with 

shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and 

other general meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, the chairmen of Audit Committee, 

Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Disclosure 

Committee, or, in their absence, other members of the respective 

committees, will make themselves available at the annual general 

meetings to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any 

changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of the 

Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the websites 

of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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About This Report
SITC International Holdings Company Limited has been committed 
to achieving sustainable development and shouldering more social 
responsibility and since 2014, the Company has commenced the 
compilation of the “Social Responsibility Report” for a comprehensive 
review and report on the environmental, social and control 
performance of the Company to enable the mass investors to gain a 
comprehensive understanding of the Company’s social responsibility 
performance. This report covers the period from 1 January 2017 to 
31 December 2017.

The Principle of This Report
This report has been prepared in compliance with the principles of 
importance, quantification, balance and consistency as set out in 
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set 
forth under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and published by The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Compared with the previous 
reports, we have further refined the data collection system and 
expanded the scope of data coverage.

Strategy and Vision of SITC
The Company has adopted “P-S-V-D” as its core values. It is 
dedicated to provide highly efficient and high quality logistics service 
to customers mainly within the Asian region and to become the top 
choice for customers. The Company adopted a proprietary and light-
asset model, establish sea-land integrated logistics pipelines and 
facilities, constantly improve the high-frequency and high-density sea 
liner network and provide tailor-made logistics services to customers. 
The Company paid particular attention to the application of mobile 
Internet, as well as the corresponding organizational change.

Staff is the greatest asset of SITC, we can only provide top 
class service to customers, create top class value and achieve 
top class corporate development if we are able to nurture top 
class staff.

------ Mr Yang Shaopeng, Chairman of SITC International

Since its listing on the Stock Exchange in 2010, the Company 
has actively undertaken the social responsibilities of being a listed 
company. While delivering excellent results performance, much 
attention is also paid by the Company in protecting the environment, 
respecting staff, contributing to society and building good reputation 
and corporate image, and strong support from investors has been 
received, providing a solid base for sustainable development of the 
Company.

Environmental, Social and Responsibility Management Structure
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Communication with Stakeholders and Assessment of 

the Importance of Key Indicators

The Company attaches great importance to daily communication 

with stakeholders to listen to the sound from different directions as 

an important basis for the Company to enhance the environmental, 

social and governance level of the important basis. The Company 

adopted different ways of communicating with different stakeholders:

Stakeholder Category Means of Communication

Staff • Questionnaire survey

• Staff training

• Annual meeting

Customers • Satisfaction questionnaire survey

• New product launch

• Regular visits

Suppliers • Training

• Participation in bidding

Shareholders and investors • Annual general meeting

• Results presentation

• Analyst meeting

• Announcement

Intermediaries and other organizations • Symposium

• Training

• Daily mail and telephone communication

At the end of year 2017, the Company organized systematic annual questionnaires and invited the stakeholders to assess the environmental, 

social and governance performance of the Company for the year as a summary of its work for the year and so as to provide guidance for 

improvement in the work for the following year. The Company conducted an online questionnaire for all the employees and questionnaires were 

also given to the substantial customers, suppliers, intermediaries, shareholders and other stakeholders, and the following key matrix for various 

indicators were concluded from the valid questionnaires returned:
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SITC and the Environment

With an aggravating environment today, green and low-carbon 

initiatives have become a global trend. Green development is 

not just a social responsibility ought to be performed by a listed 

company, but also has important implications on the internal urge 

for cost reduction, efficiency enhancement, survival and sustainable 

development of the Company. As an integrated logistics enterprise 

in the Asian region, the main means of transport of the Group is 

container vessels. The Company undertakes to fulfill the International 

Safety Management Code, acknowledges the objectives of the Code 

“To ensure safety at sea, to prevent human injury or loss of life, to 

avoid damage to the environment (especially to the environment 

at sea) and to the loss of property”, and on the basis of these 

objectives confirms the safety and environmental protection policy 

of the Company as “ensure safety, protect the environmental, 

protect health” and our efficiency policy as “energy conservation and 

emission reduction, high efficiency and low consumption”.

• Control of Emissions:

The Company’s main source of emissions is from our operating 

container vessels. All vessels operated by the Company are 

equipped with anti-pollution equipment satisfying international 

convention requirements and accredited with ISPP and IOPP 

certificates, and strictly comply with the provisions and requirements 

under the MARPOL Convention in the aspects of handling and 

discharge. Depending on the load capacity and sailing route, each 

vessel is equipped with the “Ship Energy Efficiency Management 

Plan” (“SEEMP”) to monitor the relationship between CO2 emissions 

and ship navigation at any time.The focus is placed on the system 

and program aspects with the highest energy saving potential, 

and improving the operational flow of shipping and the maximum 

energy efficiency is achieved from the three aspects of management 

measures, technical measures and operational measures. Through 

the adoption and continuous improvement of effective energy saving 

measures, a systematic approach is employed to implement the 

Company’s energy efficiency policy, improve the energy efficiency 

of vessels and reduce carbon emissions. SEEMP follows the plan-

implementation-inspection (monitoring) -promotion (PDCA) mode of 

operation and makes SEEMP always effective through continuous 

improvement.

Furthermore, the Company also further implements meticulous 

management by optimizing the operating speed of vessels, 

squeezing the time at terminals and on anchorage of vessels to 

enhance fuel efficiency. In 2017, the fuel consumption of vessels 

was 443,951 tons, representing an increase of 2.8% as compared 

with 2016, but the fuel consumption per vessel was 5,994 tons, 

representing a decrease of approximately 1% as compared with 

2016.

The sulfur content of fuels refueled to our ships is strictly controlled 

at below 3.5% as required by the International Convention. We also 

pay close attention to areas and ports with special requirements for 

fuels. For example, ships calling in Hong Kong and the Yangtze River 

Delta area must use 0.5% low sulfur fuel and strictly comply with 

the requirements for fuel emissions. For suppliers who provide fuel 

for us, we also request them to provide high quality fuels that meet 

emissions requirements and provide corresponding testing reports.

In terms of the discharge of marine wastes, the Company strictly 

abide by the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution 

(國際防止污染公約 ), based on the latest amendments of which the 

Company has formulated the latest version of a “waste management 

plan” (see below diagram), which is to be applied to the fleet by 1 

March 2018 and strictly control the discharge process and discharge 

records of various types of wastes generated by vessels (see below 

diagram). In addition, the Company also signed the “Statement of 

Compliance with the List of Hazardous Substances (有害物質清單

符合聲明 )” and promulgated the “Oil Pollution Emergency Plan (油

污應急計劃 )” and the “Provision for Prohibiting the Use of Materials 

containing Asbestos in Vessels (禁止含有石棉材料在船使用規

定 )” , which have effectively prevented the generation of harmful 

wastes. In 2017, the amount of domestic waste generated by our 

operating vessels was approximately 199,000 tons. Neither massive 

discharges of land-based waste nor emission of hazardous wastes 

occurred in the operation of the Company’s principal businesses.
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In 2017, the Company has not been challenged or questioned by 

any competent government authorities or relevant bodies in relation 

to issue on environmental pollution caused by our emissions.

Ordering energy-saving vessels: Based on the successful experience 

of new shipbuilding in Japan, Korea and Taiwan, the Company 

has highlighted the objectives of “reducing fuel consumption, 

improving efficiency, and saving energy and reducing emissions”. In 

2017, the Company successively signed 1000 TEU and 2400 TEU 

economic container newbuilding vessels with South Korea’s Dae 

Sun Shipbuilding and Yangzijiang Shipbuilding. The characteristics 

of these vessels are as follows: Based on the adoption of the most 

advanced technologies in the international shipbuilding industry, 

through rationally deploying the route configuration, reasonably 

reducing the design speed, increasing the actual load capacity, 

reducing fuel consumption, and reducing emissions, SITC has 

created a new generation of energy-saving, green, low-carbon, and 

environmentally-friendly new ships. At the same time, by optimizing 

the captain and ball-nosed structure on its self-owned vessels, it 

meets port requirements while improving efficiency and reducing 

costs.

A1.1 Types and quantities of emission

The emission data of self-owned land vehicles

Type of emission

2017

Quantity of 

emission (g)

2016

Quantity of 

emission (g)*

Nitrogen oxide 9,316,718 10,967,480

Sulfur dioxide 24,915 25,124

Particle discharge 882,167 1,047,216

The emission data of operating container vessels

Type of emission

2017

Quantity of 

emission (g)

2016

Quantity of 

emission (g)*

Sulfur dioxide 7,147,611 6,952,608

Remarks:

1. *Restated;

2. The above emission factors are derived from the “Reporting Guidelines on 

Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange.
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A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions

2017 2016

Carbon dioxide Carbon dioxide 

Equivalent 

emission (tons)

Equivalent 

emission (tons)(3)

Greenhouse gas from direct 

 business of the Company(1) 1,390,396 1,390,281

Greenhouse gas produced by 

 electricity consumed within 

 the Company(2) 1,996 1,958

Employees’ business trips

 by air 220 /

Notes:

(1) The emission data represents emission from self-owned vehicles and leased 

container vessels of the Company and its subsidiaries. The emission factors 

are based on the “Reporting Guidelines on Environmental KPIs” published 

by the Stock Exchange, and the emission factors released in the MEPC.1/

Cir 684 issued by the IMO (International Maritime Organization).

(2) Covers office power consumption of subsidiaries that can be put into 

statistics. Power consumption of certain companies cannot be separately 

put into statistic as the consumption is included in the cost of property.

(3) Restated.

• Caring for Natural Resources

Valuable natural resources are not inexhaustible. Although the main 

business of the Company does not involve substantial consumption 

of natural resources such as water and electricity, the Company still 

advocates conservation and pays attention to protection of natural 

resources in its business operation.

The Company uses advanced ground source heat pumps in 

offices where the conditions allow to strengthen the control of 

office temperature and other measures, reducing the consumption 

of electricity for heating. The signs of “everyone is responsible for 

saving water” and “turn off the lights when going out” are posted 

at prominent positions of self-owned properties to enhance 

employees’ awareness of conservation. The Company has also 

developed and promoted within the Group an OA paperless and 

mobile office system to reduce papers consumption in daily work, 

with an improvement in working efficiency. Further, the Company 

has adopted an electronic file system to save human and material 

resources for file management, provided that the safe preservation of 

archives is guaranteed. The Company has also equipped branches 

in each region with telephone conferencing and video conferencing 

systems to reduce consumption as a result of on-site meetings. The 

main business of the Company does not involve finished products 

and therefore does not consume natural resources for packaging 

materials of finished products.

A2.1 Amount and density of natural resources consumed

Amount of

energy consumption

Density of energy 

consumption 

(US$ 10 thousand)

Type of energy 2017 2016 2017 2016

Electricity (kWh/hours) 2,526,608 2,479,038 18.74 20.39

Gasoline (liters) 269,446 324,235 2.00 2.67

Diesel (liters) 1,301,530 1,264,426 9.65 10.40

Fuel oil (tons) 443,951 431,839 3.29 3.55

Water (cubic meters) 172,600 154,888 1.28 1.27

Remarks:

1. Power consumption covers office power consumption of subsidiaries that 

can be put into statistics. Power consumption of certain companies cannot 

be separately put into statistics as the consumption is included in cost of 

property.

2. Water consumption covers office water consumption of subsidiaries that can 

be put into statistics. Water consumption of certain companies cannot be 

separately put into statistics as the consumption is included in the cost of 

property.
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‧ Impact on the environment and natural resources

Although the Company’s principal businesses do not have a 

significant impact on the environment and natural resources, such 

as biodiversity, the Company continues to strictly comply with 

the international conventions and laws and regulations relating to 

emissions, so as to minimize the impact on the environment and 

natural resources caused by its business operations.

SITC and Society

• Employment

The Company formulates employment policies in accordance with 

the labour laws and regulations of the countries or regions in which 

its staff work:

• The Company has established a scientific and comprehensive 

staff recruitment model for the selection of outstanding 

personnel to join the Company through a job competence 

model, network testing, interview and practical assessment.

• The Company adopts a performance-based salary system 

pursuant to which performance-based salary is released 

according to the performance assessment of employees;

• The Company fully respects the customs and practices of 

each countries or regions, and develops statutory leave and 

paid leave systems;

• The Company determines working hours and overtime 

systems in accordance with laws and regulations of respective 

nations or countries;

• The Company has drawn up a share option scheme and a 

share award scheme to reward employees who have made 

greater contribution to the Company, so that more employees 

can benefit from the excellent performance of the Company;

• Each employee is given equal rights such as rights of 

promotion, training and vacation, with no different treatment 

due to gender, race, age, geographical region and marital 

status.

In addition, the Company has also organized a diversity of cultural 

activities, and has held sports activities such as badminton, rope 

skipping and tug-of-war tournaments, Chinese and foreign language 

competition, and hiking and spring outing during weekends for 

local staff. The annual spring gathering is also a great event for staff 

from various regions for social gathering and celebrating the Spring 

Festival.
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Employee distribution by geographical area, gender and age (1)



ANNUAL REPORT 2017   67



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SITC International Holdings Company Limited68

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had no material incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations 

regarding employment and labour practices.

Note:

(1) Including full-time employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (excluding crew members)

(2) Greater China includes Mainland China, Hong Kong and Taiwan
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• Health and Safety

The health and safety of its staff is the fundamental for the 

development of the Company. The Company is committed to 

providing its staff with a safe working environment and comprehensive 

health protection. All office buildings leased and purchased by the 

Company comply with local safety laws and regulations and are 

equipped with comprehensive emergency measures for tackling 

various contingencies. Apart from making contributions to social 

insurance for staff according to local requirements, the Company 

has also established a relief fund for providing assistance in case 

of critical illness and death, while other benefits are also available 

such as deployment subsidies, staff birthday benefit, joining date 

anniversary benefit, body health examination, employer’s liability 

insurance, critical illness insurance, travel insurance for overseas 

business trips, etc. to provide maximum protection for staff and 

relieve the staff from further worries.

For vessel operations and crew safety and security, in addition to 

the strict implementation of the requirements of SOLAS Convention, 

STCW Convention and MLC2006 Convention, the Company has 

formulated a detailed safety management manual SMS based on 

actual conditions, which shall be jointly implemented by vessels 

and terminals and covers safety, avoidance of personal injury, 

occupational health and other aspects including detailed operating 

procedures and safety and emergency measures. The Company also 

allocates sufficient crew in accordance with STCW Convention and  

MLC2006 Convention and provides comfortable work environment 

for its crew to avoid their fatigued operations. For risks of terrorist 

attack in certain shipping areas, the Company sets up a bullying 

prevention ship security plan (SSP) in strict accordance with the 

ISPS Code to install CCTV monitoring on vessels and other bullying 

prevention measures, and make a naval escort plan for vessels 

shipping in piracy-prone area with armed guards to safeguard the 

safety of crew and vessels.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no work-related 

fatalities were recorded, and there were no confirmed material non-

compliance incident or grievance in relation to human rights and 

labour practices.

• Development and Training:

The Company is particularly concerned about the career planning 

and enhancement of integrated capabilities for staff. The “SITC 

International Training System Establishment Committee” (the 

“Committee”) has been formed by the Company to determine the 

contents of training sessions required to be undertaken by various 

levels of staff according to the classification of staff, officer-in-charge, 

manager and general manager grades and the core strategy of the 

Company. Training materials for the training programs are compiled 

by professionals designated by the Company, which will be reviewed 

and amended many times by the Committee before they are 

published for use. All of the staff are required to complete all training 

programs of their grade relating to their job positions and pass an 

online test. For confirmation, rotation and promotion of staff, all 

training programs for the target grade and the target position must 

be completed and the online test must be passed by the relevant 

staff, the training ratio was 100% for 2017, and average training 

hours per employee was 15 hours.

Moreover, the Company also encourages staff to participate in external 

trainings for upgrading university degree qualification, advancement 

in job titles and upgrading skills, a portion of the training expenses 

may be reimbursed after achieving certain qualifications. For example, 

most of the senior management team members of SITC took this 

opportunity to obtain the China-Europe EMBA diplomas. The Company 

has established the “SITC International Team Building Management 

Committee” to be responsible for cultivating reserve team staff, 

determination of key positions and selection models, and the reserve 

team staff will be identified through differentiation assessment, 

targeted training will be provided by training sessions, job rotations and 

promotions to maintain a reserve pool of management personnel for the 

Company. By now, the “reserve team of general manager talents” and 

“reserve team of financial manager talents” have been built up to supply 

outstanding personnel for key positions.

• Labour Standards:

The Company strictly complies with the labor regulations of the 

countries or regions in which our staff work, and all staff of the 

Company have signed labour contracts on a voluntary basis. No 

services are provided because of involuntary reasons such as 

coercion and threats. The Company prohibits the employment of 

any child labor (under the age of 16). In 2017, the Company did not 

identify any violation of the aforesaid principles.
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• Supply Chain Management:

The Company strives to maintain long-term and stable cooperative 

relationship with upstream and downstream suppliers to achieve a 

win-win cooperation model. In respect of supplier selection, through 

the contract review system, the Company strictly implements review 

process by primarily reviewing financial position, management 

experience, industry qualification, credit condition of its partners. 

Once quality suppliers are selected, the Company will sign a formal 

contract or agreement in accordance with local laws and regulations 

to regulate the rights and obligations of both parties. The Company 

will also communicate by regularly organizing negotiations, visiting 

and training to form long-term and stable cooperation relationship 

and to maintain a fair and justice trading environment on the basis 

of mutual trust and understanding to achieve coexistence and co-

prosperity between the Company and its partners. The Company 

will conduct annual assessments of all conditions of suppliers. If 

the conditions of any supplier are found to be incompatible with 

the requirements, the Company will suspend the cooperation 

and order supplier to carry out rectification. The marine logistic 

operation model with high frequency and high density of SITC needs 

active support from the calling port operators. To achieve win-win 

cooperation, we have entered into strategic cooperation agreements 

with the Shanghai Port, the Qingdao Port and the Dalian Port to 

lay a foundation of providing safe, punctual, fast quality logistics 

services to customers. The Company also actively promotes the 

transformation of land transport into water transport by tailoring 

dedicated logistics solutions for customers. The anchoring of a 

large number of vessels at ports has saved land transport costs for 

customers while significantly reducing carbon emissions. Besides, 

the Group promotes the containerization of some bulk agricultural 

products to reduce dust pollution.

• Product Responsibility:

Providing customers with a constantly improving high-frequency, 

high-density sea liner network and providing customers with tailor-

made services are the Company’s core competitiveness. The 

Company will communicate with customers from a multi-dimensional 

perspective each year through such means as customer satisfaction 

survey, paying visits to customers, organizing training and marketing 

and improve our services at any time based on feedbacks and 

suggestions from customers, and share the result of communication 

at ports of each of the relevant business units to achieve seamless 

connection in services. In response to increasing congestion in the 

basic ports of Southeast Asian countries, the Company has studied 

and developed a lot of side port services and allocated a large 

number of overtime vessels to ensure the schedule reliability so as to 

save time for customers and guarantee the normal operation of the 

production line. The Company has also established a comprehensive 

customer complaint and dispute resolution mechanism as well as 

a department for accepting complaints made by customers at the 

two levels of business company and group headquarters. Through 

the efficient and proper handling of complaints and disputes, the 

Company has won the trust of customers. In 2017, the Company 

received a total of three complaints from customers, customer 

satisfaction for complaints handling is 100%. Through the WeChat 

platform and the construction of an e-commerce website, as well 

as the addition of online enquiry functions such as switch document 

time (換 單 時 間 ), detention and container repair and washing fee, 

the Company has facilitated customer enquiries, improved the 

transparency of information, further enhanced customer experience. 

Among its key customers, stable customers with 3 years or above 

account for more than 85%. In 2017, the Company handled 21 

claims on average per month, with an annual cargo damage 

compensation amount of US$250,000. Through flexible and diverse 

compensation methods, the Company has reduced customer losses 

to a minimum and improved customer satisfaction.

The Company strictly complies with business-related laws and 

regulations, such as the relevant laws and regulations concerning 

the transport and storage of chemicals and dangerous goods and 

SOLAS Convention, and provides customers with safe logistics 

services. In 2017, the Company was not aware of any violation of the 

relevant laws and regulations.

The Company also protects the privacy of our customers, and clearly 

stipulate in the provisions of corporate system and the Employee 

Manual that no disclosure of any customer information shall be made 

to any irrelevant companies, departments and individuals by any 

means in any occasions without permission.
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The headquarter of the Company is responsible for the management 

of the trademark and will register and use the “SITC” trademark 

in accordance with local laws in regions where it operates. We 

use a unified and standard trademark style in carriers such as the 

Company’s vessels, containers, bills of lading, sailing schedules and 

website to enhance recognition. For the independently developed 

software systems, the Company actively applied for relevant software 

certification to determine a clear copyright attribution.

• Anti-corruption:

The Company says “no” to all acts of bribery, extortion, fraud and 

money laundering, and strictly eliminate the occurrence of the above-

mentioned malpractices. The Company has established a perfect 

and transparent anti-fraud and complaints report mechanism. SITC 

has set up hotlines and emails to receive reporting of its employees 

and third parties on both named and anonymous basis. The hotline 

number, email and communication address, etc. are publicly 

available through internal and external network, publicity board, 

schedule advertisement and other medias. The Company will file 

promptly the reporting materials relating to anti-fraud cases after 

handling of reporting and investigation, and typical cases may be 

selected to prepare training materials for prevention and correction. 

The Company will also regularly organize internal and external 

audits and implement the rotation system, effectively preventing the 

occurrence of malpractices. The Company has effectively prevented 

the occurrence of “money laundering” by strictly restricting the 

scope of use of corporate bank accounts and prohibiting any form 

of payment collection that is unrelated to the normal business of the 

Company. In 2017, the Company did not find any bribery, extortion, 

fraud and money laundering.

• Community Investment: 

Adhering to the spirit of “caring and contributing to the society”, the 

Company has donated RMB3.2 million to social organizations and 

charitable institutions to support the “education” and “disadvantaged 

group” projects on which it places its focus. For the “SITC 

International Scholarship and Grants” established by the Company 

at the Qingdao shipping institute, in 2017, a total of RMB200,000 

has been provided for scholarships and grants to reward students 

with excellence in academic performance, personal conduct and 

comprehensive development in the ocean shipping profession, as 

well as for sponsoring students in the ocean shipping profession 

who encountered economic difficulties in their families, so that they 

can complete their study smoothly and become independent talents 

as soon as possible. In 2017, in joint actions with 騰訊公益家活

動 , SITC invited all staff and people with compassion to help the 

orphans and disabled children by establishing a charity foundation 

of RMB3 million for such activity, and over 1,500 staffs from 46 

subsidiaries, both domestic and overseas, joined this charity walking 

activity, whereby a donation for 540 million steps were accumulated. 

During 2017, the Company donated all the public welfare fund of 

RMB 3 million to the Jinan Orphans and Disabled Children’s Care 

Center, and the treatment given to 519 orphans and disabled 

children had very good results, of which 33 recovered children were 

being adopted. The Company also recruited volunteers internally for 

the third consecutive year to work in the children care center in Jinan 

as nursing assistants, rehabilitation assistants and summer vacation 

counsellors. During the year of 2017,8 employees participated in 

these activities voluntarily and provided services of 40 hours/person. 
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To the shareholders of SITC International Holdings Company Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SITC International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 179, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at  

31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and 

have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how 

our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section 

of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to 

our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including 

the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of vessels

At 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of the vessels of the 

Group was US$787,896,000, which represented 88% of the then 

carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and 

49% of the Group’s then total assets.

Management is required to perform an impairment assessment on 

an asset if there is any indication that its recoverable amount may be 

lower than its carrying amount. The Group performed an impairment 

assessment of its vessels in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting 

Standard (“HKAS”) 36 Impairment of Assets issued by the HKICPA 

and concluded that the Group’s dry bulk vessels may be impaired. 

Accordingly, the Group estimated the recoverable amounts of its 

dry bulk vessels, using a value in use calculation based on the 

discounted cash flow method. Such assessment requires, inter alia, 

management’s estimation on the expected future cash flows from 

the assets and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 

the present value of those cash flows.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to the financial 

statements.

We evaluated the assumption and data used by the Group in the 

forecast, and with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, 

the methodology adopted for the impairment assessment and the 

discount rates used in the recoverable amount calculation of the 

Group’s dry bulk vessels prepared by the management.



Independent auditor’s report

SITC International Holdings Company Limited74

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Hedge accounting

At 31 December 2017, certain bank borrowings of the Group 

denominated in Japanese Yen (“JPY”) with a then total carrying 

amount of US$176,884,000 were designated as hedging instruments 

to manage the Group’s foreign currency risk in relation to forecast 

sales denominated in JPY (i.e., the hedged items). These bank loan 

balances vary with the levels of expected JPY denominated sales 

and changes in JPY-US$ forward rate. The cash flow hedges relating 

to the expected future sales transactions denominated in JPY were 

assessed by the Group to be highly effective and hence the Group 

applies hedge accounting for this cash flow hedge relationship.

The cash flow hedge accounting is dependent on the effectiveness 

of the hedge relationship, as such, this inherent complexity of 

hedge accounting involved a significant degree of management’s 

judgement and was considered significant to our audit.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 28 to the financial 

statements.

Our procedures in relation to the hedge accounting comprised 

reviewing the hedging documentations and the identification process 

for the hedge relationship, including the hedging instrument, the 

hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged and procedures 

adopted by the management in assessing the hedging instrument’s 

effectiveness.

We also assessed the effectiveness of the hedge and the valuation 

of the related hedging instruments to determine the management’s 

designation of hedge accounting is appropriate. We then reviewed 

the forecast revenue schedules and assessed the ability of the Group 

to generate sufficient amount of revenue denominated in JPY under 

the cash flow hedge during the year and in different future dates.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual 

Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 

whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 

this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 

directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a 

body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 

statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 

by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 

to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 

the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to 

express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to 

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 

public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is CHENG Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

23 March 2018



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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Notes 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

REVENUE 5 1,348,385 1,215,791

Cost of sales (1,096,679) (1,016,256)
  

Gross profit 251,706 199,535

Other income and gains, net 5 18,658 8,797

Administrative expenses (74,333) (68,801)

Other expenses, net (946) (13,933)

Finance costs 6 (8,640) (6,872)

Share of profits and losses of:

 Joint ventures 11,093 11,504

 Associates 481 442
  

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 198,019 130,672

Income tax 10 (7,907) (6,434)
  

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 190,112 124,238
  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified to

 profit or loss in subsequent periods:

  Changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments 19 1,326 325

  Cash flow hedges:

   Effective portion of changes in fair value of

    hedging instruments arising during the year (7,681) (5,910)

   Reclassification adjustments for losses included in profit or loss 561 1,838
  

(7,120) (4,072)

  Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 5,718 (87)

  Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of joint ventures 1,452 (1,673)

  Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates 652 (732)
  

  Net other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified to

   profit or loss in subsequent periods 2,028 (6,239)
  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

 FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX 2,028 (6,239)
  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 192,140 117,999
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Note 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Profit for the year attributable to:

 Shareholders of the Company 188,613 122,790

 Non-controlling interests 1,499 1,448
  

190,112 124,238
  

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

 Shareholders of the Company 190,124 116,953

 Non-controlling interests 2,016 1,046
  

192,140 117,999
  

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

 SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 12

 Basic (US cents per share) 7.15 4.70
  

 Diluted (US cents per share) 7.12 4.69
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Notes 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 13 891,787 925,749

Prepaid land lease payments 14 18,656 17,928

Advance payments for acquisition of vessels and trademarks 15 13,172 1,057

Goodwill 16 1,088 1,019

Investments in joint ventures 17 32,743 31,268

Investments in associates 18 9,800 10,610

Available-for-sale investments 19 26,808 16,745

Derivative financial instruments 20 175 179
  

Total non-current assets 994,229 1,004,555
  

CURRENT ASSETS

Bunkers 17,723 13,749

Trade receivables 21 64,065 59,379

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 13,513 12,610

Due from related companies 23 1,126 111

Principal-protected investment deposits

 at fair value through profit or loss 24 10,887 11,372

Derivative financial instruments 20 1,136 905

Cash and bank balances 25 505,684 352,957
  

Total current assets 614,134 451,083
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables 26 131,812 118,278

Other payables and accruals 27 53,555 39,513

Due to related companies 23 164 29

Derivative financial instruments 20 709 1

Bank borrowings 28 117,407 63,712

Dividend payables 33,964 —

Income tax payables 1,298 1,006
  

Total current liabilities 338,909 222,539
  

NET CURRENT ASSETS 275,225 228,544
  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,269,454 1,233,099
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Notes 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,269,454 1,233,099
  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Bank borrowings 28 298,016 345,859
  

Net assets 971,438 887,240
  

EQUITY

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

 Issued capital 30 34,213 33,713

 Reserves 32 929,305 846,284
  

963,518 879,997

Non-controlling interests 7,920 7,243
  

Total equity 971,438 887,240
  

YANG Shaopeng YANG Xianxiang

Director Director



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2017
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Notes 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 198,019 130,672

Adjustments for:

 Finance costs 6 8,640 6,872

 Share of profits of joint ventures (11,093) (11,504)

 Share of profits of associates (481) (442)

 Interest income 5 (8,376) (3,543)

 Gain on disposal of investment in a subsidiary 5 — (18)

 Gain on disposal of investment in an associate 5 (40) —

 Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, net 5 (3,687) (38)

 Fair value gains, net:

  Derivative instruments – transactions not qualifying as hedges (3,906) (754)

  Cash flow hedges (transfer from equity) 7 (561) 1,838

 Impairment of available-for-sale investments 7 — 680

 Depreciation 7 56,088 53,706

 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 7 463 471

 Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 7 345 (91)

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment 7 — 6,600

 Equity-settled share option expenses 31 104 769

 Share award expenses 31 31 —
  

235,546 185,218

Increase in bunkers (3,974) (3,005)

Increase in trade receivables (3,150) (3,605)

Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 2,368 18,452

Increase in amounts due from related companies 111 90

Increase in derivative financial assets 3,679 909

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 11,318 (3,487)

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 12,248 (46)

Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to related companies 135 (1,578)

Increase/(decrease) in derivative financial liabilities 708 (1,751)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (2,582) 1,027
  

Cash generated from operations 256,407 192,224
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2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income received 7,531 2,702

Interest paid (9,040) (7,272)

Hong Kong profits tax paid (306) (186)

Overseas income tax paid (6,786) (7,280)
  

Net cash flows from operating activities 247,806 180,188

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (19,322) (64,249)

Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 4,324 7,931

Advance payments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (12,113) —

Investments in joint ventures — (640)

Purchases of available-for-sale investments (10,696) (10,521)

Proceeds from disposal on available-for-sale investments 3,172 —

Purchases of held-to-maturity investments — (482,579)

Proceeds from redemption of held-to-maturity investments — 487,199

Net disposal/(additions) of principal-protected investment deposits 485 (11,372)

Increase in non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of over three months

 but less than one year when acquired (16,049) (77,787)

Decrease in non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of over one year

 when acquired — 3,500

Dividends received from joint ventures 10,889 8,731

Dividends received from associates — 11

Withholding tax paid on dividends received (523) (56)

Proceeds from disposal of interest in an associate 1,984 —
  

Net cash flows used in investing activities (37,849) (139,832)
  



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2017

SITC International Holdings Company Limited86

Note 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repurchase of shares 30 (3,659) —

Proceeds from issue of shares 30 19,106 1,395

New bank borrowings 143,678 197,351

Repayment of bank borrowings (145,669) (147,987)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 95 160

Dividends paid (88,036) (87,562)

Dividends paid to non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries (1,434) (1,741)
  

Net cash flows used in financing activities (75,919) (38,384)
  

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 134,038 1,972

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 156,975 157,748

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 2,640 (2,745)
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 293,653 156,975
  

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 88,711 44,541

Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity

 of less than three months when acquired 204,942 112,434
  

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of cash flows 293,653 156,975

Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of over

 three months but less than one year when acquired 212,031 195,982
  

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 505,684 352,957
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

 SITC International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and 

shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the 

Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the Company’s 

principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at 21/F, World Trade Centre, 280 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

 During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the provision of 

services and dry bulk and others services.

 In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding company of the Company is Resourceful Link Management 

Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), and the ultimate holding company of the Company is Better Master 

Investments Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI.

 Information about principal subsidiaries

 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value

registration and of registered/ Percentage of equity

Company name operations paid-up capital attributable  to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

SITC Group Company Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$10,000 100 — Investment holding

SITC Shipowning Group BVI/Hong Kong US$1 — 100 Investment holding

 Company Limited

SITC Container Lines Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 — 100 Provision of container marine

 Company Limited  transportation services

SITC Container Lines Japan JPY10,000,000 — 100 Provision of shipping agency

 (Japan) Co., Ltd. #  services for marine 

 transportation services

SITC Container Lines Korea KRW600,000,000 — 80 Provision of shipping agency

 (Korea) Co., Ltd. #  services for marine 

 transportation services

SITC Shipping Agency (HK) Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 — 100 Provision of shipping agency and

 Company Limited  freight forwarding services for

 marine transportation services
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

 Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value

registration and of registered/ Percentage of equity

Company name operations paid-up capital attributable  to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

SITC Container Lines The People’s Republic US$16,000,000 — 100 Provision of shipping agency

 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. * #  of China (the “PRC”)/  services for marine

Mainland China  transportation services

SITC Shipping Agency PRC/ RMB2,000,000 — 49∫ Provision of shipping agency

 (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. ** # Mainland China  and freight forwarding services

 for marine transportation services

SITC Shipping Agency PRC/ RMB2,000,000 — 49 Ω Provision of shipping agency and

 (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. ** # Mainland China  freight forwarding services

 for marine transportation services

SITC Shipping Agency PRC/ RMB2,000,000 — 49@ Provision of shipping agency and

 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. ** # Mainland China  freight forwarding services

 for marine transportation services

SITC Brokers Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Provision of vessel chartering and

 vessel sale and purchase

 brokerage services

SITC Insurance Brokers (HK) Hong Kong HK$300,000 — 100 Provision of shipping insurance

 Company Limited  brokerage services

SITC Logistics (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Investment holding and freight 

 forwarding services for marine

 transportation services

SITC Ocean Shipping

 Company Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Investment holding and freight 

 forwarding services for marine

 transportation services

SITC Logistics Co., Ltd. * # PRC/ RMB134,000,000 — 100 Investment holding and provision of

Mainland China  freight forwarding services

 for marine transportation services
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

 Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value

registration and of registered/ Percentage of equity

Company name operations paid-up capital attributable  to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

New SITC Logistics (Japan) Japan JPY10,000,000 — 100 Provision of freight forwarding

 Co., Ltd. #  services for marine

 transportation services

SITC Logi Korea Co., Ltd. # Korea KRW300,000,000 — 100 Provision of freight forwarding

 services for marine

 transportation services

SITC Logistics Development PRC/ US$1,000,000 — 100 Investment holding

 (Qingdao) Company Limited. * # Mainland China

Qingdao SITC Logistics Park PRC/ RMB121,900,000 — 100 Provision of storage and

 Management Company Limited * # Mainland China  terminal services

Qingdao Smart Cargo Logistics PRC/ US$30,000,000 — 60 Provision of warehouse and

 Company Limited **# Mainland China  depot services

SITC Technologies PRC/ RMB10,000,000 — 100 Investment holding and

 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. * # Mainland China  provision of technologies services

Tailian Container Enterprises Inc. Panama/ US$10,000 — 100 Container holding and

Hong Kong  chartering services

Ken Link Shipping Enterprises Inc. Panama/ US$2 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering services

Hong Kong

Xin Lian Shipping Enterprises Inc. Panama/ US$200 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

Hong Kong  services

Lifeng Shipping Enterprises Inc. Panama/ US$200 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

Hong Kong  services

Jia Lian Shipping Enterprises Inc. Panama/ US$10,000 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

Hong Kong  services
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

 Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value

registration and of registered/ Percentage of equity

Company name operations paid-up capital attributable  to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

SITC Tianjin Shipping Panama/ US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Enterprises Inc. Hong Kong  services

SITC Nagoya Shipping Panama/ US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Enterprises Inc. Hong Kong  services

SITC Xiamen Shipping Panama/ US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Enterprises Inc. Hong Kong  services

SITC Hong Kong Shipping Panama/ US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Enterprises Inc. Hong Kong  services

SITC Kaohsiung Shipping Panama/ US$10,000 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Enterprises Inc. Hong Kong  services

SITC Keelung Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Hakata Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Pyeongtaek Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Taishan Shipping Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Vessel holding and dry-bulk

 Company Limited  chartering services

SITC Inchon Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Hochiminh Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Huangshan Shipping Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Vessel holding and dry-bulk

 Company Limited  chartering services
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

 Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value

registration and of registered/ Percentage of equity

Company name operations paid-up capital attributable  to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

SITC Huashan Shipping Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Vessel holding and dry-bulk

 Company Limited  chartering services

SITC Lushan Shipping Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Vessel holding and dry-bulk

 Company Limited  chartering services

SITC Zhoushan Shipping Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Vessel holding and dry-bulk

 Company Limited  chartering services

SITC Haiphong Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Kwangyang Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Qingdao Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Busan Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Dalian Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Lianyungang Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Fangcheng Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Shenzhen Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Yantai Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

 Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value

registration and of registered/ Percentage of equity

Company name operations paid-up capital attributable  to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

SITC Osaka Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Moji Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Shimizu Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Yokkaichi Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Laem Chabang Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Manila Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Jakarta Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Bangkok Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Hengshan Shipping Hong Kong RMB100 — 100 Vessel holding and dry-bulk

 Company Limited  Chartering services

SITC Shandong Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Zhejiang Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Fujian Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

 Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value

registration and of registered/ Percentage of equity

Company name operations paid-up capital attributable  to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

SITC Guangdong Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Liaoning Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Guangxi Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Macao Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Jiangsu Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Shanghai Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Hebei Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Kawasaki Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Weihai Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Hainan Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Surabaya Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Hanshin Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

 Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value

registration and of registered/ Percentage of equity

Company name operations paid-up capital attributable  to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

SITC Kanto Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

SITC Qinzhou Shipping Hong Kong US$100 — 100 Vessel holding and chartering

 Company Limited  services

Smart Logistics (Thailand) Co. Ltd. Thailand THB25,000,000 — 49^ Provision of depot and warehousing

 services

Ningbo Free Trade Zone Xin Gao PRC/ RMB1,950,000 — 65 Provision of freight forwarding

 Logistics Co. Ltd ** # Mainland China  services

* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

** Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law.

# The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by management of the Company to directly translate their official Chinese, Japanese and 

Korean names as they have not registered any official English names.

∫ The joint venture contract and articles of association of SITC Shipping Agency (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. stipulate that its board of directors should consist of three 

directors, two of which should be appointed by the Group and one director should be appointed by the other joint venture partner. The Group has the power to 

direct the relevant activities that significantly affect the returns of SITC Shipping Agency (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. and thus the Group is able to control SITC Shipping 

Agency (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. Accordingly, this entity is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.

Ω The articles of association of SITC Shipping Agency (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. stipulate that it should have one executive director rather than a board of directors. This 

executive director has been appointed by the Group since its establishment and the other joint venture partner has agreed to continue this arrangement during 

the term of the joint venture. The Group has the power to direct the relevant activities that significantly affect the returns of SITC Shipping Agency (Tianjin) Co., 

Ltd. and thus the Group is able to control SITC Shipping Agency (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. Accordingly, this entity is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.

@ By virtue of an entrustment arrangement entered into between SITC Container Lines Company Limited, a subsidiary indirectly held by the Company, and other 

joint venture partners of SITC Shipping Agency (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., the Group has the power to govern the relevant activities that significantly affect the returns 

of SITC Shipping Agency (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and thus the Group is able to control SITC Shipping Agency (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.. Accordingly, this entity is 

accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.

^ The joint venture contract and articles of association of Smart Logistics (Thailand) Co. Ltd. stipulate that its board of directors should consist of five directors, 

three of which should be appointed by the Group and two directors should be appointed by other joint venture partners. The Group has the power to direct the 

relevant activities that significantly affect the returns of Smart Logistics (Thailand) Co. Ltd. and thus the Group is able to control Smart Logistics (Thailand) Co. Ltd. 

Accordingly, this entity is accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

 Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)

 The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results 

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include 

all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 

derivative financial instruments, principal-protected investment deposits at fair value through profit or loss and certain available-for-sale 

investments, which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in the United States dollars (the “US$”) 

and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 

December 2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is 

achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 

those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities 

of the investee).

 When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

 The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company. The results of subsidiaries are 

consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to shareholders of the Company and to the non-

controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, 

income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

 The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of 

the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted 

for as an equity transaction.

 If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying 

amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value 

of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The 

Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as 

appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

 The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 included in Annual

 Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Clarification

 of the Scope of HKFRS 12

 Other than as explained below regarding the impact of amendments to HKAS 7 and amendments to HKAS 12, the adoption of the above 

revised standards has had no significant financial effect on these financial statements.

(a) Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in 

liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. Disclosure of the 

changes in liabilities arising from financing activities is provided in note 33 to the financial statements.

(b) Amendments to HKAS 12 clarify that an entity, when assessing whether taxable profits will be available against which it can utilise 

a deductible temporary difference, needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits against which it may 

make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how 

an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of 

some assets for more than their carrying amount. The amendments have had no impact on the financial position or performance of 

the Group as the Group has no deductible temporary differences or assets that are in the scope of the amendments.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

 The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial 

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions1

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

 its Associate or Joint Venture3

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3

Amendments to HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 281

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle Amendments to the following standards:

- HKFRS 3 Business Combination2

- HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangement2

- HKAS 12 Income Taxes2

- HKAS 23 Borrowing Cost2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

 Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

(a) The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August 2016 that address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on 

the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based payment transaction 

with net settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation associated with the 

share-based payment; and accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction 

changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the approach used to account for 

vesting conditions when measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The 

amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based payment transaction with net share settlement features for withholding 

a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-based payment 

transaction when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled 

share-based payment transaction are modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, 

the transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the modification. On adoption, entities are 

required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective application is permitted if they elect to adopt 

for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The Group will adopt the amendments from 1 January 2018. The amendments 

are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(b) In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial instruments 

project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification and 

measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group will not restate 

comparative information and will recognise any transition adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018. 

During 2017, the Group has performed a detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected impacts 

relate to the classification and measurement and the impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:

(i) Classification and measurement

 The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the classification and 

measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at fair 

value. Equity investments currently held as available for sale will be measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income as the investments are intended to be held for the foreseeable future and the Group expects to apply the option to 

present fair value changes in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income for 

the equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the investments are derecognised.

(ii) Impairment

 HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through other 

comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not accounted for at 

fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected credit loss model either on a twelve-

month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will apply the simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses that are 

estimated based on the present values of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade and other receivables. 

While historical credit losses are immaterial, the adoption of an expected credit loss model impairment model may result in 

earlier recognition of credit losses from the Group’s trade receivables.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(c) Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 

28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments 

require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint 

venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from 

the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or 

joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 

10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after 

the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for 

adoption now.

(d) HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. 

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in 

exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for 

measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, 

including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability 

account balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition 

requirements under HKFRSs. Either a full retrospective application or a modified retrospective adoption is required on the initial 

application of the standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues 

on identifying performance obligations, application guidance on principal versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and 

transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a more consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and 

decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard. The Group will adopt HKFRS 15 from 1 January 2018 and plans to 

adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening 

balance of retained profits at 1 January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements only to contracts that are 

not completed before 1 January 2018. The Group expects that the transitional adjustment to be made on 1 January 2018 upon 

initial adoption of HKFRS 15 will not be material.

 During 2017, the Group has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 15 and the expected 

impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group are summarised as follows:

 The Group’s principal activities which are in the scope of HKFRS 15 consist of the provision of container shipping services, freight 

forwarding services, shipping agency services, and depot and warehousing services, etc. After assessment, the current accounting 

policy for recognition of container shipping revenue based on the percentage of completion will still be an appropriate method 

under HKFRS 15. In respect of other services, given the short period of time to complete the services, the Group will continue 

to recognise revenue from other services when the services have been rendered upon adoption of HKFRS 15. Accordingly, the 

Group has determined that there will not be any significant impact on the Group’s financial position and financial performance upon 

adoption of HKFRS 15. The Group anticipates that the application of HKFRS 15 may result in more disclosures in the financial 

statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(e) HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 

Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the 

Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 

leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions 

for lessees – leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a 

liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the 

lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class 

of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect 

the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest 

expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure 

the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term and change in future lease payments 

resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the 

remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially 

unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle 

as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more 

extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified 

retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact 

of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose to take advantage of the practical expedients available and 

which transition approach and reliefs will be adopted. As set out in note 34(b), at 31 December 2017, the total future minimum 

lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases amounted to approximately US$170,839,000. Upon adoption of HKFRS 

16, certain amounts included therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further analysis, 

however, will be needed to determine the amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but 

not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value assets and short term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs 

chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of adoption.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(f) HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction when applying HKAS 

21 to the situation where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary 

asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use 

on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-

monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of 

the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the entity must 

determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration. Entities may apply the interpretation on 

a full retrospective basis or on a prospective basis, either from the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies 

the interpretation or the beginning of the prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial statements of 

the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation prospectively 

from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(g) HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the accounting for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments 

involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation 

does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest 

and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers 

uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation 

authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax 

rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either 

fully retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to the 

opening equity at the date of initial application, without the restatement of comparative information. The Group expects to adopt 

the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 Investments in associates and joint ventures

 An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over 

which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 

decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

 A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets 

of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about 

the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

 The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s 

share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

 The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in the 

consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change 

recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its 

associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where 

unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint 

ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

 If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, 

the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the 

associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any 

difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value 

of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

 When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Business combinations and goodwill

 Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control has been accounted for using the merger method of accounting. The acquisition 

method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries not under common control.

 Business combinations under common control

 Under the merger method of accounting, the net assets of the combining entities of business are combined using their existing book 

values from the controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the 

net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of investment at the time of common control 

combination. The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes the results of each of the combining 

entities or businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining entities or businesses first came under 

common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the common control combination.

 Other business combinations

 Under the acquisition method of accounting, the consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the 

sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the 

acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group 

elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 

proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation 

in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the 

separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and 

any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration 

classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration 

that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

 Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for 

non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the 

difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

 Other business combinations (continued)

 After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually 

or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual 

impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, 

from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to 

benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or 

groups of units.

 Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which 

the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying 

amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is 

disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining 

the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative value of the 

operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

 Fair value measurement

 The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and listed equity investments and club debentures included in available-for-

sale investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 

on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset 

or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most 

advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that 

market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using 

the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 

value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Fair value measurement (continued)

 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 

hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable, 

either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have 

occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

 Impairment of non-financial assets

 Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than bunkers and financial 

assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 

value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 

inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined 

for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 

the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises, 

unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant 

accounting policy for that revalued asset.

 An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment 

losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously 

recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 

the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 

depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is 

credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 

impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Related parties

 A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the 

Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the 

entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the Group or to 

the parent of the Group.

 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of property, 

plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and 

is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any 

directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Cost may also include transfers 

from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

 Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, 

is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the 

expenditure for major inspection and dry-docking costs are capitalised in the carrying amounts of the assets as a replacement. Where 

significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual 

assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value 

over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% to 7%

Vessels 4% to 6%

Containers 9% to 20%

Computers, furniture and equipment 10% to 33%

Motor vehicles 12% to 25%

 Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis 

among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and 

adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

 An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no 

future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in 

the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

 Leases

 Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for 

as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum 

lease payments and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets 

held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant and 

equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such 

leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

 Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over their 

estimated useful lives.

 Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases. 

Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals 

receivable under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the 

lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-

line basis over the lease terms.

 Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over 

the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Investments and other financial assets

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-

maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 

hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair values plus transaction costs that are 

attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

 All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to 

purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 

the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

 Subsequent measurement

 The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial 

recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 

of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are 

designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive net changes in 

fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance costs in profit or loss. These 

net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with 

the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

 Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition 

and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

 Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic 

characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading or designated 

as at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit 

or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that 

would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

 Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any 

allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees 

or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains 

in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables in profit or 

loss.

 Held-to-maturity investments

 Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity when the Group 

has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 

discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate 

amortisation is included in other income and gains in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in other expenses in 

profit or loss.

 Available-for-sale investments

 Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities. Equity 

investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair value through 

profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be 

sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

 After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses recognised 

as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time 

the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in other income and gains in profit or loss, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, 

when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to other expenses in profit or 

loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income and dividend 

income, respectively and are recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” 

below.

 When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair 

value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably 

assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

 Available-for-sale investments (continued)

 The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale investments in the near term are still appropriate. When, 

in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these 

financial assets if management has the ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

 For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes 

its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over 

the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity 

amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be 

impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

 Derecognition of financial assets

 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., 

removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

‧ the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

‧ the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 

flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 

and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

 When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it 

evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred 

asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred 

asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 

amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 

assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment 

may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest 

or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that 

there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 

defaults.

 Financial assets carried at amortised cost

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that 

are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective 

evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 

financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed 

for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 

impairment.

 The amount of any impairment identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash 

flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

 The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or 

loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash 

flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off 

when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a 

future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit or loss.

 Assets carried at cost

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value 

because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an 

unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on 

these assets are not reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

 Available-for-sale investments

 For available-for-sale investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that an 

investment or a group of investments is impaired.

 If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and 

amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is removed from other 

comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.

 In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the 

fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the 

period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as 

the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised 

in profit or loss - is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments 

classified as available for sale are not reversed through profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in 

other comprehensive income.

 The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other 

factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

 In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets 

carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between 

the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in profit or loss. Future 

interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset using the rate of interest used to discount 

the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income. 

Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit or loss if the increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively 

related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.

 Financial liabilities

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as 

derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction 

costs.

 The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, amounts due to related companies, derivative financial instruments and 

bank loans.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Financial liabilities (continued)

 Subsequent measurement

 The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial 

recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

 Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category 

includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships 

as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective 

hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised 

in profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

 Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition 

and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

 Loans and borrowings

 After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method 

unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 

loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of 

the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

 When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing 

liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition 

of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

 Offsetting of financial instruments

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, there is a currently 

enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle 

the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

 Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

 The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign currency 

risk and interest rate risk, respectively. These derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a 

derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is 

positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

 Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss, except for the effective portion of 

cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects 

profit or loss.

 For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

• fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm 

commitment; or

• cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated 

with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm 

commitment; or

• hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

 At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group wishes 

to apply hedge accounting, the risk management objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes 

identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group will 

assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes in 

the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving 

offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly 

effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

 Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

 Fair value hedges

 The change in the fair value of hedging derivative is recognised in profit or loss as other expenses and losses. The change in the fair value 

of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the carrying amount of the hedged item and is also recognised 

in profit or loss as other expenses and losses.

 For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through profit or loss over 

the remaining term of the hedge using the effective interest rate method. Effective interest rate amortisation may begin as soon as an 

adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the 

risk being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

 Fair value hedges (continued)

 When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair value of the firm 

commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or 

loss. The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are also recognised in profit or loss.

 Cash flow hedges

 The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive income in the hedging 

reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, 

such as when hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the hedged item is the 

cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to the initial 

carrying amount of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

 Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive 

income are transferred to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects profit or 

loss.

 If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover (as a part of the hedging strategy), 

or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the amounts previously 

recognised in other comprehensive income remain in other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction occurs or the foreign 

currency firm commitment is met.

 Hedges of a net investment

 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net 

investment, are accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective 

portion of the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are 

recognised in profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recorded in equity is 

transferred to profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

 Current versus non-current classification

 Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current or separated into 

current and non-current portions based on an assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

• Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period beyond 

12 months after the end of the reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-current (or separated into current and non-

current portions) consistently with the classification of the underlying item.

• Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host contract are classified consistently with the cash flows of the host 

contract.

• Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently with the 

classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative instruments are separated into current portions and non-current portions 

only if a reliable allocation can be made.

 Shares held under share award schemes

 Own equity instruments which are reacquired from the market and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) under the share 

award scheme of the Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on 

the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

 Upon vesting, the related costs of the vested awarded shares purchased from the market and shares acquired from reinvesting dividends 

received on the awarded shares are credited to the shares held under share award scheme account, with a corresponding decrease in 

share-based compensation reserve for awarded shares.

 For vesting of forfeited or unallocated shares regranted, the related costs of the forfeited or unallocated shares regranted are credited 

to the shares held under share award scheme account, and the related fair value of the shares regranted are debited to share-based 

compensation reserve. The difference between the cost and the fair value of the shares regranted is credited to share premium account if 

the fair value is higher than the cost or debited against retained profits if the fair value is less than the cost.

 Bunkers

 Bunkers represent fuels and are stated at the lower of the cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average 

basis.

 Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, 

and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Provisions

 A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a 

future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation.

 When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of 

the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from 

the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

 A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher 

of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the general guidance for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially 

recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

 Income tax

 Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 

or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

 Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based 

on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration 

interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

 Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when the 

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Income tax (continued)

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax 

losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 

in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 

taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred 

tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 

and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax 

losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax 

assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient 

taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the 

liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax 

liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Government grants

 Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching 

conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the 

periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

 Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the 

expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to 

profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

 Where the Group receives grants of assets, the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets and released to profit or 

loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.

 Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a qualifying 

asset, the initial carrying amount of the government loans is determined using the effective interest rate method, as further explained in 

the accounting policy for “Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of 

interest, which is the difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant 

and released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured 

reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the rendering of container shipping services, on a percentage of completion basis, which is determined using the time 

proportion method for each individual voyage;

(b) from the rendering of shipping agency services, freight forwarding services and depot and warehousing services, when the services 

have been rendered;

(c) time charter income and rental income, on a time proportion basis over the hire period or the lease term;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated 

future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying 

amount of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Share-based payments

 Share option schemes

 The Company operates two share option schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who 

contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of 

share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

 The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. 

The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note 31 to the financial 

statements.

 The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 

performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each 

reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the 

number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the 

cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

 For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is 

recognised, where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the 

market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

 Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, 

if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of 

the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

 Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised 

for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or 

the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on 

the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in 

the previous paragraph.

 The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Share-based payments (continued)

 Share award scheme

 The Group operates a share award scheme for the purpose of (i) recognising and motivating the contributions by certain eligible 

participants and giving incentives thereto in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group; (ii) attracting 

suitable personnel for further development of the Group and (iii) providing certain eligible participants with a direct economic interest in 

attaining a long- term relationship between the Group and certain eligible participants.

 The amount to be expensed as share-based compensation expenses is determined by reference to the fair value of the awarded shares 

granted, taking into account all non-vesting conditions associated with the grants. The total expense is recognised over the relevant 

vesting periods (or on the grant date if the shares vest immediately), with a corresponding credit to the share-based compensation reserve 

under equity.

 For those awarded shares which are amortised over the vesting periods, the Group revises its estimates of the number of awarded shares 

that are expected to ultimately vest based on the vesting conditions at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting adjustment to the 

cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is recognised in profit or loss in the current year, with a corresponding adjustment to the 

share-based compensation reserve.

 Retirement benefit schemes

 The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the 

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are 

made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance 

with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently 

administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

 The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension scheme 

operated by local municipal governments. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to 

the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the 

central pension scheme.

 Certain subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and Mainland China are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to 

pension schemes operated by the respective governments. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the pension schemes is 

to pay the required ongoing contributions. Contributions under the schemes are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in 

accordance with the rules of the pension schemes.

 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a 

substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation 

of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on 

the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs 

capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 

costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 Dividends

 Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the 

directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are 

proposed and declared.

 Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final 

dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

 Foreign currencies

 These financial statements are presented in the US dollars, which is the Group’s presentation currency. The functional currency of the 

Company is the Hong Kong dollar while the US dollar is used as the presentation currency of the financial statements of the Company 

for the purpose of aligning with the presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency 

and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions 

recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange 

ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

 Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items 

that are designed as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive 

income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and 

credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 

dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is 

treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair 

value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or 

profit or loss, respectively).

 The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are currencies other than the US dollar. As at the end of 

the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into US dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of 

the reporting period and their profit or loss is translated into US dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting 

exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal 

of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or 

loss.

 Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of subsidiaries are translated into US dollars at the exchange 

rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are 

translated into US dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

 Foreign currencies (continued)

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires the management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent 

liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

 The key judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

 Impairment of goodwill

 The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the 

cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the 

expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 

value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2017 was US$1,088,000 (2016: US$1,019,000). Further 

details are given in note 16.

 Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

 The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. 

Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial 

assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists 

when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less 

costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales 

transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. 

When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-

generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

 Impairment of trade receivables

 The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss arising from the inability of its customers to make the required payments. The 

Group makes its estimates based on the ageing of its trade receivable balances, customers’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off 

experience. If the financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss might be higher than expected, 

the Group would be required to revise the basis of making the allowance and its future results would be affected. The carrying amount of 

trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 was US$64,065,000 (2016: US$59,379,000).

 Fair value of derivative instruments

 The fair value of derivative financial instruments is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate these 

derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period, taking into account current market conditions. The carrying amount of derivative 

financial assets at 31 December 2017 was US$1,311,000 (2016: US$1,084,000). The carrying amount of derivative financial liabilities at 

31 December 2017 was US$709,000 (2016: US$1,000).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

 Hedge accounting

 At 31 December 2017, certain bank borrowings of the Group denominated in Japanese Yen (“JPY”) with a then total carrying amount 

of US$176,884,000 were designated as hedging instruments to manage the Group’s foreign currency risk in relation to forecast sales 

denominated in JPY (i.e., the hedged items). These bank loan balances vary with the levels of expected JPY denominated sales and 

changes in JPY-US$ forward rate. The cash flow hedges relating to the expected future sales transactions denominated in JPY were 

assessed by the Group to be highly effective and hence the Group applies hedge accounting for this cash flow hedge relationship.

 The cash flow hedge accounting is dependent on the effectiveness of the hedge relationship, as such, this inherent complexity of hedge 

accounting involved a significant degree of management judgement and was considered significant to our audit. Further details are given 

in note 28(a).

 Recognition of a deferred tax liability for withholding taxes

 The New Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), which became effective on 1 January 2008, states 

that the distribution of dividends by a foreign invested enterprise established in Mainland China to its foreign investors, from its earnings 

in 2008 and thereafter, shall be subject to withholding corporate income tax at a rate of 5%. The Group carefully evaluates the necessity 

of dividend distribution of its PRC subsidiaries out of profits earned after 1 January 2008 based on the senior management’s judgement. 

Further details are given in note 29(c).

 Deferred tax assets

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can 

be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The Group did 

not recognise any deferred tax assets as at 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

 Income taxes

 Significant management judgements on the future tax treatment of certain transactions are required in determining income tax provisions. 

The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such 

transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislation.



ANNUAL REPORT 2017   125

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

 Change in reportable segments

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker 

(“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 

identified as the executive directors of the Company who make key operating decisions.

 CODM reviews operating activities on a number of bases, including by types of freight transportation methods, types of revenue 

generating assets and so on. In prior years, management considered the reportable segments to be the types of freight transportation 

methods, namely sea based and land based, over time the focus of internal management reporting provided to the CODM has moved 

towards by types of revenue generating assets. The shift in the focus of internal reporting was further augmented in recent years to include 

financial information and metrics on the consumption of, and returns on, capital by types of core revenue generating assets in using the 

Group’s resources. As a result, the two reporting segments (i.e., defined by types of revenue generating assets), namely (i) container 

shipping and logistics assets; and (ii) dry bulk and other services related assets, are now the most prominent view used by CODM to 

allocate resources and assess performance. Consequently, management believes that the change in reportable segments would give out 

a more reliable and objective presentation of the segment information. Accordingly, the presentation of segment information for the year 

ended 31 December 2016 has been restated to reflect this change of segment composition.

 Basis of segment information

 The Group restated its business segments from “sea freight logistics” and “land-based logistics” into two new reportable operating 

segments as follows:

(a) the container shipping and logistics segment is engaged in the provision of integrated logistics services such as container transport, 

freight forwarding, shipping agency, depot and warehousing, etc; and

(b) the dry bulk and others segment is engaged in the provision of dry bulk vessel leasing, air-freight forwarding and land leasing.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources 

allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of 

adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that bank and 

other interest income, investment income, dividend income, finance costs and gains on disposal of available-for-sale investments are 

excluded from such measurement.

 Segment assets exclude cash and bank balances, derivative financial instruments and other unallocated corporate assets as these assets 

are managed on a group basis.

 Segment liabilities exclude bank borrowings, derivative financial instruments, income tax payables and other unallocated corporate 

liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017

Container

shipping Dry bulk 

and logistics and others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to external customers 1,331,832 16,553 1,348,385
   

Segment results 195,915 1,235 197,150
  

Reconciliation:

Bank interest income 8,376

Interest income of

 listed available-for-sale debt investments 741

Investment income of principal-protected investments 135

Dividend income from

 available-for-sale equity investments 91

Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale investment 166

Finance costs (8,640)
 

Profit before tax 198,019
 

At 31 December 2017

Segment assets 885,692 154,202 1,039,894
  

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated assets 568,469
 

Total assets 1,608,363
 

Segment liabilities 170,680 4,553 175,233
  

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 461,692
 

Total liabilities 636,925
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)

Container

shipping Dry bulk 

and logistics and others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Other segment information:

Share of profits and losses of:

 Joint ventures 10,786 307 11,093

 Associates 481 — 481

Depreciation 49,326 6,762 56,088

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments — 463 463

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, net 3,687 — 3,687

Impairment of trade receivables, net 41 304 345

Investments in joint ventures 31,602 1,141 32,743

Investments in associates 9,800 — 9,800

Capital expenditure* 30,626 809 31,435
   

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and advance payments of vessels.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

 Year ended 31 December 2016

Container

 shipping Dry bulk

and logistics and others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Segment revenue:

Sales to external customers 1,199,418 16,373 1,215,791
   

Segment results 138,187 (5,384) 132,803
  

Reconciliation:

Bank interest income 3,543

Interest income of 

 listed available-for-sale debt investments 477

 held-to-maturity investments 483

Investment income of principal-protected investments 137

Dividend income from available-for-sale equity investments 101

Finance costs (6,872)
 

Profit before tax 130,672
 

At 31 December 2016

Segment assets 888,410 159,540 1,047,950
  

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated assets 407,688
 

Total assets 1,455,638
 

Segment liabilities 149,594 1,948 151,542
  

Reconciliation:

Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 416,856
 

Total liabilities 568,398
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

 Year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

Container

 shipping Dry bulk

and logistics and others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Other segment information:

Share of profits and losses of:

 Joint ventures 11,183 321 11,504

 Associates 442 — 442

Depreciation 46,691 7,015 53,706

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments — 471 471

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, net 38 — 38

Impairment of items of property, plant and equipment — 6,600 6,600

Reversal of impairment of trade receivables, net — 91 91

Investments in joint ventures 30,435 833 31,268

Investments in associates 10,610 — 10,610

Capital expenditure* 64,684 — 64,684
   

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment.

 Geographical information

 The Group’s non-current assets are primarily dominated by its vessels. The directors of the Company consider that the nature of the 

Group’s business and the way in which costs are allocated preclude a meaningful allocation of vessels, their operating profits and 

related capital expenditure to specific geographical segments as defined under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments issued by the HKICPA. 

These vessels are primarily utilised across the geographical markets for shipment of cargoes throughout Asia. Accordingly, geographical 

segment information is only presented for revenue.

 The following revenue information by geographical area is based on the locations of customers:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Greater China* 559,425 578,877

Japan 346,523 300,558

Southeast Asia 375,150 275,935

Others 67,287 60,421
  

1,348,385 1,215,791
  

* Greater China includes Mainland China, Hong Kong and Taiwan.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

 Major customer information disclosure

 During the year, there was no single customer which contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue (2016: Nil).

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
 Revenue represents the net value of services rendered, and net chartering income received and receivables from dry bulk vessels during 

the year.

 An analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net is as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue

Rendering of services 1,333,141 1,201,063

Net chartering income from dry bulk vessels 15,244 14,728
  

1,348,385 1,215,791
  

Other income

Bank interest income 8,376 3,543

Interest income of held-to-maturity investments — 483

Investment income of principal-protected investments 135 137

Interest income of listed available-for-sale debt investments 741 477

Dividend income from available-for-sale equity investments 91 101

Government subsidies* 747 3,177

Others 87 69
  

10,177 7,987
  

Gains, net

Fair value gain of derivative instruments not qualifying as hedges, net 3,906 754

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, net 3,687 38

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary — 18

Gain on disposal of an associate 40 —

Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale investment 166 —

Foreign exchange differences, net 682 —
  

8,481 810
  

Other income and gains, net 18,658 8,797
  

* The amount represented subsidies received from certain governmental authorities in Mainland China for the Group’s operations of 

marine transportation and logistics businesses. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

6. FINANCE COSTS
 Finance costs are interest on bank loans.
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

 The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Notes 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Cost of services provided:

 Cost of bunkers consumed 150,559 102,841

 Others 946,120 913,415
  

1,096,679 1,016,256
  

Depreciation 13 56,088 53,706

Less: Included in cost of services provided (52,282) (49,001)
  

3,806 4,705
  

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 14 463 471

Auditor’s remuneration 395 388

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 121,491 169,910

Less: Included in cost of services provided (116,230) (120,175)
  

5,261 49,735
  

Foreign exchange differences, net (682) 4,842

Employee benefit expense (including directors’ and 

 the chief executive officer’s remuneration (note 8)):

 Wages and salaries 78,117 67,909

 Equity-settled share option expense 31 104 769

 Share award expenses 31 31 —

 Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution scheme) 8,419 8,239
  

86,671 76,917

Less: Included in cost of services provided (41,284) (38,035)
  

45,387 38,882
  

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net* 21(c) 345 (91)

Impairment of items of property, plant and equipment* 13 — 6,600

Impairment of available-for-sale investments stated at cost* — 680

Fair value losses on cash flow hedge (transfer from equity), net* 561 1,838
  

* These items are included in “Other expenses, net” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REMUNERATION

 Directors’ and the chief executive officer’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 

on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1) (a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and 

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Fees 286 294
  

Other emoluments:

 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,846 1,681

 Performance-related bonuses 1,475 1,241

 Equity-settled share option expenses 32 320

 Share award expense 5 —

 Pension scheme contributions 70 65
  

3,428 3,307
  

3,714 3,601
  

 Certain directors were granted share awards in the current year and share options in prior year, in respect of their services to the Group, 

under the share award scheme and the share option schemes of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 31 to the 

financial statements. The fair value of these share award and options, which have been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, 

was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current year is included in the above 

directors’ and the chief executive officer’s remuneration disclosures.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

Equity-settled

share option Share award Total

Fees expenses expenses remuneration

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2017

Mr. Tsui Yung Kwok 32 — — 32

Mr. Yeung Kwok On 32 — — 32

Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William, J.P. 32 6 1 39

Dr. Ngai Wai Fung 22 — — 22
    

118 6 1 125
    

2016

Mr. Tsui Yung Kwok 31 23 — 54

Mr. Yeung Kwok On 31 23 — 54

Dr. Lo Wing Yan, William, J.P. 31 23 — 54

Dr. Ngai Wai Fung 33 23 — 56
    

126 92 — 218
    

 There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2016: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive officer:

Equity

Salaries, settled

allowances Performance- share Share Pension

and benefits related option award scheme Total

Fees in kind bonuses expenses expenses contributions remuneration

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2017

 Mr. Yang Shaopeng 28 721 491 — — 5 1,245

 Mr. Yang Xianxiang* 28 540 361 — 1 13 943

 Mr. Liu Kecheng 28 136 134 — 1 13 312

 Mr. Xue Peng 28 132 119 6 1 13 299

 Mr. Xue Mingyuan 28 183 225 10 1 13 460

 Mr. Lai Zhiyong 28 134 145 10 — 13 330
       

168 1,846 1,475 26 4 70 3,589
       

2016

 Mr. Yang Shaopeng 28 626 420 57 — 5 1,136

 Mr. Yang Xianxiang* 28 502 308 57 — 12 907

 Mr. Liu Kecheng 28 131 117 23 — 12 311

 Mr. Xue Peng 28 127 93 23 — 12 283

 Mr. Xue Mingyuan 28 170 174 34 — 12 418

 Mr. Lai Zhiyong 28 125 129 34 — 12 328
       

168 1,681 1,241 228 — 65 3,383
       

* Mr. Yang Xianxiang is also the chief executive officer of the Company.

 There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the 

year (2016: Nil).
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

 The five highest paid employees during the year are five executive directors’ including the chief executive officer (2016: five executive 

directors including the chief executive officer), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.

10. INCOME TAX

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Current:

 Hong Kong 576 164

 Mainland China 1,635 1,722

 Elsewhere 5,888 4,550

 Overprovision in prior years – Mainland China (4) —

 Overprovision in prior years – Hong Kong (188) (2)
  

Total tax expense for the year 7,907 6,434
  

 Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong 

during the year. Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China and elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the 

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2017

SITC International Holdings Company Limited136

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

 A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates of the jurisdictions in which the Company and the 

majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the 

statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

 2017

Mainland China Hong Kong Elsewhere Total

US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000 %

Profit before tax 12,701 123,869 61,449 198,019
        

Tax expense at the statutory rate 3,175 25.0 20,438 16.5 5,758 9.4 29,371 14.8

Lower tax rate(s) for specific provinces

 or enacted by local authority (50) (0.4) — — (7) — (57) (0.3)

Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the distributable profits

 of the Group’s PRC joint ventures 472 3.7 — — 51 0.1 523 0.3

Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods (4) — (188) (0.2) — — (192) (0.1)

Profits and losses attributable to joint ventures and associates (2,294) (18.1) (51) — (347) (0.6) (2,692) (1.4)

Income not subject to tax (434) (3.4) (33,901) (27.4) (19,089) (31.1) (53,424) (27.0)

Expenses not deductible for tax 859 6.8 13,964 11.3 19,522 31.8 34,345 17.3

Tax losses utilised from previous periods (103) (0.8) — — — — (103) (0.1)

Tax losses not recognised 10 0.1 126 0.1 — — 136 0.1
        

Tax expense at the Group’s effective rate 1,631 12.8 388 0.3 5,888 9.6 7,907 4.0
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

 2016

Mainland China Hong Kong Elsewhere Total

US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000 %

Profit before tax 15,222 29,048 86,402 130,672
        

Tax expense at the statutory rate 3,805 25.0 4,793 16.5 8,035 9.3 16,633 12.7

Lower tax rate(s) for specific provinces

 or enacted by local authority (33) (0.2) — — (924) (1.1) (957) (0.7)

Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the distributable profits

 of the Group’s PRC joint ventures 448 2.9 — — — — 448 0.3

Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods — — (2) — — — (2) —

Profits and losses attributable to joint ventures and associates (2,394) (15.7) (53) (0.2) (329) (0.4) (2,776) (2.1)

Income not subject to tax (1,012) (6.6) (19,693) (67.8) (7,981) (9.2) (28,686) (22.0)

Expenses not deductible for tax 1,121 7.4 15,119 52.0 5,749 6.7 21,989 16.8

Tax losses utilised from previous periods (91) (0.6) (2) — — — (93) (0.1)

Temporary differences not recognised (122) (0.8) — — — — (122) (0.1)
        

Tax expense at the Group’s effective rate 1,722 11.4 162 0.5 4,550 5.3 6,434 4.8
        

 The share of tax expense attributable to joint ventures and associates amounting to US$3,106,000 (2016: US$3,413,000) and 

US$16,000 (2016: tax credit of US$55,000), respectively, is included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and associates” in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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11. DIVIDENDS

2017 2016

HK$’000 US$’000 HK$’000 US$’000

equivalent equivalent

(Restated)

Interim – HK10 cents 

 (equivalent to approximately US1.28 cents)

 (2016: Nil))

 per ordinary share 265,024 33,865 — —

Special – HK10 cents

 (equivalent to approximately US1.28 cents)

 (2016: HK10 cents 

 (equivalent to approximately US1.29 cents))

 per ordinary share 265,509 33,964 261,327 33,644

Proposed final – HK20 cents

 (equivalent to approximately US2.56 cents)

 (2016: HK16 cents 

 (equivalent to approximately US2.06 cents))

 per ordinary share 530,737 67,894 421,470 54,171*
    

1,061,270 135,813 682,797 87,815
    

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting

* Subsequent to the approval of the consolidated financial statements for the year end 31 December 2016 and prior to the date of closure of the register of 

members for entitlement to 2016 final dividend, additional 19,418,000 ordinary shares were issued by the Company as a result of share options. Accordingly, an 

additional 2016 final dividend amounting HK$3,107,000 (equivalent to approximately US$307,000), was paid in 2017, resulting in difference between the amount 

of 2016 final dividend disclosed above and the amount that disclosed in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company, and the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2,637,050,537 (2016: 2,612,746,388) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share is based on (i) the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company; and (ii) 

the total of the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, 

and the weighted average of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all outstanding 

share options into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Earnings

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company,

 used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculation 188,613 122,790
  

Number of shares

2017 2016

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during

 the year, used in the basic earnings per share calculation 2,637,050,537 2,612,746,388

Effect of dilution of share options – weighted average number of ordinary shares 13,605,159 5,759,299
  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, 

 used in the diluted earnings per share calculation 2,650,655,696 2,618,505,687
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Computers,

furniture and Motor

Buildings Vessels Containers equipment vehicles Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

(notes (a), (note (b))

(b) and (c))

31 December 2017

At 1 January 2017:

 Cost 41,505 1,009,659 84,048 29,495 3,738 1,168,445

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,956) (192,190) (23,472) (17,794) (2,284) (242,696)
      

 Net carrying amount 34,549 817,469 60,576 11,701 1,454 925,749
      

Net carrying amount:

 At 1 January 2017 34,549 817,469 60,576 11,701 1,454 925,749

 Additions 432 17,016 — 2,051 257 19,756

 Depreciation provided during the year (1,744) (46,589) (4,077) (3,244) (434) (56,088)

 Disposals/write-off — — (623) (1) (12) (636)

 Exchange realignment 2,277 — — 629 100 3,006
      

 At 31 December 2017 35,514 787,896 55,876 11,136 1,365 891,787
      

At 31 December 2017:

 Cost 44,751 1,033,277 78,236 32,971 3,997 1,193,232

 Accumulated depreciation (9,237) (245,381) (22,360) (21,835) (2,632) (301,445)
      

 Net carrying amount 35,514 787,896 55,876 11,136 1,365 891,787
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Computers,

furniture and Motor

Buildings Vessels Containers equipment vehicles Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

(notes (a), (note (b))

(b) and (c))

31 December 2016

At 1 January 2016:

 Cost 43,308 944,514 84,895 28,693 4,005 1,105,415

 Accumulated depreciation (5,532) (147,413) (19,693) (15,952) (2,282) (190,872)
      

 Net carrying amount 37,776 797,101 65,202 12,741 1,723 914,543
      

Net carrying amount:

 At 1 January 2016 37,776 797,101 65,202 12,741 1,723 914,543

 Additions 1,068 71,604 — 2,838 355 75,865

 Depreciation provided during the year (1,715) (44,248) (4,120) (3,087) (536) (53,706)

 Impairment provided during the year — (6,600) — — — (6,600)

 Disposals/write-off (144) (387) (498) (218) (24) (1,271)

 Exchange realignment (2,436) (1) (8) (573) (64) (3,082)
      

At 31 December 2016 34,549 817,469 60,576 11,701 1,454 925,749
      

At 31 December 2016:

 Cost 41,505 1,009,659 84,048 29,495 3,738 1,168,445

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,956) (192,190) (23,472) (17,794) (2,284) (242,696)
      

 Net carrying amount 34,549 817,469 60,576 11,701 1,454 925,749
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2016, an impairment loss of US$6,600,000 was recognised against dry-bulk vessels due to decrease in charter hire rates of 

dry-bulk vessels in the market generally. After an impairment assessment made by the Group during the year, no further impairment loss on the dry bulk vessels 

was considered necessary by the directors of the Company during the year.

(b) At 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s vessels and containers with aggregate net carrying amounts of approximately US$551,010,000 (2016: 

US$592,467,000) and US$54,721,000 (2016: US$57,864,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group (note 28(b)).

(c) Included in the balance as at 31 December 2017 was a vessel of the Group with a then net carrying amount of approximately US$5,970,000 (2016: 

US$6,276,000) leased by the Group from its legal owner, which is a company controlled by Ms. Liu Rongli, the spouse of Mr.Yang Shaopeng (the “Controlling 

Shareholder”, the controlling shareholder of the Company and a connected person under the Listing Rules and a related person), for use over the remaining 

useful life of 10 years of the vessel pursuant to a bareboat charter agreement (the “Bareboat Charter Agreement”) entered into between the Group and the legal 

owner in 2016. The lease was accounted for as a finance lease and the Group settled the total lease payments under the Bareboat Charter Agreement in full 

during the prior year.

14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 18,392 20,167

Amortisation provided during the year (463) (471)

Exchange realignment 1,222 (1,304)
  

Carrying amount at 31 December 19,151 18,392

Current portion included in prepayments,

 deposits and other receivables (note 22) (495) (464)
  

Non-current portion 18,656 17,928
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15. ADVANCE PAYMENTS FOR ACQUISTION OF VESSELS AND TRADEMARKS

Notes 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Advance payments for acquisition of:

 Vessels (a) 12,113 —

 Trademarks (b) 1,059 1,057
  

13,172 1,057
  

(a) The balance represented the advance payments for the construction of container vessels. Further details in relation to the capital commitments resulting from the 

construction contracts of container vessels were set out in note 35.

(b) The balance represented the advance payments for acquisition of trademarks which was acquired from a company controlled by the Controlling Shareholder.

16. GOODWILL

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Cost and net carrying amount at 1 January 1,019 1,091

Exchange realignment 69 (72)
  

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 1,088 1,019
  

 Impairment testing of goodwill

 Goodwill of the Group arose from the acquisition of Tianjin Xin Hua Xi Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Xin Hua Xi”) in 2014. Tianjin Xin Hua Xi 

is engaged in the business of depot services and is considered a cash-generating unit that can generate independent cash flows. The 

goodwill so arising was allocated to the Tianjin Xin Hua Xi cash-generating unit for impairment testing.

 The recoverable amount of the Tianjin Xin Hua Xi cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using 

pre-tax cash flow projections of financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied 

to the cash flow projections is 13% (2016: 13%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the business beyond the five-

year period is 2% (2016: 2%). This growth rate represents the average growth rate of the industry in which the business operates. Senior 

management of the Tianjin Xin Hua Xi cash-generating unit believes that this growth rate is justified, given the expansion of the business of 

depot services by the Group in Mainland China during the year.
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16. GOODWILL (continued)

 Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

 Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the Tianjin Xin Hua Xi cash-generating unit. The following describes each key 

assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margin – The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin 

achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements, and 

expected market development.

Discount rate – The discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific risks relating to the cash-generating unit.

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Share of net assets 32,743 31,268
  

Notes:

(a) The Group’s trade receivable balances and trade payable balances with joint ventures are disclosed in notes 21(d) and 26(b) to the financial statements, 

respectively. Other balances with joint ventures are disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

(b) Particulars of the Group’s principal joint ventures, which are all indirectly held by the Company, are as follows:

Place of

registration Percentage of 

Registered and operations Ownership Voting Profit Principal

Company name capital and business interest power sharing activities

Smart International RMB25,000,000 PRC/ 51% 50% 51% Provision of storage

 Logistics Co., Ltd# Mainland China  and terminal services

Singamas Logistics RMB47,455,820 PRC/ 40% 40% 40% Provision of storage

 (Qingdao) Co., Ltd.# Mainland China  and terminal services

SITC-Dinhvu Logistics Co., Ltd. US$12,000,000 Vietnam 49% 50% 49% Provision of depot and

 warehousing services

# The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by management of the Company to directly translate their official Chinese names 

as they have not registered any official English names.

 The above table lists the joint ventures of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial 

portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c) In the opinion of the directors, all joint ventures of the Group are not individually material and the following table illustrates their financial information in aggregate:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year 11,093 11,504

Share of the joint ventures’ other comprehensive income/(loss) 1,452 (1,673)

Share of the joint ventures’ total comprehensive income 12,545 9,831

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments in joint ventures 32,743 31,268

  

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Share of net assets 9,800 10,610
  

Notes:

(a) The Group’s trade receivable balances and trade payable balances with associates are disclosed in notes 21(d) and 26(b) to the financial statements, respectively.

(b) Particulars of the associates, which are all indirectly held by the Company, are as follows:

Percentage of

ownership

Registered/ Place of interest

paid-up/issued registration attributable Principal

Company name capital and operations to the Group activities

SITC Container Lines 20,000 ordinary shares Philippines 40% Provision of

 Philippines, Inc. of PHP100 each  shipping agency and

 freight forwarding services

APL-SITC Terminal 10 ordinary shares Singapore 20% Investment holding

 Holdings Pte. Ltd. of US$1 each
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
Notes: (continued)

(c) In the opinion of the directors, all associates of the Group are not individually material and the following table illustrates their financial information in aggregate:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Share of the associates’ profit for the year 481 442

Share of the associates’ other comprehensive income/(loss) 652 (732)

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive income/(loss) 1,133 (290)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments in associates 9,800 10,610

  

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Listed equity investments, at fair value 3,553 2,522

Listed debt investments, at fair value 22,697 13,665

Unlisted club debentures, at fair value 558 558

Unlisted equity investments, at cost — 680
  

26,808 17,425

Impairment of unlisted equity investments — (680)
  

26,808 16,745
  

 During the year, the gross gain recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of the Group’s available-for-sale investments stated 

at fair value amounted to US$1,326,000 (2016: US$325,000).

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s unlisted equity investments were stated at cost less impairment because the range of 

reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.
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20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2017 2016

Notes Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Forward currency contracts (b) 1,071 709 859 —

Interest rate swaps (c) 240 — 225 1
    

1,311 709 1,084 1

Portion classified as non-current: Interest rate swaps (175) — (179) —
    

Current portion 1,136 709 905 1
    

Notes:

(a) Derivative financial instruments of the Group were conducted with creditworthy banks.

(b) The Group has entered into various forward currency contracts to manage its exchange rate exposures. These forward currency contracts are not designated for 

hedge purposes and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A net gain in fair value changes in non-hedging forward currency contracts amounting to 

US$3,889,000 (2016: US$638,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year.

(c) The Group has entered into various interest rate swap contracts to manage its interest rate exposures. These interest rate swap contracts are not designated 

for hedge purposes and are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A net gain on fair value changes in interest rate swaps amounting to US$17,000 (2016: 

US$116,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables 64,414 59,400

Impairment (note (c)) (349) (21)
  

64,065 59,379
  

Notes:

(a) The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The credit period 

is generally 15 days, extending up to three months for major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control 

over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s 

trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or 

other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

(b) An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Within 1 month 55,630 49,956

1 to 2 months 6,248 6,139

2 to 3 months 1,273 1,240

Over 3 months 914 2,044
  

64,065 59,379

  

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 63,151 57,335

Less than one month past due 914 2,044
  

64,065 59,379
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c) The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 21 145

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) recognised, net (note 7) 345 (91)

Amount written off as uncollectible (17) (33)
  

At 31 December 349 21

  

 Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables are provisions for individually impaired trade receivables of US$349,000 (2016: US$21,000) 

with a total carrying amount before provision of US$349,000 (2016: US$21,000).

 The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were in financial difficulties or were in default in principal payments and the full amount of the 

receivables was not expected to be recovered.

 Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

 Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. Based on past 

experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a 

significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

(d) Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 are amounts of US$6,971,000 (2016: US$9,030,000), US$6,000 (2016: US$118,000) and 

US$258,000 (2016: Nil) due from joint ventures, associates and companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder, respectively, which are repayable on credit 

terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the Group.

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Prepayments 2,813 4,106

Deposits and other receivables 10,205 8,040

Prepaid land lease payments – current portion (note 14) 495 464
  

13,513 12,610
  

 None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for 

which there was no recent history of default.
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23. BALANCE WITH RELATED COMPANIES

 An analysis of the balances with related companies is as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Due from related companies

Companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder:

 SITC Maritime Group Company (note 15(b)) 1,059 1,057

 SITC Shipping Agency (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. — 88

 Lifeng Shipping Enterprises Inc. — 17

Joint ventures 1,126 6
  

2,185 1,168

Advance payment – non-current portion (note 15(b)) (1,059) (1,057)
  

Current portion 1,126 111
  

Due to related companies

Company controlled by the Controlling Shareholder:

 SITC Investment Company Limited — 29

Joint venture 164 —
  

164 29
  

Notes:

(a) The maximum outstanding amounts due from companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder during the year was US$1,059,000 (2016: US$1,199,000).

(b) The balances with related companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(c) None of the amounts due from related companies is either past due or impaired.

24. PRINCIPAL-PROTECTED INVESTMENT DEPOSITS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

 These investments were made with creditworthy banks in the PRC.
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25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Cash and bank balances other than time deposits 88,711 44,541

Time deposits 416,973 308,416
  

Total cash and bank balances 505,684 352,957
  

Notes:

(a) At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to US$83,142,000 (2016: US$25,029,000). The 

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, 

Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign 

exchange business.

(b) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods ranging between three 

days and 11 months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank 

balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

26. TRADE PAYABLES

(a) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Within 1 month 101,644 97,895

1 to 2 months 18,949 14,489

2 to 3 months 2,288 2,418

Over 3 months 8,931 3,476
  

131,812 118,278
  

(b) Included in the Group’s trade payables as at 31 December 2017 are amounts of Nil (2016: US$1,459,000), US$7,131,000 (2016: 

US$4,466,000) and US$990,000 (2016: US$199,000) due to companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder, joint ventures 

and associates, respectively, which are repayable within 30 days.

(c) The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms ranging from 15 to 45 days.
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Other payables 30,779 23,466

Accruals 22,776 16,047
  

53,555 39,513
  

 Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average credit term of three months.

28. BANK BORROWINGS

2017 2016

Effective Effective

interest rate (%) Maturity US$’000 interest rate (%) Maturity US$’000

Current

Bank loans - secured LIBOR+0.80 - LIBOR+1.10 2018 62,828 LIBOR+0.90 2017 9,783
  

Current portion of long term LIBOR+0.80 - LIBOR+2.70 2018 52,995 LIBOR+0.80 - LIBOR+2.70 2017 52,345

 bank loans – secured 2.39 2018 792 2.39 2017 792

2.49 2018 792 2.49 2017 792
  

54,579 53,929
  

117,407 63,712
  

Non-current

Non-current portion of long term LIBOR+0.80 - LIBOR+2.70 2019-2028 291,928 LIBOR+0.80 - LIBOR+2.70 2018 - 2027 338,237

 bank loans – secured 2.39 2019-2028 3,048 2.39 2018 - 2027 3,815

2.49 2019-2028 3,040 2.49 2018 - 2027 3,807
  

298,016 345,859
  

Total bank borrowings 415,423 409,571
  

Analysed into bank loans repayable:

 Within one year or on demand 117,407 63,712

 In the second year 52,473 52,465

 In the third to fifth years, inclusive 145,456 152,249

 Beyond five years 100,087 141,145
  

415,423 409,571
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28. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a) Certain bank loans denominated in Japanese Yen with a total carrying amount of US$176,884,000 (2016: US$200,181,000) as at 31 December 2017 are 

designated as hedging instruments in respect of highly probable forecast sales transactions denominated in Japanese Yen. These bank loan balances vary with 

the levels of expected foreign currency denominated sales and changes in foreign exchange forward rate.

The terms of these bank loans match the terms of the highly probable forecast sales transactions. The cash flow hedges relating to expected future sales 

transactions denominated in Japanese Yen were assessed to be highly effective and a net loss of US$6,947,000 (2016: US$4,072,000) was included in the 

hedging reserve as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Total fair value losses on bank loans included in the hedging reserve (7,508) (5,910)

Reclassified from other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss 561 1,838
  

Net loss recognised in the hedging reserve during the year on bank loans designated as cash flow hedges (6,947) (4,072)

  

(b) The Group’s bank loans were secured by mortgages over the Group’s vessels and containers which had aggregate carrying values at the end of the reporting 

period of approximately US$551,010,000 (2016: US$592,467,000) and US$54,721,000 (2016: US$57,864,000), respectively.

(c) An analysis of the carrying amounts of the bank borrowings by type and currency is as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

JPY:

 Floating rate loans 176,884 200,181
  

US$:

 Fixed rate loans 7,672 9,206

 Floating rate loans 230,867 200,184
  

238,539 209,390
  

Total 415,423 409,571
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29. DEFERRED TAX

(a) The Group did not have tax losses arising in Hong Kong during the year (2016: Nil).

(b) The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of US$455,000 (2016: US$389,000), that will expire in one to five years for 

offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen 

in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which the tax losses can be utilised.

(c) Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from 

the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies 

to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China 

and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for 

withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated 

from 1 January 2008.

 At 31 December 2017, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 

earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries and joint ventures established in Mainland China. In the 

opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries and joint ventures will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable 

future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures in Mainland 

China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately US$6,786,000 (2016: US$6,488,000) and 

US$10,976,000 (2016: US$9,556,000), respectively, as at 31 December 2017.

(d) There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

30. SHARE CAPITAL

 Shares

2017 2016

HK$’000 US$’000 HK$’000 US$’000

equivalent equivalent

Authorised:

 5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 500,000 500,000
  

Issued and fully paid:

 2,653,685,000 (2016: 2,614,769,000)

  ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 265,369 34,213 261,477 33,713
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

 Shares (continued)

 A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital during the current and prior years is as follows:

Number of

issued and

fully paid Issued Share Shares held under

ordinary shares capital premium account share award scheme account Total

HK$’000 US$’000 HK$’000 US$’000 HK$’000 US$’000 US$’000

equivalent equivalent equivalent equivalent

At 1 January 2016 2,611,803,000 261,181 33,675 3,265,034 420,729 — — 454,404

Share options exercised under

 pre-IPO share option scheme (note (a)) 2,593,000 259 34 10,181 1,312 — — 1,346

Share options exercised under

 post-IPO share option scheme (note (b)) 373,000 37 4 1,236 158 — — 162
        

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 2,614,769,000 261,477 33,713 3,276,451 422,199 — — 455,912

Share options exercised under

 pre-IPO share option scheme (note (a)) 29,996,000 3,000 385 117,833 15,026 — — 15,411

Share options exercised under post-IPO 

 share option scheme (note (b)) 8,920,000 892 115 44,703 5,700 — — 5,815

Repurchase of ordinary shares for

 share award scheme (note 31) — — — — — (28,850) (3,659) (3,659)
        

At 31 December 2017 2,653,685,000 265,369 34,213 3,438,987 442,925 (28,850) (3,659) 473,479
        

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2017, subscription rights attaching to 29,996,000 (2016: 2,593,000) share options issued under the pre-IPO share option 

scheme were exercised at the subscription price of HK$3.824 (2016: HK$3.824) per share (note 31), resulting in the issue of 29,996,000 (2016: 2,593,000) 

shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately HK$114,705,000 (2016: HK$9,916,000) (equivalent to approximately 

US$14,630,000 (2016: US$1,278,000)). An amount of HK$6,128,000 (2016: HK$524,000) (equivalent to approximately US$781,000 (2016: US$68,000)) was 

transferred from the share option reserve to the share premium account upon the exercise of the share options.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2017, subscription rights attaching to 2,076,000 (2016: 303,000) and 6,844,000 (2016: 70,000) share options issued 

under the post-IPO share option scheme were exercised at the subscription prices of HK$1.968 (2016: HK$1.968) and HK$4.531 (2016: HK$4.531) per share 

(note 31) respectively, resulting in the issue of a total of 8,920,000 (2016: 373,000) shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of 

approximately HK$35,096,000 (2016: HK$913,000) (equivalent to approximately US$4,476,000 (2016: US$116,000)). An amount of HK$10,499,000 (2016: 

HK$360,000) (equivalent to approximately US$1,339,000 (2016: US$46,000)) was transferred from the share option reserve to the share premium account upon 

the exercise of the share options.

 Share options and share awards

 Details of the Company’s share option schemes, share award scheme, the share options issued under the share option schemes and the 

shares repurchased under the share award scheme are included in note 31 to the financial statements.
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31. SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

 The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2010 (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option 

Scheme is to recognise the contribution of certain employees, executives or officers of the Company made or may have made to the 

growth of the Company and/or the listing of shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option 

Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent non-executive directors, and other employees of the Group. Upon the 

fulfilment of certain conditions, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme became effective on 31 March 2010 and would remain effective for five 

years commencing on the listing date of the Company on the Stock Exchange. The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was approved and 

adopted on 10 September 2010.

 The aggregate number of shares that may be issued pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 80,000,000 shares. 

The options granted to the participants pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme vest at the rate of 25% of each such grant for each 

year measured from the date of the first anniversary of the listing date of the Company, provided these employees remain in service at the 

respective vesting date.

 The exercise price of share options is HK$3.824 per share, which was determined at a price equivalent to a 20% discount to the IPO 

price of the Company’s shares of HK$4.78 per share.

 Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

 The following share options were outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year:

2017 2016

Weighted Weighted

average Number average Number

exercise price of options exercise price of options

HK$ per share ’000 HK$ per share ’000

At 1 January 3.824 44,996 3.824 47,749

Exercised during the year 3.824 (29,996) 3.824 (2,593)

Forfeited during the year 3.824 (64) 3.824 (160)
  

At 31 December 3.824 14,936 3.824 44,996
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31. SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (continued)

 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

 The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as at the end of the 

reporting period are as follows:

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period

’000 HK$

2017 2016 per share

— 4,996 3.824 Any time commencing from the second anniversary of the IPO date

— 20,000 3.824 Any time commencing from the third anniversary of the IPO date

14,936 20,000 3.824 Any time commencing from the fourth anniversary of the IPO date
  

14,936 44,996
  

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

 The above share options were all granted in 2010 and had a total fair value on the grant date of US$2,084,000. The fair value of these 

share options had been fully recognised in profit or loss in the prior years and hence no share option expense in respect of these share 

options was recognised in profit or loss in the current year.

 The fair value of these equity-settled share options at the date of grant was determined by Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns using a binomial 

model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the 

model used for the valuation of share options granted:

IPO date 30 September 2010

Maturity date 30 September 2015

Stock price US$1.0

Exercise price* HK$3.824 (80% of the IPO price)

Volatility (%) 56.70

Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.23

Dividends yield (%) 2.00

Pre-forfeiture rate (%) 0.00

Post-forfeiture rate (%) 5.00

Early exercise level 3

* The expected exercise price is subject to the adjustments in the event of any capitalisation issue, rights issue, open offer, sub-division, consolidation of shares, or 

reduction of capital of the Company.
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31. SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (continued)

 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

 The expected volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

 There is no cash settlement alternative. The Company has not developed a past practice of cash settlement.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 14,936,000 (2016: 44,996,000) share options outstanding under the Pre-IPO 

Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, 

result in the issue of 14,936,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$1,494,000 (equivalent to 

approximately US$191,000) and share premium of HK$55,621,000 (equivalent to approximately US$7,115,000).

 Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, 2,886,000 share options issued under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were exercised 

and 40,000 share options issued under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were forfeited.

 Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

 The Company operates another share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives 

and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Post-IPO Share 

Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent non-executive directors, and other employees of the Group. The 

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme became effective on 10 September 2010 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in 

force for 10 years from that date.

 The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is an 

amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares 

issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 

1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ 

approval in a general meeting.

 Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, 

are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial 

shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, or in excess of 0.1% of the shares of 

the Company in issue at any time, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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31. SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (continued)

 Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

 The following share options were outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year:

2017 2016

Weighted Weighted

average Number average Number

exercise price of options exercise price of options

HK$ per share ’000 HK$ per share ’000

At 1 January 2.938 17,870 3.851 18,368

Exercised during the year 3.934 (8,920) 2.449 (373)

Forfeited during the year 4.531 (100) 4.531 (125)
  

At 31 December 3.854 8,850 2.938 17,870
  

 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was HK$6.04 per share (2016: 

HK$3.88 per share).

 The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as at the end of the 

reporting period are as follows:

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period

‘000 HK$

2017 2016 per share

— 125 1.968 25 October 2012 to 25 October 2021

2,339 4,290 1.968 25 October 2013 to 25 October 2021

6,511 13,455 4.531 10 March 2015 to 9 March 2025
  

8,850 17,870
  

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.
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31. SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (continued)

 Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

 Share option expense of US$104,000 (2016:US$769,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2017 in 

respect of share options granted under the post-IPO share option scheme.

 The fair value of equity-settled share options at the date of grant was determined by BMI Appraisals Limited using a binomial model, 

taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used 

for the valuation of share options granted:

Dividend yield (%) 6.12

Expected volatility (%) 53.25

Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.44

Expected life of options (year) 10

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 3.5

 The expected life of the options was the contractual life of the options and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that 

may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not 

necessarily be the actual outcome.

 No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 8,850,000 (2016: 17,870,000) share options outstanding under the Post-IPO Share 

Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in 

the issue of 8,850,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$885,000 (equivalent to approximately 

US$113,000) and share premium of HK$33,223,000 (equivalent to approximately US$4,250,000).

 Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, 957,000 share options issued under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme were exercised.



ANNUAL REPORT 2017   161

31. SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (continued)

 Share Award Scheme

 The board of directors of the Company approved the adoption of the new share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) with effect 

from 13 September 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to (i) recognise and motivate the contributions 

by certain eligible participants and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of the 

Group; (ii) to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group and (iii) to provide certain eligible participants with a direct 

economic interest in attaining a long- term relationship between the Group and certain eligible participants. Unless otherwise early 

terminated by the resolution of the board, the Share Award Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date.

 The Share Award Scheme is operated through a trustee which is independent of the Group. The shares to be awarded under the Share 

Award Scheme will be acquired by the trustee from the open market after the notification and instruction by the Company. The trustee 

shall not hold more than 5% of the total number of issued shares of the Company.

 On 22 December 2017, the Company granted an aggregate of 555,899 awarded shares (the “Award Shares”) to nine selected 

participants, namely Mr. Yang Xianxiang, Mr. Liu Kecheng, Mr. Xue Peng, Mr. Xue Mingyuan, Mr, Lai Zhiyoung, Mr. Tsui Yung Kowk, Mr. 

Yeung Kwok On, Dr. Lo Wing Yan and Dr. Ngai Wai Fung and 3,334,134 to other employees of the Group (collectively referred as the 

“Selected Participants”). Subject to the acceptance of the Selected Participants and that the Selected Participants remain as employees 

of the Group on the vesting date of the Award Shares, the Award Shares shall vest in them on 22 December 2020, at which time, the 

Award Shares will be transferred to the Selected Participants at nil consideration.

 During the year, the Group purchased 3,890,300 of its own shares through the trustee of the Share Award Scheme from open market. 

The total amount paid to acquire the shares was HK$28,580,000 (equivalent to approximately US$3,659,000) and has been deducted 

from shareholders’ equity as at 22 December 2017. The shares purchased by the Group that are not yet vested for this Share Award 

Scheme were recorded in shares held under share awards scheme account of the Group. Also, the Group recognised a share award 

expense of HK$235,000 (equivalent to approximately US$31,000) during the year ended 31 December 2017 in respect of the Award 

Shares granted in the current year. As at 31 December 2017, there were 3,890,300 shares held through the trustee of the Share Award 

Scheme.

 Movement in the number of the Award Shares under the shares held under share award scheme and their related average fair value at the 

date of grant are as follows:

2017

Weighted

average

fair value Number

US$ per share of shares

At 1 January — —

Granted during the year 0.94 3,890,300
 

At 31 December 3,890,300
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32. RESERVES

 The amounts of the Group’s reserves and their movements for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity.

(a) Capital redemption reserve

 The capital redemption reserve represented the par value of ordinary shares of the Company which had been repurchased and 

cancelled in prior years.

(b) Merger reserve

 The merger reserve comprises the excess of the Company’s share of the nominal value of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries 

acquired, over the Company’s cost of acquisition of the subsidiaries under common control; the capital contribution from the then 

holding companies of the Group’s subsidiaries; and the deemed distributions to the Controlling Shareholder and the acquisition of 

subsidiaries through business combinations under common control.

(c) Reserve funds

 Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations, a portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC and 

other countries has been transferred to statutory reserve funds which are restricted as to their use.

(d) Capital reserve

 The capital reserve represents the premium paid on repurchase of the Company’s own ordinary shares in prior years over their par 

values.
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33. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 The table below details the cash flows and non-cash changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities:

Bank borrowings

US$’000

At 1 January 2017 409,571

Changes from financing cash flows (1,991)

Non-cash changes

Exchange realignment 10,430

Amortisation of issuance cost (2,587)
 

At 31 December 2017 415,423
 

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) As lessor

 The Group leases to third parties certain of its dry bulk vessels and certain land and buildings to third parties and joint ventures 

under operating lease arrangements. Leases for dry bulk vessels are negotiated for terms ranging from 10 to 24 months and those 

for land and buildings are for terms ranging from 2 to 7 years.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases 

falling due as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Within one year 10,465 10,031

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 369 370

After five years 61 153
  

10,895 10,554
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34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(b) As lessee

 The Group leases containers, container vessels, office properties and warehouses for business use under operating leases 

arrangements. Leases for containers are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, those for container vessels are for terms 

ranging from 1 to 2 years, those for office properties and warehouses are for terms ranging from 1 to 5 years.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

falling due as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Within one year 56,889 46,579

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 88,503 66,791

After five years 25,447 15,732
  

170,839 129,102
  

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

 At 31 December 2017, in addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 34(b) above, the Group had capital commitments 

of US$140,100,000 in total, which are contracted, but not provided for, in respect of acquisition of vessels.
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36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following material transactions 

with related parties during the year:

Notes 2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder:

 Container marine transportation service income (i) 16,878 15,819

 Container vessel rental expenses (ii) 2,016 2,000

 Shipping agency fee income (i) 7,165 6,243

 Shipping agency fee expenses (iii) 3,757 2,158

 Vessel management income (i) 70 69

 Customs service income (i) 4 82

 Customs service expenses (iii) 419 244

 Depot service expenses (iii) 8 1

 Lease payment paid for a vessel under

  the Bareboat Charter Agreement (v) 5,970 6,276

Joint ventures:

 Container marine transportation service income* (i) 183,614 157,320

 Freight forwarding service income for marine transportation* (i) 874 722

 Warehousing expenses* (iii) 771 9,907

 Freight forwarding service expenses* (iii) 2,844 2,204

 Land and buildings rental income* (iv) 1,641 1,594

 Shipping agency fee expenses* (iii) 5,345 3,603

 Customs service income* (i) 1 —

 Technology outsourcing service income* (iv) 817 295

 Warehousing income* (i) — 700

 Truck transportation income (i) — 4

Associates:

 Container marine transportation service income* (i) 131,979 105,042

 Shipping agency fee expenses* (iii) 2,032 1,267

 Freight forwarding service income* (i) 180 101

 Technology outsourcing service income* (iv) 92 203

 Land and buildings rental income* (iv) 1 —

 Freight forwarding service expenses (iii) 7 42
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36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

Notes:

(i) These service income from companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder, joint ventures and associates were conducted according to the 

published prices and conditions similar to those offered to the major customers of the Group.

(ii) The container vessel rental expenses paid to companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder are based on the market price.

(iii) These expenses paid and payable to companies controlled by the Controlling Shareholder, joint ventures and associates were conducted according to 

the published prices and conditions similar to those offered by the major suppliers of the Group.

(iv) The land and building rental income and technology outsourcing income from joint ventures and associates are based on the market price.

(v) Further details of the transaction are set out in note 13(c) to the financial statements.

 Except for those transactions identified with “*”, the above also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected 

transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b) Key management personnel of the Group are directors of the Company, details of whose emoluments are included in note 8 to the 

financial statements.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

 The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

 At 31 December 2017

Financial assets

Financial

assets at fair

value through

profit or loss Available-

– designated for-sale

as such upon Loans and financial

initial recognition receivables assets Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Available-for-sale investments — — 26,808 26,808

Principal-protected investment deposits 10,887 — — 10,887

Derivative financial instruments 1,311 — — 1,311

Trade receivables — 64,065 — 64,065

Financial assets included in prepayments,

 deposits and other receivables — 10,205 — 10,205

Due from related companies — 1,126 — 1,126

Cash and bank balances — 505,684 — 505,684
    

12,198 581,080 26,808 620,086

    

 Financial liabilities

Financial

liabilities at fair

value through

profit or loss Financial

– designated liabilities

as such upon at amortised

initial recognition cost Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables — 131,812 131,812

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals — 30,779 30,779

Due to related companies — 164 164

Derivative financial instruments 709 — 709

Bank borrowings — 415,423 415,423
   

709 578,178 578,887
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

 At 31 December 2016

 Financial assets

Financial assets at

fair value through

profit or loss Available-

– designated for-sale

as such upon Loans and financial

initial recognition receivables assets Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Available-for-sale investments — — 16,745 16,745

Principal-protected investment deposits 11,372 — — 11,372

Derivative financial instruments 1,084 — — 1,084

Trade receivables — 59,379 — 59,379

Financial assets included in prepayments, 

 deposits and other receivables — 8,040 — 8,040

Due from related companies — 111 — 111

Cash and cash equivalents — 352,957 — 352,957
    

12,456 420,487 16,745 449,688
    

 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at

fair value through

profit or loss Financial

– designated liabilities

as such upon at amortised

initial recognition cost Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables — 118,278 118,278

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals — 23,466 23,466

Due to related companies — 29 29

Derivative financial instruments 1 — 1

Bank borrowings — 409,571 409,571
   

1 551,344 551,345
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The unlisted equity investments of the Group’s available-for-sale investments were stated at cost less impairment because the range of 

reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

 Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances, trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in 

prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and amounts due from/to related 

companies, an amount due from a subsidiary and dividend payables approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term 

maturities of these instruments.

 The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair 

value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer and the Audit Committee. 

At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the major 

inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer. The valuation process and results 

are discussed with the Audit Committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

 The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amounts at which the instruments could be exchanged in a current 

transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to 

estimate the fair values:

 The fair values of listed equity investments, listed debt investments and club debentures of available-for-sale investments at fair value are 

based on quoted market prices. The directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the changes in quoted market prices, 

which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in other 

comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

 The Group enters principal-protected investment deposits with creditworthy banks, and its fair values are with reference to market 

observable inputs currently available for investments with similar terms and credit risk. The carrying amounts of principal-protected 

investment deposits are the same as their fair values.

 The fair values of bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for 

instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The non-performance risk from the Group for its bank borrowings as 

at 31 December 2017 was assessed to be insignificant.

 The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally financial institutions of creditworthy banks. 

Derivative financial instruments, including forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, are measured using valuation techniques 

similar to forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. The models incorporate various market observable inputs 

including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves. The carrying amounts of 

forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps are the same as their fair values.
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

 Fair value hierarchy

 The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

 Assets measured at fair value

 At 31 December 2017

Fair value measurement using 

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Available-for-sale investments:

 Listed equity investments, at fair value 3,553 — — 3,553

 Listed debt investments, at fair value 22,697 — — 22,697

 Club debentures, at fair value 558 — — 558

Derivative financial instruments — 1,311 — 1,311

Principal-protected investment deposits — 10,887 — 10,887
    

26,808 12,198 — 39,006
    

 At 31 December 2016

Fair value measurement using 

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Available-for-sale investments:

 Listed equity investments, at fair value 2,522 — — 2,522

 Club debentures, at fair value 13,665 — — 13,665

 Listed debt investments, at fair value 558 — — 558

Derivative financial instruments — 1,084 — 1,084

Principal-protected investment deposits — 11,372 — 11,372
    

16,745 12,456 — 29,201
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

 Liabilities measured at fair value

 At 31 December 2017

Fair value measurement using 

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Derivative financial instruments — 709 — 709
    

 At 31 December 2016

Fair value measurement using 

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Derivative financial instruments — 1 — 1
    

 During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 (2016: Nil) and no transfer into or out of 

Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2016: Nil).

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

 The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and cash and short term deposits. The main 

purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and 

liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

 The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts. The purpose 

is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

 The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, equity price risk and 

liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. The 

Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

 Interest rate risk

 The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations with a floating 

interest rate.

 The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. The Group’s policy is to maintain between 

5% and 50% of its borrowings at fixed interest rates. To manage this mix in a cost-effective manner, the Group enters into interest rate 

swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts 

calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. At 31 December 2017, after taking into account the effect of the 

interest rate swaps, approximately 6% (2016: 7%) of the Group’s borrowings at fixed interest rates.

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of 

the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)

(decrease) in in profit

basis points before tax

US$’000

2017

United States dollar 100 (2,148)

Japanese Yen 100 (1,769)

United States dollar (100) 2,148

Japanese Yen (100) 1,769
  

2016

United States dollar 100 (1,790)

Japanese Yen 100 (2,002)

United States dollar (100) 1,790

Japanese Yen (100) 2,002
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

 Foreign currency risk

 The Group has transactional currency exposures. These exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other 

than the units’ functional currencies. In addition, certain bank loans were denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies 

of the entities to which they relate. Approximately 57% (2016: 61%) of the Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other than the 

functional currencies of the operating units making the sale, whilst approximately 52% (2016: 55%) of costs were denominated in the 

units’ functional currencies. The Group requires all its operating units to use forward currency contracts to manage the foreign currency 

exposures on transactions in excess of certain amounts of Japanese Yen and Renminbi for which receipts are anticipated in more than 

one month after the Group has entered into firm commitments for sales. The forward currency contracts must be in the same currency as 

that of the hedged item. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts until a firm underlying sales or purchases commitment 

is in place.

 It is the Group’s policy to negotiate the terms of the hedge derivatives to match the terms of the hedged item to maximise hedge 

effectiveness.

 At 31 December 2017, the Group had hedged 23.1% (2016: 27.0%) of its foreign currency sales for which firm commitments existed at 

the end of the reporting period.

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the United States 

dollar, Renminbi and Japanese Yen exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes 

in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity (due to changes in the fair value of certain bank borrowings 

designated as hedging instruments).

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)/ Increase/

(decrease) in profit (decrease)

in rate before tax in equity

% US$’000 US$’000

2017

If United States dollar weakens against Renminbi (5.0) (2,862) —

If United States dollar strengthens against Renminbi 5.0 2,862 —

If United States dollar weakens against Japanese Yen 5.0 1,241 (8,906)

If United States dollar strengthens against Japanese Yen (5.0) (1,241) 8,906
   

2016

If United States dollar weakens against Renminbi (5.0) (793) —

If United States dollar strengthens against Renminbi 5.0 793 —

If United States dollar weakens against Japanese Yen 5.0 930 (7,765)

If United States dollar strengthens against Japanese Yen (5.0) (930) 7,765
   

*  Excluding retained profits
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

 Credit risk

 The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on 

credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the 

Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

 The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale investments, amounts 

due from related companies, other receivables and certain derivative instruments, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum 

exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

 Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. There are no significant 

concentrations of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in different 

sectors.

 Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 20 to the 

financial statements.

 Equity price risk

 Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the 

value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity investment classified as an available-

for-sale investment (note 19) as at 31 December 2017. The Group’s listed investment is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and is 

valued at the quoted market price at the end of the reporting period.

 The market equity index for the following stock exchange, at the close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the 

reporting period and its respective highest and lowest points during the year were as follows:

31 December High/low 31 December High/low

2017 2017 2016 2016

Hong Kong – Hang Seng Index 29,919 30,003/22,134 22,001 24,364/18,279
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

 Equity price risk (continued)

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the fair value of the equity investment, with all other 

variables held constant and before any impact on deferred tax, based on its carrying amount at the end of the reporting period. For the 

purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investment, the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment 

revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors such as impairment which might impact profit or loss.

Increase/

(decrease) in

carrying Increase/

amount of (decrease) Increase/

equity in equity (decrease)

investment price in equity*

US$’000 % US$’000

2017

Investment listed in: 3,553 26.57 944
   

Hong Kong - Available-for-sale (3,553) (26.57) (944)
   

2016

Investment listed in:

Hong Kong - Available-for-sale 2,522 71.38 1,800
   

(2,522) (71.38) (1,800)
   

* Excluding retained profits
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

 Liquidity risk

 The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans. The Group’s 

policy is that not more than 90% of borrowings should mature in any 12-month period. 16% of the Group’s debts will mature in less than 

one year from 31 December 2017 (2016: 14%) based on the carrying values of borrowings included in the financial statements.

 The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted 

payments, is as follows:

2017

In the In the

Within one In the third to sixth to

year or on second fifth years, tenth years,

demand year inclusive inclusive Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Bank borrowings 124,669 59,457 167,649 106,929 458,704

Trade payables 131,812 — — — 131,812

Financial liabilities included in

 other payables and accruals 53,555 — — — 53,555

Due to related companies 164 — — — 164

Derivative financial instruments 709 — — — 709
     

310,909 59,457 167,649 106,929 644,944
     

2016

In the In the

Within one In the third to sixth to

year or on second fifth years, tenth years,

demand year inclusive inclusive Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Bank borrowings 61,948 60,691 190,318 138,811 451,768

Trade payables 118,278 — — — 118,278

Financial liabilities included in

 other payables and accruals 39,513 — — — 39,513

Due to related companies 29 — — — 29

Derivative financial instruments 1 — — — 1
     

219,769 60,691 190,318 138,811 609,589
     



ANNUAL REPORT 2017   177

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

 Capital management

 The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to 

maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 

2016.

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to 

maintain a healthy ratio. Net debt includes bank borrowings, trade and other payables and accruals, amounts due to related companies, 

less cash and bank balances. Adjusted capital includes equity attributable to shareholders of the Company less the hedging reserve. The 

gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

Bank borrowings 415,423 409,571

Trade payables 131,812 118,278

Other payables and accruals 53,555 39,513

Due to related companies 164 29

Less: Cash and bank balances (505,961) (352,957)
  

Net debt 94,993 214,434
  

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 963,518 879,997

Less: Hedging reserve 4,332 (2,788)
  

Adjusted capital 967,850 877,209
  

Adjusted capital and net debt 1,063,120 1,091,643
  

Gearing ratio 9% 20%
  

40. COMPARATIVE AMOUNT

As further explained in note 4 to the financial statements, due to change in the focus of internal management reporting, the presentation 

of segment information in the financial statements have been revised. Accordingly, certain comparative amounts have been reclassified 

and restated to conform to the current year’s segment presentation.
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2017 2016

US$’000 US$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investment in a subsidiary 59,413 59,413

Available-for-sale investments 3,553 2,522
  

Total non-current assets 62,966 61,935
  

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from a subsidiary 538,350 463,492

Cash and bank balances 206 102
  

Total current assets 538,556 463,594
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables 542 9

Dividend payable 33,964 —
  

Total current liabilities 34,506 9
  

NET CURRENT ASSETS 504,050 463,585
  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 567,016 525,520
  

Net assets 567,016 525,520
  

EQUITY

Issued capital 34,213 33,713

Reserves (Note) 532,803 491,807
  

Total equity 567,016 525,520
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Shares held

Available-

for-sale

Share under share Capital Share-based investment

premium award scheme redemption compensation revaluation Retained

account account reserve reserve reserve profits Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2016 420,729 — 202 3,140 (232) 53,915 477,754

Profit for the year — — — — — 99,332 99,332

Other comprehensive income for the year:

 Changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments, net — — — — 157 — 157
       

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — 157 99,332 99,489

Issue of shares upon exercise of share options

 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 1,312 — — (68) — — 1,244

Issue of shares upon exercise of share options

 under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme 158 — — (46) — — 112

Transfer of share option reserve upon

 forfeiture or expiry of share options — — — (24) — 24 —

Equity-settled share option expense — — — 769 — — 769

Final 2015 dividend declared — — — — — (53,917) (53,917)

Interim dividend declared — — — — — (33,644) (33,644)
       

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 422,199 — 202 3,771 (75) 65,710 491,807

Profit for the year — — — — — 146,883 146,883

Other comprehensive income for the year:

 Changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments, net — — — — 1,031 — 1,031
       

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — 1,031 146,883 147,914

Repurchase of shares — (3,659) — — — — (3,659)

Issue of shares upon exercise of share options

 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 15,026 — — (781) — — 14,245

Issue of shares upon exercise of share options

 under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme 5,700 — — (1,339) — — 4,361

Transfer of share option reserve upon

 forfeiture or expiry of share options — — — (18) — 18 —

Share award expenses — — — 31 — — 31

Equity-settled share option expenses — — — 104 — — 104

Final 2016 dividend declared — — — — — (54,171) (54,171)

Interim dividend declared — — — — — (33,865) (33,865)

Speical dividend declared — — — — — (33,964) (33,964)
       

At 31 December 2017 442,925 (3,659) 202 1,768 956 90,611 532,803

       

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 March 2018.
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A summary of consolidated results, assets, liabilities and equity of SITC International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2017 and the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2016, is set out below.

The summary below does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

RESULTS

REVENUE 1,348,385 1,215,791 1,288,055 1,376,952 1,267,329

Cost of sales (1,096,679) (1,016,256) (1,102,463) (1,210,874) (1,124,350)
     

Gross profit 251,706 199,535 185,592 166,078 142,979

Other income and gains, net 18,658 8,797 39,476 31,443 37,772

Administrative expenses (74,333) (68,801) (74,114) (69,375) (65,150)

Other expenses, net (946) (13,933) (1,030) (3,466) (185)

Finance costs (8,640) (6,872) (8,532) (9,504) (8,177)

Share of profits and losses of:

 Joint ventures 11,093 11,504 9,913 9,349 7,742

 Associates 481 442 617 701 371
     

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 198,019 130,672 151,922 125,226 115,352

Income tax (7,907) (6,434) (7,772) (4,130) (2,251)
     

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 190,112 124,238 144,150 121,096 113,101
     

Profit attributable to:

 Shareholders of the Company 188,613 122,790 143,247 120,680 112,410

 Non-controlling interests 1,499 1,448 903 416 691
     

190,112 124,238 144,150 121,096 113,101
     

At 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

TOTAL ASSETS 1,608,363 1,455,638 1,377,441 1,389,845 1,269,368

TOTAL LIABILITIES (636,925) (568,398) (522,092) (592,651) (524,077)
     

NET ASSETS 971,438 887,240 855,349 797,194 745,291
     

Represented by:

 Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 963,518 879,997 848,442 790,933 743,349

 Non-controlling interests 7,920 7,243 6,907 6,261 1,942
     

TOTAL EQUITY 971,438 887,240 855,349 797,194 745,291
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